
AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

PLAN COMMISSION 
 April 16, 2015 – 7:30 P.M. 

Council Chambers 
Village Hall – 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue 

 
Regular Meeting Called to Order 

Roll Call Taken 

Communications 

Approval of Minutes: Minutes of the April 2, 2015 Regular Meeting   

 
Item #1 PUBLIC HEARING 

E&B LIQUORS (former Family Video Store) – 16948 S. OAK PARK AVENUE – 
SITE PLAN APPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE PERMITS FOR A PACKAGE 
LIQUOR STORE AND A MIXED-USE BUILDING (Commissioners Ficaro and 
Mahoney) 

 
 Consider a proposal from Paul (Pravin) Patel of E&B Liquors for Site Plan Approval and 

Special Use Permits to create a package liquor store and add one residential apartment to 
create a mixed-use building. The project will include the renovation of an existing 
building at 16948 S. Oak Park Avenue and will be completed in two phases, with phase 
one being a façade improvement and phase two involving demolition of a portion of the 
building to create the required parking at the rear and related site improvements, along 
with construction of a residential unit within the building. The property is zoned NG 
(Neighborhood General) within the Village’s 2009 Legacy Code.  

 
Adjourn Public Hearing 
 
Item #2 EDWARD GREGORY – PLAT OF EASEMENT – 6500 166TH STREET (New Item, 

Single Meeting) 
 
 Consider granting approval for a Plat of Easement that would allow easements for public 

utilities, drainage, and ingress and egress to be placed on residential property located at 
6500 166th Street in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District and within the 
Tinley Terrace subdivision. This easement is for the benefit of the property addressed 
6500 166th Street with tax ID 28-19-402-085-0000.  

 
Item #3 BRIXMOR OUTLOT – 15917 S. HARLEM AVENUE – SITE PLAN APPROVAL 

AND A SPECIAL USE FOR A SUBSTANTIAL DEVIATION TO THE TINLEY 
PARK PLAZA PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (New Item) 

 
 Consider a proposal from Mr. Jeff Slavish, Brixmor Property Group, for a Site Plan 

Approval and a Special Use for a Substantial Deviation from the approved Tinley Park 
Plaza PUD which will include deviations from the Village Zoning Ordinance (aisle 
widths, landscape island width, bufferyard requirements, and signage) to allow for the 
construction of a 9,100 SF multi-tenant (4 unit) retail structure. The construction of the 
new retail structure will require the demolition of the north 7,290 SF in-line tenant space.   

 
Adjourn Meeting 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 



 
ORDER OF PUBLIC HEARING 

a.  Opening of public hearing 
b.  Swearing in Petitioner, Objectors and Interested Persons 
c.  Confirmation of notices being published and mailed in accordance with State law and Village Code/Zoning 

Ordinance requirements 
d. Village staff presentation  
  i. Cross examination  
  ii. Questions by Public Body 

iii. Rebuttal 
e. Petitioner presentation 
  i. Cross examination 
  ii  Questions by Public Body 
f.  Objectors presentation(s)  
  i. Cross examination  
  ii Questions by Public Body 
g.  Interested Persons presentation(s)  
  i. Cross examination  
  ii.  Questions by Public Body 
  iii. Rebuttal 
h. Petitioner Rebuttal (if any) 
i. Final questions by Public Body 
j. Closing remarks by Petitioner, Objectors, Interested Persons, and Village Staff 
k. Close or continuation of public hearing 

 
PUBLIC HEARING REMINDERS 

 All public hearings of a Public Body are meetings as defined by the Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1 et seq.). 
 Prior to the commencement of the public hearing, the Chair will determine whether there are any Objectors or other 

Interested Persons and if an attorney represents any Objector, group of Objectors or Interested Persons. 
 All individuals desiring to participate in the public hearing process shall sign in/register with Village staff prior to the 

public hearing. 
 All individuals desiring to participate in the public hearing process must participate in a swearing of an oath.  
 The Chair may impose reasonable limitations on evidence or testimony presented by persons and parties, such as barring 

repetitious, irrelevant or immaterial testimony. 
 The Chair may take such actions as are required to maintain an orderly and civil hearing. 

Page 2 of 2 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK,  
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 
 
APRIL 2, 2015 

 

The regular meeting of the Plan Commission was held in the Council Chambers of Village Hall on April 2, 2015 at 
7:30 p.m. 

ROLL CALL 

 Plan Commissioners:   Jeff Ficaro 
Tom Mahoney 
Bob McClellan 

      Art Pierce 
Bill Reidy   
Rita Walker, Chairman 
 

Absent Plan Commissioners:  Maureen McLeod 
Mark Moylan 

  
Village Staff:    Amy Connolly, Planning Director 
     Paula Wallrich, Deputy Planning Director  
     Stephanie Kisler, Planner  
     Debra Kotas, Commission Secretary 

  
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Plan Commission Chairman Walker called to the meeting to order at 7:31 p.m.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Minutes of the March 19, 2015 Plan Commission Meeting were presented for approval. A motion was made by 
COMMISSIONER REIDY seconded by COMMISSIONER FICARO to approve the Minutes as presented. 
 
THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY by voice call. PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN WALKER 
declared the motion approved. 

Page 1 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE APRIL 2, 2015 MEETING 
 
PUBLIC 
HEARING #1: DAVITA DIALYSIS CENTER (former Eiche Turner property) – 16767 S. 80TH AVENUE – 

SITE PLAN APPROVAL, RE-SUBDIVISION PLAT APPROVAL, AND VARIATIONS FOR A 
NEW MEDICAL FACILITY (Commissioners McClellan and Ficaro)  

 
Consider a proposal from Sam Sarbacker of OGA, representing DaVita Dialysis, for Site Plan 
approval, Re-Subdivision Plat approval and variations for a 6,700 SF medical facility that provides 
dialysis services. The project will involve the demolition of the Eiche Turner facility located at 16767 
S. 80th Avenue, the construction of a new medical building, and site improvements. The property is 
zoned B-1.  
 
The proposal requires that the Plan Commission consider recommending that the Village Board grant 
the following Variations: 
1. A 65 foot front yard setback variation from the required 125 foot front yard setback to allow the 

proposed 60 foot front yard setback; 
2. A 1.66 acre variation of the 4.0 acre minimum lot area to allow for an existing lot area of 2.34 

acres; and, 
3. A 289.93 foot variation from the 600 foot lot width requirement to allow for an existing lot width 

of 310.07 feet.  
 
Present were the following: 
  

Plan Commissioners:   Jeff Ficaro 
Tom Mahoney 
Bob McClellan 

      Art Pierce 
Bill Reidy   
Rita Walker, Chairman 
 

Absent Plan Commissioners:  Maureen McLeod 
Mark Moylan 

  
Village Staff:    Amy Connolly, Planning Director 
     Paula Wallrich, Deputy Planning Director  
     Stephanie Kisler, Planner  
     Debra Kotas, Commission Secretary 

  
Guest(s):    Sam Sarbacker, Vice President – OGA 

  
CHAIRMAN WALKER opened the Public Hearing at 7:32 p.m. requesting anyone present who wished to give 
testimony, comment, engage in cross-examination, or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in.  
 
Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the Public Hearing was published in the local 
newspaper in accordance with State law and Village requirements with notice also being sent to properties within 250’ 
of the project. 

Page 2 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

SAM SARBACKER, Vice President of OGA, developer and real estate company specializing in dialysis projects, 
appeared on behalf of their client, DaVita Dialysis, who seeks to demolish the existing Eiche Turner building located at 
16767 S. 80th Avenue and construct a medical facility that provides dialysis services. He believes all significant issues 
have been resolved and are ready to proceed with an anticipated construction start date sometime in May or June 2015 
with completion within 6 months. He complimented the Village and Staff thanking them for their time and efforts.  
 
PAULA WALLRICH, Deputy Planning Director, presented the Staff report. She reported that the property consists of 2 
parcels totaling 2.34 acres, that were never legally subdivided since the Eiche Turner property was tax-exempt and the 
lot configuration never questioned by the County. With the transfer of ownership to DaVita, MS. WALLRICH reported 
the Applicant has agreed to consolidate the 2 lots and will then be placed on the tax roll.   
 
MS. WALLRICH noted the subject property is zoned B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping District) and is surrounded by 
commercial properties zoned B-1, and also abuts residential properties zoned R-4 PD and R-6 PD that is surrounded by 
a chain link fence to the south that will remain and a wooden fence directly behind the building that will be removed. 
She reported the new building will be a single-story medical facility consisting of 16 dialysis stations with 13 
employees on-site.  
 
MS. WALLRICH proceeded to review the three (3) variations that are required due to the B-1 Zoning and include front 
yard setback, lot area, and lot width.  
 
MS. WALLRICH noted that although the property does not fall within the Urban Design Overlay District, the 
Applicant has cooperated in aligning their project with these principles and locating the parking area to the side and 
rear of the building, decreasing the front yard setback. She stated the parking lot will consist of 45 parking spaces, with 
the amount of accessible spaces exceeding requirements. A crosswalk and covered canopy (port-cochere) have been 
provided for safe and easy drop off of patients. She reported the parking lot will be adequately lit with three (3) light 
poles. Per a recommendation from COMMISSIONER MCCLELLAN, the Applicant has also agreed to upgrade these 
lights to a more decorative light fixture.  
 
In anticipation of the redevelopment of the parcel to the north, MS. WALLRICH stated the Village requested a cross-
access easement that will ultimately benefit both properties. She reported the Applicant has complied and agreed to 
place this easement on the Plat. She reported a legal review of the easement language on the Re-Subdivision Plat is 
being negotiated by both the Village Attorney and the attorney for the Applicant and will be resolved prior to issuance 
of a building permit. 
 
MS. WALLRICH reviewed the landscape plan. She commended the Applicant for being very accommodating with 
Staff requests including removal of plant material from the cross access easement area, providing additional shade tress 
and evergreen screening in the parking lot, and the recommended spacing of shrubs. 
 
MS. WALLRICH showed a rendering of the building with the originally proposed architecture and the revised 
architecture. She noted the gabled port-cochere that did not correlate with the roof lines of the main structure, therefore, 
the Applicant agreed to having a flat roof on the porte-cochere with a full parapet element. Concerns were also 
expressed by Staff regarding a lack of awnings over all the windows on the north façade with only two (2) of the four 
(4) windows east of the porte-cochere having awnings. As a result, she reported the Applicant has agreed to provide 
awnings for all 4 windows. 
 
MS. WALLRICH reported the Petitioner has verified that the rooftop HVAC equipment will not be visible from the 
public rite-of-way or at ground level of the adjacent residential properties. 
 
MS. WALLRICH showed the proposed monument sign that consists of blue aluminum with white cut-out lettering 
spelling out the business name “DaVita Dialysis” noting only the white lettering will be illuminated in the evening. 
 

Page 3 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

In summary, MS. WALLRICH advised Commissioners of resolution of all outstanding items.  
CHAIRMAN WALKER opened the Public Hearing to questions or comments from the Public Body. 
 
MARGARET SWALLOW, 7944 Paxton, inquired what the wooden fence was being replaced with. MR. 
SARBACKER and MS. WALLRICH reported that a substantial amount of new landscaping was being added to that 
area that will provide a significant improvement aesthetically. 
 
ESTER MIKULA, 16736 Paxton, inquired into the facility’s hours of operation. MR. SARBACKER reported the 
facility will be open from 4:30 a.m., for staff arrival and preparation, through 7:00 p.m., Monday through Saturday. He 
stated the facility will operate quietly with light traffic use since most patients are typically at the facility for 4-6 hours. 
He also stated that some patients will be transported via medical transport; however, no sirens will be used. 
 
There being no further questions or comments from the Public Body, CHAIRMAN WALKER opened the Public 
Hearing to questions or comments from the Plan Commissioners. 
 
COMMISSIONER FICARO complimented MS. WALLRICH and Staff on their efforts and a thorough presentation. 
 
COMMISSIONER MCCLELLAN stated it is a beautiful building. He proceeded to welcome MR. SARBACKER and 
DAVITA DIALYSIS to Tinley Park. 
 
CHAIRMAN WALKER thanked the Applicant for accommodating all of Staff’s requests. She complimented the 
beautiful appearance of the building and stated in will fit well with the surrounding area. 
 
There being no questions or concerns from the Commissioners, COMMISIONER FICARO and CHAIRMAN 
WALKER proceeded to review the following Findings of Fact and respective responses with regards to the proposed 
Variations.  
 
Variation: 
A sixty-five foot (65’) Variation to the required one hundred twenty five foot (125’) front yard setback 
requirement (Section V.B. Schedule II – Schedule of District Regulations) for properties located in a B-1, 
Neighborhood Shopping Zoning District, to allow for a sixty foot (60’) front yard setback along 80th Avenue. 
FIRE PREVENTION 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 
 

The proposed structure will have a greater front yard setback (60’) than the current structure (former Eiche 
Turner building) which has a 50’front yard setback. The setbacks of surrounding commercial structures vary 
between 50’ and 80’; the proposed setback of 60’ reflects the design principals of the urban overlay district 
which prioritizes the architecture of the development versus the parking field. The site could accommodate a 
greater setback; however it would not reflect the context of the surrounding commercial area which has lesser 
setbacks. 

 
2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 
 

The Applicant has responded to Staff’s request to recognize the design principals of the Urban Overlay District 
and the context of the surrounding properties. In doing so the Applicant has located the building closer to the 
street and designed the parking field to the side of the building so that it does not dominate the frontage of the 
property. The B-1 district front yard setbacks have not been followed in this area; front yard setbacks of adjacent 
commercial property range between 50-80’. The existing building is vacant and has a 50’ front yard setback. 

 
3. The variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

Page 4 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

 
The granting of this variation will not alter the essential character of the area because the setback of the existing 
structure (to be demolished) is 50’ and the front yard setbacks of the commercial properties (Zoned B-1) in the 
surrounding area have front yard setbacks ranging between 50-80’. 

 
4. Where there are practical difficulties or particular hardships, taking into consideration the extent to 

which the following facts favorable to the applicant have been established by evidence. 
 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical condition of the specific property would 
result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict 
letter of law was carried out; 

 
The Applicant has responded to Staff’s request to respect the Urban Overlay design guidelines and the setbacks 
of the surrounding area. If the proposed structure met the 125’ front yard setback of the B-1 District it would be 
inconsistent with the site planning of the surrounding area and would compromise the development potential of 
the site representing a particular hardship rather than a mere inconvenience. The topography of the site lends 
itself to locating the storm water basin to the east side of the property. If the building were to be located further 
east it would impact the ability of providing storm water management for the property representing a hardship 
upon the owner. 

 
b. The conditions upon which the petition for a variation is based would not be applicable, generally, to 
other property within the same zoning classification; 

 
The adjacent properties have similar setbacks as the proposed development; they are also zoned B-1. Other 
property within the Village zoned B-1 will not have the same site planning context as the subject property. It is 
unlikely that any other property will have similar contextual site planning conditions. 

 
 c.  The purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the 

property; 
 

The Applicant located the proposed building in the same general location as the previous Eiche Turner building. 
The proposed setback was a recommendation of Staff and recognized the setbacks of surrounding B-1 property 
and is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the property. The property has been 
vacant for some time and the property owner will develop the property in conformance with all other zoning 
requirements with the exception of lot area and lot width. 

 
 d. The alleged hardship was not created by the owner of the property, or by a previous owner; 
 

The hardship was created out of a request by Staff to have the front yard setback reflect the design principles of 
the Urban Overlay District and the average setbacks of adjacent properties. 

 
e. The granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood upon which the property is located; 

 
The granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the other property or 
improvements in the neighborhood because the front yard setback is greater than the existing building and is 
consistent with the setbacks of surrounding property. 

 
 f. The proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to the adjacent property or 

substantially increase congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or endanger public 
safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood. 

Page 5 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

 
The project was reviewed by the Fire Department, Police Department, and Village Engineer, who did not find 
that the variation would create any public safety or danger to the general public. The granting of the variation 
will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the other property or improvements in the 
neighborhood because the front yard setback is consistent with the setback that previously existed and is 
consistent with the setback of surrounding properties. The point of access from 80th Avenue is in the same 
approximate location as the previous use. A cross-access easement to the property to the north will be granted as 
part of the Re-Subdivision Plat. 

 
Variation: 
A 1.66 acre Variation to the required 4 acre minimum lot area requirement (Section V.B. Schedule II – Schedule 
of District Regulations) for properties located in a B-1, Neighborhood Shopping Zoning District, to allow for a 
lot area of 2.34 acres. 
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 
 

The existing parcel consists of two lots, both or which are non-conforming. The Applicant has agreed to 
consolidate the lots; however they will remain non-conforming. The variation, if approved, will recognize the 
legal non-conformity of the property. If the variation were not granted the lots would be rendered undevelopable 
and any new development would need to utilize the existing structure. 

 
2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 
  

The existing parcel consists of two lots, both or which are non-conforming with respect to lot area. Despite 
common ownership the lots were never consolidated, most likely because they were tax-exempt and did not 
receive the same scrutiny at the County level. The Applicant has agreed to consolidate the lots; however they will 
remain non-conforming. The variation, if approved, will recognize the legal non-conformity of the property. 

 
3. The variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
  

The existing parcel consists of two lots, both or which are non-conforming with respect to lot area. The granting 
of the variation will recognize the non-conformity of the property. The surrounding area has co-existed with the 
former land use (Eiche Turner) on the same lot area. The essential character of the locality will not be altered; the 
proposed structure will be located in generally the same location as the previous structure. The size of the lots 
will remain the same, however the Applicant has agreed to consolidate the lots thus eliminating the land locked 
configuration of “Parcel 2”. 

 
4. Where there are practical difficulties or particular hardships, taking into consideration the extent to 

which the following facts favorable to the applicant have been established by evidence. 
 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical condition of the specific property would 
result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict 
letter of law was carried out; 

 
The existing parcel is non-conforming. The granting of the variation will recognize the non-conformity of the 
property. If the variation were not granted, the property would be undevelopable because it could not meet the 
current lot area standard, representing a particular hardship for the owner, rather than a mere inconvenience. 

 
b. The conditions upon which the petition for a variation is based would not be applicable, generally, to 
other property within the same zoning classification; 

 

Page 6 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

 
The nonconforming lot area is unique to the subject property. Newly subdivided lots are required to meet current 
lot area requirements of the B-1 District. The lot area existed with the previous development; the granting of the 
variation recognizes the non- conformity of the existing lot. 
 
c. The purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the 
property; 

 
The granting of the variation recognizes the existing non-conformity of the subject property and is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the property. The Applicant is working with an existing 
condition and must provide storm water detention which previously was not provided. With the exception of lot 
width and front yard setback, the project meets all other zoning requirements. 

 
 d. The alleged hardship was not created by the owner of the property, or by a previous owner; 
  

The hardship was not created by the property owner. It is an existing lot predating the construction of the Eiche 
Turner building. 
 
e. The granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood upon which the property is located; 

 
The variation will not be detrimental or injurious because it is a pre-existing lot that predates the prior use. The 
lot accommodated the needs of the previous uses and functioned harmoniously with the neighborhood. 

 
f. The proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to the adjacent property or 
substantially increase congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or endanger public 
safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood. 

 
The project was reviewed by the Fire Department, Police Department, and Village Engineer, who did not find 
that the variation would create any public safety or danger to the general public. The granting of the variation 
will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the other property or improvements in the 
neighborhood because the lot area is the same as with the previous use. The Applicant has agreed to consolidate 
the parcels in the Re-Subdivision Plat which eliminates the land-locked parcel. 

 
Variation: 
A two hundred eighty foot (280’) Variation to the required six hundred foot (600’) lot width requirement 
(Section V.B. Schedule II – Schedule of District Regulations) for properties located in a B-1, Neighborhood 
Shopping Zoning District, to allow for a lot width of three hundred twenty feet (320’). 
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 
 

The existing lot width (320’) is non-conforming. The former Eiche Turner building was constructed in 1983 on 
the non-conforming lot. No variation was granted at that time. The variation, if approved, with recognize the 
legal non-conformity of the property. 

 
2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 
 

The existing lot width (320’) is non-conforming. The former Eiche Turner building was constructed in 1983. Per 
the Comprehensive Rezoning of 1978, which amended the Zoning Ordinance of 1956, the B-1 Zoning District 
required a 600’ lot width. Staff could not locate evidence of a variance approving a lot width variation for the 

Page 7 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

Eiche Turner building. The variation, if approved, will recognize the legal non-conformity of the property. 
 
3. The variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
  
 The lot width will remain the same as existed with the prior use of the property. The access will remain 
 essentially in the same location and the proposed structure will be in the approximate location of the prior Eiche 
 Turner building. The essential character of the locality will not be altered that lot width remains the same. 
 
4.  Where there are practical difficulties or particular hardships, taking into consideration the extent to 

which the following facts favorable to the applicant have been established by evidence. 
 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical condition of the specific property would 
result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict 
letter of law was carried out; 

 
The lot width will remain the same as existed with the prior use of the property. The access will remain 
essentially in the same location and the proposed structure will be in the approximate location of the prior Eiche 
Turner building. The hardship upon the owner would be rendering the property undevelopable if a variation for 
lot width were not granted. 

 
b. The conditions upon which the petition for a variation is based would not be applicable, generally, to 
other property within the same zoning classification; 

 
The nonconforming lot width is unique to the subject property and not generally applicable to other B-1 property. 
A newly created lot would be required to meet ordinance requirements; the lot width is the same as what existed 
with the previous development (Eiche Turner) 

 
c. The purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the 
property; 

 
The purpose of the variation for lot width is to recognize the existing non-conformance of the subject property. 
The previous use (Eiche Turner) was constructed on the parcel with the same lot width. The purpose of the 
variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money, but rather to grant legal non-conformance 
status to the property. 

 
 d. The alleged hardship was not created by the owner of the property, or by a previous owner; 
 

The hardship was not created by the property owner. It is an existing lot predating the construction of the Eiche 
Turner building. 

 
e. The granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood upon which the property is located; 

 
The variation will not be detrimental or injurious because it is a pre-existing lot that predates the prior use and it 
has not negatively impacted the neighborhood in its current configuration. 

 
f. The proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to the adjacent property or 
substantially increase congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or endanger public 
safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 

Page 8 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

 
The project was reviewed by the Fire Department, Police Department, and Village Engineer, who did not find 
that the variation would create any public safety or danger to the general public. The granting of the variation 
will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the other property or improvements in the 
neighborhood because the lot width is the same as with the previous use. The point of access from 80th Avenue 
remains in the same general location as the previous use. 

 
There being no further questions or comments regarding the Findings of Fact, COMMISSIONER FICARO made a 
motion to grant Site Plan Approval for the proposed redevelopment of 2.34 acres at 16767 80th Avenue, to include a 
new 6,700 square foot medical facility and related site improvements for use by DaVita Dialysis. 
 
Additionally, we recommend that the Village Board grant, to DaVita Dialysis at 16767 80th Avenue, the following 
approvals and adopt findings of fact submitted by the Applicant and Findings of Fact made by Village Staff and the 
Plan Commission at this meeting, specifically:  
 

1.  A sixty-five foot (65’) foot Variation from the required one-hundred twenty-five foot (125’) foot front yard 
setback requirement (Section V.B. Schedule II-Schedule of District Regulations) for properties located in the 
B-1, Neighborhood Shopping Zoning District to allow for a sixty foot (60’) front yard setback along 80th 
Avenue; 

2. A 1.66 acre Variation to the required 4.0 acre minimum lot area requirement (Section V.B. Schedule II-
Schedule of District Regulations) for properties located in a B-1 Neighborhood Shopping Zoning District to 
allow for a lot area of 2.34 acres; and, 

3. A two hundred eighty foot (280’) Variation to the 600 foot (600’) lot width requirement (Section V.B. 
Schedule II-Schedule of District Regulations) for properties located in a B-1 Neighborhood Shopping Zoning 
District to allow for a lot width of 320 feet; 

4. Plat of R-Subdivision of Turner Subdivision Lots 1 and 2.  
 
The Plan Commission recommends these approvals with the following condition, which can be satisfied prior to 
appearance at the Village Board:  
 

1. Removal of the second paragraph as proposed on the plat 
 
The Motion was seconded by COMMISSIONER MCCLELLAN. 
 
 AYE: Plan Commissioners Jeff Ficaro, Tom Mahoney, Bob McClellan, Art Pierce, Bill Reidy, and Chairman 

Rita Walker 
 
 NAY: None 
 
 ABSENT: Plan Commissioners Maureen McLeod and Mark Moylan 
 
THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY by voice vote. PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN WALKER 
declared the Motion approved. 
 
CHAIRMAN WALKER thanked the Petitioner for a concise, well presented development, indicating this will be 
presented to the Village Board for final approval on April 28, 2015. 
 
A motion was made by COMMISSIONER PIERCE, seconded by COMMISSIONER MAHONEY to close the Public 
Hearing at 8:10 p.m. THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY by voice call. PLAN COMMISSION 
CHAIRMAN WALKER declared the motion approved. 

Page 9 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE APRIL 2, 2015 MEETING 
 
ITEM #2: E&B LIQUORS (formerly Family Video Store) – 16948 OAK PARK AVENUE – SITE PLAN 

APPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE PERMITS FOR A PACKAGE LIQUOR STORE AND A 
MIXED USE BUILDING (New Item)  

 
Consider a proposal from Paul (Pravin) Patel of E&B Liquors for Site Plan approval and Special Use 
Permits to create a package liquor store and add one residential apartment to create a mixed-use 
building. The project will include the renovation of an existing building at 16948 Oak Park Avenue and 
will be completed in two phases with phase one being a façade improvement and phase two involving 
demolition of a portion of the building to create the required parking at the rear and related site 
improvements, along with construction of a residential unit within the building. The property is zoned 
NG (Neighborhood General) within the Village’s 2009 Legacy Code.  

 
 
Present were the following: 
  

Plan Commissioners:   Jeff Ficaro 
Tom Mahoney 
Bob McClellan 

      Art Pierce 
Bill Reidy   
Rita Walker, Chairman 
 

Absent Plan Commissioners:  Maureen McLeod 
Mark Moylan 

  
Village Staff:    Amy Connolly, Planning Director 
     Paula Wallrich, Deputy Planning Director  
     Stephanie Kisler, Planner  
     Debra Kotas, Commission Secretary 

  
Guest(s):    Pravin Patel, Applicant 

  
 
 
 
PRAVIN PATEL presented a request to start a business, E&B Liquors, at 16948 Oak Park Avenue. 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner, presented the Staff report regarding Site Plan Approval and Special Use Permits on 
behalf of the Applicant to relocate his business to 16948 Oak Park Avenue, the site of a former video store which has 
been vacant for many years.  
 
MS. KISLER showed photographs of the parcel and reviewed the surrounding zoning areas, noting the small, non-
regulated wetland area behind the property that provides a natural bufferyard between the parcel and the residential 
properties to the west.  
 

Page 10 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

MS. KISLER proceeded to show photographs of the buildings current façade and photographs of the proposed façade 
improvements noting the improvements will help this space blend in with the businesses directly adjacent by using 
similar color palettes and materials. She also reviewed renderings for the rear façade stating the Applicant has provided 
options for materials ranging from a darker brick, lighter brick, and a mixture of darker and lighter. Staff is requesting 
Commissioners opinions in this regard.  
 
MS. KISLER reviewed the Phasing Plan noting that Phase I will be completed immediately, prior to obtaining a 
Certificate of Occupancy for the tenant space. She stated the Applicant will then open the liquor store, complete the 
tenant space build-out, façade improvement, add planters along the façade, and cross-parking, cross-access agreements 
with the property to the south to ensure temporary parking. She stated Phase II consists of demolition of the rear portion 
of the building in order to make the size more usable for a tenant, addition of a residential unit for tax benefit purposes, 
addition of a rear parking lot in order to conform to parking standards deemed by the Legacy Code, rear landscape 
improvements, and a designated alley and cross-access improvements. She reported that a timeline for Phase II has not 
been established.  
 
MS. KISLER reviewed the Site Plan for the first floor and ground level that includes the tenant space and liquor store 
followed by a mezzanine level that includes two (2) residential units. She reported that though the submitted plans 
include two (2) residential units, the Applicant has subsequently indicated only a single residential unit; therefore, a 
new floor plan will need to be submitted.  
 
MS. KISLER reviewed the parking space requirements per the Legacy Code that also requires a certain number of bike 
stalls. With the information currently provided, 26-27 vehicle parking spaces will be required along with 3-4 bike stalls, 
however, only 23 parking stalls will be provided at the completion of both Phases. She reported a formal floor plan has 
not yet been submitted so Staff is unable to accurately calculate the useable tenant space that would determine square 
footage to calculate the required parking count. She noted the number of bike stalls must also be indicated on the plan.  
 
MS. KISLER reported signage and lighting plans are conceptual at this time; however, Staff has suggested the 
building’s aesthetic quality could benefit from using non-illuminated signage with goose neck lighting. She noted 
Police Department comments include the addition of security cameras and better lighting since the business is a liquor 
store. 
 
In conclusion, MS. KISLER summarized the following open items: 
 

1. A timeline for Phase II; 
2. Clarify if 1 or 2 units are proposed and submit plans accordingly; 
3. Selection of materials for the rear façade; 
4. Installation of 3 bike stalls; 
5. Moving the goose neck lighting on the front façade upward to create a more defined area for a sign band for the 

liquor store and tenant space; 
6. Consider other options for creating sign band areas along the façade that would be more versatile for varying 

tenant sizes; 
7. Consider prohibiting tenants to use signage that requires a lighting source other than goose neck lighting; 
8. Address outstanding Staff Review comments. 

 
MR. PATEL stated the number of residential units will be determined by the number of parking spaces he will have 
available and that he is working with his architect in this regard. He added that once permits are obtained, he will open 
the liquor store then begin Phase II.  
 
COMMISSIONER MCLELLAN inquired as to the liquor store’s hours of operation. MR. PATEL responded with 
hours of Sunday through Thursday 10:00 a.m.-10:00p.m. and Friday/Saturday 10:00 a.m. to 11:00 pm. 
 

Page 11 of 12 
 



                 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                                                          April 2, 2015 

COMMISSIONER PIERCE inquired if the Applicant’s architect is studying the Legacy Code and is aware of the 
County’s 50% rule in terms of marketability. MR. PATEL stated he will provide appropriate records in this regard. He 
suggested contacting Economic Development regarding a façade grant. MS. KISLER reported the Applicant is working 
on an application with the Main Street Commission. 
 
COMMISSIONER REIDY inquired if the residential area will be on the footprint and also inquiring about the total 
square footage. MS. KISLER reported the site is approximately 12,000 square feet is being reduced to approximately 
6,000 square feet following demolition of the rear of the building. MR. PATEL confirmed his architect has assured him 
this is feasible. AMY CONNOLLY, Planning Director, also reported Staff has suggested demolition of the rear portion 
and is working closely with the architect who has read and understands the Legacy Code.  
 
A discussion ensued regarding parking availability. MS. CONNOLLY reported the Applicant currently has a shared 
parking/shared cross-access agreement with the business to the south, renting parking spaces from EggHeadz, in order 
to meet current parking demand. 
 
CHAIRMAN WALKER inquired about the alleyway. MS. CONNOLLY reported Staff is working on an alleyway 
dedication with the property owner to the south, EggHeadz. She also reported the Applicant is also working with his 
attorney to obtain a full cross-access to ensure access from 170th Street to his property that will function like a dedicated 
alleyway. She noted a property to the north with a detached garage with no current plans for relocating. She also 
reviewed the existing dedicated alleyways with the three (3) various businesses to the north.  
 
There being no further questions or comments, CHAIRMAN WALKER assigned COMMISIONER MAHONEY and 
COMMISSIONER FICARO to work with Staff and Applicant.   
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, a motion was made by COMMISSIONER PIERCE seconded by COMMISSIONER 
REIDY to adjourn the regular meeting of the Plan Commission of April 2, 2015 at 8:49 p.m. THE MOTION WAS 
UNANIMOUSLY APPROVED by voice call. PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN WALKER declared the meeting 
ADJOURNED.  

Page 12 of 12 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Pravin (Paul) Patel, proposes to operate a packaged liquor store and 
implement site improvements at 16948 Oak Park Avenue. This project entails Site 
Plan Approval for a phased approach of improvements, including: a façade 
improvement, demolition of a portion of the building, addition of a residential unit, 
cross-access/alley improvements, and construction of a rear parking lot and related 
site improvements. A Special Use Permit is required to operate a packaged liquor 
store in the Legacy District. An additional Special Use Permit is required for 
converting a stand-alone commercial building into a mixed-use building by 
constructing a residential unit. 
 
 
OPEN ITEMS 
 
1.  A timeline for Phase II improvements must be established. 
2.  The Applicant must clarify if one or two units are proposed and submit plans 

that accurately reflect the number of units. 
3.  A selection of materials for the rear façade must be made. 
4.  A minimum of three (3) bike stalls must be installed within the property. 
5.  Move the goose neck lighting on the front façade upward to create a more 

defined area for a sign band for the liquor store and the other tenant space. 
6.  Consider other options for creating sign band areas along the façade that would 

be more versatile for varying tenant sizes. 
7.  Consider prohibiting tenants to use signage that requires a lighting source 

other than the goose neck lighting above. 
8.  Address any outstanding Staff Review comments. 
 
NOTE: All open items have been discussed and satisfactorily resolved during the Plan 
Commission Work Session on 4/9/2015 with Commissioners Ficaro and Mahoney. 

 
 
 
Applicant 
Pravin (Paul) Patel 
 
Property Location 
16948 Oak Park Avenue 
 
Building Size 
11,900 SF +  
(about 6,000 SF will be vacant) 
 
Proposed for Phase II: 
Reduction to 5,940 SF 

 
Parcel Size 
37,000 SF +  
0 ac + 

 
Zoning 
NG (Neighborhood 
General) 
Legacy District 
 
Approval Sought 
1. Site Plan Approval 
2. Special Use Permit for 

a Packaged Liquor 
Store 

3. Special Use Permit for 
conversion to a mixed-
use building 

 
Requested Action 
Make a motion to grant Site 
Plan Approval and 
recommend that the Village 
Board grant Special Use 
Permits to the Applicant. 
 
Project Planner 
Stephanie Kisler 
Planner I 
 

PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
APRIL 16, 2015   
 
E&B LIQUORS 
16948 Oak Park Avenue  



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

 
EXISTING SITE 
 
The site has been vacant for several years and most recently was used as a video store. The parcel contains 
a small, non-regulated wetland within the western portion of the parcel. This particular site has been 
troublesome for attracting new tenants due to the large size of the building, which is approximately 11,900 
square feet. A small number of parking spaces are located along the front of the building, but are not an 
adequate amount to serve such a large space, according to Village codes. 
 
 
PROPOSED USE 
 
The Applicant proposes to utilize approximately 5,940 square feet of the building for retail use. Of the 
retail square footage, 4,000 square feet will be utilized by the liquor store and 1,940 square feet will be 
used by another tenant (not yet determined). The remaining 5,960 square feet at the rear of the building 
will remain vacant until that portion of the building is demolished at Phase II of the project. Phase II will 
construct a residential unit within the rear of the building at the mezzanine level, along with a rear parking 
lot for employees, customers, and the resident(s) of the unit. 
 
The Applicant has stated that the liquor store will have a total of four (4) employees. One employee will be 
present at the store during the daytime and two employees will work during the evening and night time. 
The proposed hours of operation are: 

Sunday – Thursday:  10:00am-10:00pm 
Friday – Saturday:  10:00am-11:00pm 

 
 
ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 
The property is zoned NG (Neighborhood 
General) within the Legacy District. This 
property can be converted to a mixed-use 
building as a Heritage Site (building and site 
improvements costing less than 50% of the 
value of the property) by obtaining a 
Special Use Permit. Operating a package 
liquor store within any Legacy District also 
requires a Special Use Permit. 
 
The property is adjacent to single-family 
residential on the west, a restaurant on the 
south, a commercial use on the north, and a 
row of parking and Oak Park Avenue to the 
east. The diagram on the right depicts the 
site (outlined in red) in relation to the 
surrounding zoning districts. 
 
 

  

Page 2 of 11 
 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

GENERAL SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
The Applicant’s plans are a welcome improvement to the site. 
The façade enhancements will help this space blend in with the 
businesses directly adjacent to the building by utilizing similar 
color palettes and materials.  
 
Per Staff ’s direction, the Applicant is planning to construct 
parking at the rear of the building to accommodate customers, 
employees, and the residents of the proposed apartment. The 
Applicant proposes to add plant materials to the site by 
installing planters outside the front façade and constructing 
landscape beds within the new parking lot at the rear of the 
building.  
 
Phasing 
The Applicant has identified the following phasing plan: 
 
Phase I: (Immediately) 

• Liquor store and tenant space build-out 
• Façade improvement 
• Addition of planters along the façade 
• Cross-parking and cross-access agreements 

 
Phase II: (Six months to one year from business opening) 

• Demolition of the rear portion of the building 
• Addition of a residential unit 
• Addition of parking lot at the rear 
• Landscape improvements at the rear 
• Alley/cross-access improvements 

 
Open Item #1: A timeline for Phase II improvements must be established. 
 
Open Item #1 Resolution: The Applicant has stated a timeline of completing Phase II improvements 
within six (6) months to one (1) year of opening the liquor store. The Applicant is very motivated to 
complete Phase II because the addition of a residential unit will provide a significant relief for taxes. 
 
Residential Construction 
The Applicant has proposed the addition of a residential use to the building. While the plans submitted to 
Staff indicate two two-bedroom units, the Applicant has stated subsequently that the plans will be modified 
to construct a single residential unit. 
 
Open Item #2: The Applicant must clarify if one or two units are proposed and submit plans that 
accurately reflect the number of units. 
 
Open Item #2 Resolution: The Applicant has clarified that one (1) residential unit is going to be 
proposed instead of two (2) residential units. Plans will be submitted at the Building Permit stage and 
the plans will meet all applicable codes. 
 
 

  

Page 3 of 11 
 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

ARCHITECTURE & AESTHETICS 
 
Overall, Staff believes that the proposed plans for the front façade of the building are a significant 
improvement from the current storefront (see comparison below). The deep red color of the awnings 
matches the adjacent restaurant’s awnings as well as the deep red accents of the building to the north. The 
masonry work adds visual interest and defines the space, whereas the current façade is one long 
continuous storefront. 

 

 
 Current Façade (Google) 

 

 
 Proposed Façade (Architect’s Rendering) 

 
The Applicant has provided three different options for the materials and colors on the rear façade of the 
building, ranging from a darker brick, a lighter brick, and a mixture of dark and light bricks. 

 
Open Item #3: A selection of materials for the rear façade must be made. 
 
Open Item #3 Resolution: The Applicant will proceed with either of the following renderings shown 
below. The base will be comprised of brick or similar masonry materials while the upper level will be a 
non-masonry material in a complimentary color scheme. 
 

  
Page 4 of 11 

 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

PARKING & CIRCULATION 
 
During Phase I, approximately 6,000 square feet of the building will be unused and parking will be shared 
within the lot directly south (Egg Headz restaurant). The Legacy Code requires Heritage Sites in the 
Neighborhood General District to have four (4) parking spaces per every 1,000 square feet. Residential uses 
must have one (1) space per dwelling unit and one-half (1/2) guest spaces per dwelling unit (DU). The 
Legacy Code also requires 0.2 bike stalls per every 1,000 square feet, with a minimum of two (2) bike stalls, 
and one (1) bike stall per dwelling unit. 
 

Building Information Required Vehicle Parking Required Bicycle Parking 
Requirement # Required Requirement # Required 

Phase I & II: 5,940 s.f. 4 per 1,000 s.f. 24 0.2 per 1,000 s.f. 2 
with One Residential Unit 1.5 per DU 2 1 per DU 1 
with Two Residential Units 1.5 per DU 3 1 per DU 2 

 
Total Parking Required: 26-27 vehicle parking spaces, 3-4 bike stalls 

 
Note: The Plan Commission must grant a parking waiver for Phase I of the project since the Applicant 
will not be constructing adequate parking for the site until Phase II. 
 
The Applicant is providing a total of twenty-three (23) parking stalls at the conclusion of Phase II; 
however, handicap-accessible stalls have not been noted on the plans. Also, a Floor Plan was not 
submitted, so Staff is unable to accurately calculate the useable tenant space (excluding hallways, storage 
rooms, etc.) which would determine the proper square footage to accurately calculate the required parking 
count. Staff believes that the Applicant has worked diligently to make the site conform to current parking 
standards to the best of his ability. The Applicant will need to install bike stalls as required per the Legacy 
Code. 
 
Open Item #4: A minimum of three (3) bike stalls must be installed within the property. 
 
Open Item #4 Resolution: The Applicant will provide three (3) bike stalls on the plans during the 
Building Permit stage. 
 
 
SIGNAGE & LIGHTING 
 
The Applicant has not submitted any signage plans. The Applicant has proposed lighting in the renderings 
submitted to Staff. The goose neck lighting offers an attractive enhancement to the front façade. Staff would 
like to note that the proposed goose neck lighting on the façade may need to be move further toward the 
roof line to allow for an adequate sign band area between the awning and the roof line. Also, the use of the 
columns is an effective way of distinguishing between storefronts but may present issues with signage if 
tenants occupy more than one space. It appears that this building could provide for up to four tenants; Staff 
requests to ensure that there will not be signage placement issues if the space is divided up differently in 
the future. 
 
Open Item #5: Move the goose neck lighting on the front façade upward to create a more defined area 
for a sign band for the liquor store and the other tenant space. 
 
Open Item #5 Resolution: The Applicant has agreed to move the goose neck lighting upward. 
 
Open Item #6: Consider other options for creating sign band areas along the façade that would be 
more versatile for varying tenant sizes. 
 

Page 5 of 11 
 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

Open Item #6 Resolution: The Applicant will provide a rendering showing the building façade in 
sectioned in thirds, rather than in fourths as shown on previous plans. This may allow for a more 
accurate representation of the tenant spaces from the front façade of the building. 
 
Additionally, Staff believes that the building’s aesthetic quality could benefit from using non-illuminated 
signage (see examples below). The goose neck lighting will provide an ample light source for signage within 
the sign band area on the front façade. 
 
Open Item #7: Consider prohibiting tenants to use signage that requires a lighting source other than 
the goose neck lighting above. 
 
Open Item #7 Resolution: The Applicant has agreed to only install non-illuminated channel letters or 
channel letters with a minimal halo effect (pictured below).  
 

 
 

Upon further analysis after the work session, Staff recommends that the signage be strictly non-
illuminated and the goose neck lighting utilize a solar-powered energy source (or similar) to ensure 
that signage is illuminated at any time when the conditions are dark outside. 
 
 
STAFF REVIEW COMMENTS 
 
A complied list of Staff Review comments is attached to this Staff Report.  
 
Open Item #8: Address any outstanding Staff Review comments.  
 
Open Item #8 Resolution: Staff notes that the majority of these Staff Review comments will be 
addressed at Building Permit stage. The Planning Department notes that the Police Department 
mentioned the need for added security improvements based on the nature of the uses within the 
building. The Applicant has agreed to install a security camera and the necessary lighting to offer a 
safe environment for the rear of the building. 

 
 
WORK SESSION SUMMARY 
 
During the Plan Commission Work Session with the Applicant, Staff, and assigned Commissioners Ficaro 
and Mahoney on Thursday, April 9, 2015, the following items were discussed: 
 

1.  A timeline for Phase II improvements must be established. 
Discussion: The Applicant clarified that Phase II would begin as soon as six (6) months after opening 
the liquor store but may be delayed if that is the winter season and construction cannot begin due 
to weather. It is likely that the latest that the Phase II construction will begin is one (1) year after 
the opening of the liquor store. The Applicant is highly motived to complete Phase II because it will 
greatly benefit him to have the reduction in taxes to add a residential unit. 
 

2.  The Applicant must clarify if one or two units are proposed and submit plans that accurately reflect 
the number of units. 

Page 6 of 11 
 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

Discussion: The Applicant stated that he will only have one (1) residential unit with potentially 
three (3) bedrooms. This will mean that one less parking space will be required since one less unit 
is being constructed. 
 

3.  A selection of materials for the rear façade must be made. 
Discussion: The Applicant stated that he liked the look of the option with the dark brick base and 
the lighter material on the second flood. The Commissioners both agreed that they preferred the 
dark brick base with the dark material on the second flood. The Commissioners and the Applicant 
resolved to approve either of these designs, so long as they met all applicable building codes 
(including the masonry/brick requirement). 
 

4.  A minimum of three (3) bike stalls must be installed within the property. 
Discussion: The Applicant agreed to install the bike stalls and will add them to the plans for the 
Building Permit submittal. The Applicant discussed the location of the bike stalls with the 
Commissioners. The Commissioners noted that there may not be room at the front of the building 
to accommodate the bike stalls, so the bike stalls may have to be located at the rear of the building. 
 

5.  Move the goose neck lighting on the front façade upward to create a more defined area for a sign 
band for the liquor store and the other tenant space. 
Discussion: The Applicant has agreed to move the lighting upward on the façade in order to 
facilitate a more defined signage area. The Commissioners agreed that this will enhance the 
aesthetics of the signage and the façade as a whole. 
 

6.  Consider other options for creating sign band areas along the façade that would be more versatile 
for varying tenant sizes. 
Discussion: Staff suggested that the Applicant provide an exterior design that matches the interior 
space divisions. The interior tenant spaces are divided more in thirds than fourths, so the outside 
should show three façade sections and accurately represent the storefronts in conjunction with the 
tenant spaces in the building. The Applicant has agreed to provide a rendering of the façade in 
thirds. 
 

7.  Consider prohibiting tenants to use signage that requires a lighting source other than the goose 
neck lighting above. 
Discussion: The Applicant and the Commissioners discussed the need for visibility and how lighting 
effects signage at this location. Staff proposed prohibiting illuminated signage since the sign band 
area will be illuminated by the goose neck lighting. The Applicant mentioned concerns for the signs 
not being well-light during gloomy days since the goose neck lighting will be on a timer system. An 
option for low-illumination halo style lettering was discussed as an alternative since it would 
display a small halo around the signage that could be visible during the daytime when the timer for 
the goose neck lights is inactive. 
 
Upon further analysis, Staff has came up with an idea of using a solar-powered system to operate 
the goose-neck lighting; therefore, the lighting would come on whenever the darkness threshold 
was reached at any time of the day. 
 

8.  Address any outstanding Staff Review comments. 
Discussion: Staff noted that many of these comments pertain to the Building Permit stage and will 
be resolved through plan review at that time. The Commissioners discussed the Police Department 
comments concerning to lighting and security. The Applicant committed to add ample lighting and 
security features to alleviate any safety concerns. 
 

 
 
 

  
Page 7 of 11 

 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motion would read:  
 
“… make a motion to grant Site Plan Approval and a Parking Waiver to the Applicant, Pravin (Paul) Patel, for 
the property located at 16948 Oak Park Avenue for the proposed Phase I and Phase II improvements for a 
mixed-use building including: a façade improvement, demolition of a portion of the building, addition of a 
residential unit, cross-access/alley dedication and improvements, and construction of a rear parking lot, 
landscaping, and related site improvements. 
 
Additionally, the Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board grant, to Pravin (Paul) Patel at 16948 
Oak Park Avenue, the following approvals and adopt Findings of Fact submitted by the Applicant and 
Findings of Fact made by Village Staff and the Plan Commission at this meeting, specifically for:  
 
1. A Special Use Permit for operation of a package liquor store within the NG (Neighborhood General) 

Legacy District; and 
2. A Special Use Permit for converting a stand-alone commercial building into a mixed-use building by 

constructing a residential unit within the NG (Neighborhood General) Legacy District. 
 
The Plan Commission recommends the Special Use Permits with the following conditions: 
 
1. A  minimum of three (3) bike stalls must be installed per the requirements of the Legacy Code; 

2. The goose neck lighting on the front façade must be moved upward so that the lighting will illuminate 
signage placed between the goose neck lighting and the awning; 

3. Tenants of the building are prohibited from using signage with illumination (other than the illumination 
from the goose neck lighting above) unless the goose neck lighting is removed;  

4. The Applicant will install adequate lighting (in compliance with Section 3.I. of the Legacy Code) and 
security measures to ensure the safety of employees, customers, and resident(s) of the building; and 

5. There is a written acknowledgement from all property owners that are party to the collective or shared 
parking that the shared parking approval will only be recognized by the Village if the current 
arrangements of commercial and residential square footages on the property remain the same. If these 
arrangements change by Change of Use or Change of Owner, expansion or redevelopment, new parking 
improvements may be required; 

6. The parking arrangement for Phase I is formalized through officially recorded cross-access and cross-
parking agreements;  

7. The parking waiver expires (and is no longer necessary) at the completion of Phase II of the project 
when adequate parking has been constructed within the site; 

8. That the liquor store cannot receive a Certificate of Occupancy until the façade improvement (Phase I) 
has been completed. 

9. A twenty foot (20’) wide alley dedication must be formalized and dedicated to the Village prior to 
occupancy of the residential unit at the completion of Phase II of the project;  

10. That the residential unit cannot receive a Certificate of Occupancy until all Phase II improvements have 
been completed. 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 8 of 11 
 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
1. Special Use Permit for Operation of a Package Liquor Store 

 
A. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. 
 
The operation of a package liquor store will not negatively impact the locality. By allowing a liquor 
store at this location, the building will no longer be vacant and the property will be improved in two 
phases. Overall, the area will be improved and two new businesses will be able to occupy the tenant 
spaces within the building. 
 
 

B. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 
 
The current building has been vacant for over seven (7) years. The improvements proposed for the 
liquor store will provide a significant enhancement to the building and along Oak Park Avenue. 
 
 

C. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
 
The existing block is already developed commercially and has adequate commercial parking. This 
use will not change the normal and orderly development or improvement of surrounding property. 
In fact, the new owner proposes to demolish (in Phase II) a portion of the building and dedicate a 
20' alleyway, which will contribute to the future development of the entire block. 
 
 

D. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided. 
 
The property is served by shared parking to the south and in Phase II, will be creating a new on-site 
parking facility. Additionally, the property owner will dedicate a 20 foot alleyway, as required by the 
Legacy Code, in order to improve access to the block and parking facilities. 
 
 

E. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 
Ingress and egress to the property will not change from what is already provided. In Phase II, an 
alleyway will be dedicated which will improve ingress and egress to the rear of the building. 
 
 

F. That the Special Use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village 
Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission. 
 
All regulations on the Legacy Code and the Village Zoning Ordinance will be met with this proposal. 
A liquor license will be granted by the Village's Liquor Commissioner. 
 
 

G. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development 
of the community as a whole. 

Page 9 of 11 
 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

 
The existing building has been vacant for over 7 years and has been an eyesore along Oak Park 
Avenue. The proposed use will fill up at last half of the commercial space and a facade improvement 
is planned that will create lasting value to the building. We believe that this Special Use will add to 
the commercial offerings along Oak Park Avenue and increase the amount of local shopping that 
may occur. 
 

 
2. Special Use Permit for Conversion of a Stand-Alone Commercial Building into a Mixed-Use 

Building by Constructing a Residential Unit 
 

A. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. 
 
The residential unit is a Phase II improvement that will be completed along with demolishing 
portions of the existing building, dedicating a 20' alleyway, and creating additional parking to the 
rear of the building. These are improvements to the safety and general welfare of the public and of 
businesses along Oak Park Avenue. 
 
 

B. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 
 
The current building has been vacant for over 7 years. Adding a residential unit will increase the 
value of the property because the property will be eligible for the Cook County Class 7 tax break, 
which provides property owners with tax breaks if there is a rentable residential unit within the 
building. We also believe that the addition of a residential unit along Oak Park Avenue will positively 
contribute to the building of a neighborhood retail market, which improves the value of property 
along Oak Park Avenue. 
 
 

C. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
 
The existing block is already developed commercially and has adequate commercial parking. This 
use will not change the normal and orderly development or improvement of surrounding property. 
In fact, the new owner proposes to demolish (in Phase II) a portion of the building and dedicate a 
20' alleyway, which will contribute to the future development of the entire block. The addition of the 
residential unit only requires one parking space per unit and this will be provided at the rear of the 
property. 
 
 

D. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided. 
 
The property is served by shared parking to the south during Phase I and in Phase II will be creating 
a new on-site parking at the rear of the building. Additionally, the property owner will dedicate a 
20’ alleyway, as required by the Legacy Code, in order to improve access to the block and parking 
lot. 
 
 

E. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

Page 10 of 11 
 



E&B Liquors – 16948 Oak Park Avenue 

Ingress and egress to the property will not change from what is already provided. In Phase II, an 
alleyway will be dedicated which will improve ingress and egress to the rear of the building. 
 
 

F. That the Special Use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village 
Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission. 
 
The residential unit will meet minimum unit sizes as set forth in the Zoning Ordinance and there 
will be no other variations from the Village Codes. 
 
 

G. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development 
of the community as a whole. 

 
The existing building has been vacant for over 7 years and has been an eyesore along Oak Park 
Avenue. The proposed use will fill up at last half of the commercial space, add a rentable residential 
unit, and a facade improvement is planned that will create lasting value to the building. We believe 
that this Special Use will add to the commercial offerings along Oak Park Avenue and increase the 
amount of local shopping that may occur. 

Page 11 of 11 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Edward Gregory, has submitted a Plat of Easement that would allow 
easements for public utilities, drainage, and ingress and egress to be placed on 
residential property located at 6500 166th Street in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) Zoning District and within the Tinley Terrace subdivision. This 
easement is for the benefit of the property addressed as 6500 166th Street with 
Parcel Idenitifcation Number (PIN) 28-19-402-085-0000. 
 
Staff would like to note that the wording in the proposed easement ensures that a 
flag lot is not being created and that the use of the ingress and egress easement is to 
be utilized solely by the larger northern property (PIN 28-19-402-085-0000). 

 
 
 
Applicants 
Edward Gregory, Property 
Owner 
Warren Opperman, Joseph 
A. Schudt & Associates 
(Engineer) 
 
 
Property Location 
6500 166th Street 
 
 
Parcel Size 
PIN 28-19-402-085-0000 
87,306 square feet 
(2.0 acres ±) 
 
PIN 28-19-402-036-0000 
35,700 square feet 
(0.82 acres ±) 
 
 
Zoning 
R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) 
 
 
Approval Sought 
Final Plat Approval 
 
 
Requested Action 
Make a motion to 
recommend approval of the 
Plat of Easement to the 
Village Board 
 
 
Project Planner 
Stephanie Kisler 
Planner I 
 

PLAN COMMISSION    APRIL 16, 2015 

 
STAFF REPORT:  
PLAT OF EASEMENT 6500 166TH STREET 



Plat of Easement – 6500 166th Street 
EXISTING SITE 
 
The subject properties are currently 
owned by the Applicant, Edward 
Gregory. A residence exists within the 
larger property to the north (property 
shown below in red and marked as “A”; 
PIN 28-19-402-085-0000) and the 
property to the south (property shown 
below in yellow and marked as “B”; PIN 
28-19-402-036-0000) is vacant other 
than a driveway that extends to the 
northern parcel for access from 166th 
Street. 
 
The Applicant proposes the Plat of 
Easement in order to allow access to 
property “A” through the driveway on 
property “B”. Without this access, 
property “A” would not be able to be 
accessed if property “B” was sold to 
another owner. Additionally, the 
easement language includes use for 
public utilities and drainage within 
property “B”. 
 
Although this lot situation is nonconforming to what would be allowed in current codes (i.e. creation of a 
flag lot or a lot without direct access to the public street), this Plat of Easement is necessary to formalize 
access easements within property “B” that will benefit property “A”. 
 

 

RECCOMENDED MOTION 
 
Should the Plan Commission wish to take action, an appropriate motion would be: 
 
“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board to grant approval for a Plat of Easement that would 
allow easements for public utilities, drainage, and ingress and egress to be placed on residential property 
located at 6500 166th Street in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District and within the Tinley 
Terrace subdivision. This easement is for the benefit of the property addressed as 6500 166th Street with 
Parcel Idenitifcation Number (PIN) 28-19-402-085-0000.” 

Page 2 of 2 
 





 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Jeff Slavish, for Brixmor, seeks approvals for the proposed Site Plan 
and a Special Use for a Substantial Deviation of the approved Tinley Park PUD. The 
Applicant proposes to demolish the northern 7,290 SF of the in-line tenant spaces 
(former Outrigger Restaurant) and develop a one-story 9,100 SF multi-tenant retail 
building and related site improvements.  
 
Two uses have been identified for the parcel; the south corner unit is proposed for 
Noodles and Co., and the north corner tenant will be a fast food pizza restaurant.  The 
two (2) middle units have not yet been identified, but are planned for retail uses.  
 
The Applicant has proposed a Site Plan that has 15 areas of exceptions to the Village 
Zoning Ordinance; as a PUD they are not recognized as a variation but will be 
acknowledged as part of the review process: 
 

# of Exceptions  
 

Variation Required Proposed 

7 Aisle width 26’ 24’ 
2 Bufferyard width 10’ 7’ 
6 Landscape Island 

Width 
10’ 6-8’ 

 
Staff recommends that the Plan Commission consider Site Plan alternatives to meet 
the following items: 

• Minimize exceptions to Village Zoning Ordinance; 
• Provide additional greenspace to meet the spirit and intent of the Landscape 

Ordinance; 
• Minimize points of conflict on the main north-south drive aisle; and 
• Trade off parking spaces for increased greenspace and parking lot screening.  

 
The Applicant has provided an attractive structure that meets ordinance masonry 
requirements; however two outstanding items remain including Staff ’s 
recommendation for a full tower parapet and a decrease in the amount of EFIS. 
  

 
 
 
Applicant 
Jeff Slavish 
Brixmor Development 
 
Property Location 
15917 S. Harlem Ave. 
 
Parcel Size 
76,305 SF +  
1.75 ac + 

 
Zoning 
B-2 PUD 
Tinley Park Plaza PUD 
 
Approval Sought 
Site Plan, Special Use for  a 
Substantial Deviation of a 
PUD which includes 
exceptions from Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 
Requested Action 
Assign two Commissioners 
to meet with the Applicant 
in a Work Session. 
 
Project Planner 
Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
Deputy Planning Director 
 

PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
APRIL 16, 2015   
 
BRIXMOR/TINLEY PARK PLAZA PUD 
15917 S. Harlem Avenue  



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
 

SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 

OPEN ITEM SUGGESTED RESOLUTION 

1.  No cross-access easement exists between subject 
property and Tinley Square. 

Plat a cross-access easement. 

2.  East parking area does not meet aisle width 
requirements. 

Revise site plan.  

3.  East parking area landscape islands do not meet width 
requirements. 

Revise site plan. 

4.  Bufferyard and parking lot screening is eliminated at 
south end of subject area where public sidewalk 
encroaches private property. 

Revise site plan. 

5.  Sidewalk easement is required for area where public walk 
encroaches private property. 

Plat sidewalk easement. 

6.  Parking aisles do not meet minimum width requirements 
in the south parking lot. 

Revise site plan. 

7.  Landscape aisles do not meet minimum width 
requirements in south parking lot. 

Revise site plan. 

8.  Excessive access width and pavement at rear of building. Revise site plan. 

9.  Sidewalk in front of proposed building does not provide 
adequate accessibility. 

Revise site plan. 

10.  Drive aisle does not meet minimum width requirements 
at west side of property. 

Revise site plan. 

11.  Landscape island does not meet minimum width 
requirements in west parking lot. 

Revise site plan. 

12.  Photometrics exceed lighting standards at property line. Revise photometrics. 

13.  The tower elements on the west façade do not have four 
fully architecturally developed sides. 

Revise architecture. 

14.  The west façade provides minimal articulation to define 
the column elements as presented. 

Revise architecture. 

15.  The EFIS surface area encompasses a large area on four 
corners of the building. 

Revise architecture. 

16.  HVAC must be screened from public view. Provide information regarding HVAC. 

17.  Proposed plantings conflict with utilities and drainage 
swale. 

Revise Landscape Plan. 

18.  There are plant deficiencies in the proposed landscape 
plan. 

Revise Landscape Plan. 

19.  The south side of the building is void of shade trees. This 
would enhance the outdoor eating area. 

Revise Landscape Plan. 

20.  Parking lot landscaping does not meet 15% coverage 
requirements.  

Provide Calculations. 

21.  Several islands do not meet minimum lot width or area 
requirements. 

Revise Site Plan. 

Page 2 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
22.  Landscape islands do not provide adequate screening. Revise Landscape Plan. 

23.  All plants must be labeled on the Landscape Plan. Revise Landscape Plan. 

24.  The Sign Regulations for Tinley Park Plaza Shopping 
Center PUD do not address the unique needs of outlot 
construction. Staff prepared an amendment to the PUD 
sign regulations. 

Adopt sign amendment. 

25.  Outstanding engineering items must be addressed. Village Engineer Approval. 

26.  Outstanding Fire Department items must be addressed 
including an amendment to the Fire Lane Agreement. 

Fire Department Approval. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 3 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
EXISTING SITE 
 
The proposed development site is part of the Tinley Park Plaza (hereinafter referred to as TPP) Planned 
Unit Development approved on November 13, 1972. The shopping area has changed ownership and tenants 
over the years.  An amendment to the PUD was made in 1993, approving the 117,800 square foot Builder’s 
Square development. In 2004, an outlot was platted at the south end of the plaza and was developed with a 
multi-tenant retail building. The configuration of the in-line stores has remained intact from its original 
construction.  
 
The proposed multi-tenant retail building will be constructed in an area currently used for parking and is 
located just southeast of the intersection at 159th Street and Harlem Avenue. This intersection represents 
one of the Village’s main commercial intersections and carries significant volumes of traffic. Village 
boundaries are defined by 159th Street at this location, with the Village of Orland Park to the north and 
Tinley Park to the south. Properties surrounding the intersection are fully developed with redevelopment 
projects interspersed between older retail developments. There is a mix of uses and architectural styles 
along with various site planning schemes in the area representing changing planning trends over the years.  
 
The parcel is bounded on the north by Tinley Square, a one-story multi-tenant retail center (tenants 
include: Pot Belly, Starbucks, and FedEx), and PNC Bank . Tinley Park Plaza occupies the east side of the 
block, while Brementown Mall is located further east near Oak Park Avenue. Across Harlem Avenue to the 
west is another shopping area with several outlots comprising restaurant and retail uses. The development 
of this structure will involve the demolition of the northern tenant space (7,290 square feet) of the in-line 
stores (formerly Outriggers Fish House).  
 
In 2007, a small multi-tenant retail center was constructed 
north of the subject property (Tinley Square). The site was a 
former gas station. This new retail center provides 
enhanced architectural features and represents economic 
growth for the area. As an aging retail center, Tinley Park 
Plaza, has struggled retaining and attracting quality tenants. 
The north end of the center has been vacant since January of 
2013 when Outriggers Fish House closed. Tinley Park Plaza 
is currently 25% vacant. The proposed development is 
expected to spur redevelopment in the area while setting 
architectural and site planning standards for future 
development.  
 
The development of the proposed multi-tenant structure represents a Substantial Deviation to the 
approved Planned Unit Development and therefore, Staff is certainly cautious in planning for the overall 
redevelopment potential for the entire TPP development. It is important to not only review the proposal 
with respect to Village standards and the surrounding area, but it is equally important that any approvals 
consider future redevelopment scenarios for the entire Tinley Park Plaza PUD. From a site planning 
perspective, it is important that access, building orientation, streetscape, landscape, signage and parking 
ratios be considered with an eye toward the future development opportunities for the area.  
 
Staff has reviewed the Brixmor submittal with respect to Village standards, the approved PUD, and site 
planning strategies within the surrounding area. The Applicant has cooperated with Staff ’s 
recommendation to align the west access with the property to the north (Tinley Square).  The proposed 
location of the structure is consistent with the site planning for the property to the north as well as with the 
outlot at the south end of Tinley Park Plaza.  
 
The subject parcel will not have direct access to Harlem Avenue but will have access to one of the main 
entry points to TPP. Cross-access has been proposed with the recently developed project to the north.  The 
Applicant has been encouraged to negotiate a cross access easement to protect future access rights for 
both properties. 

Page 4 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
 
PROPOSED USE & COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
 
The existing north end of the TPP (7,290 SF) will be demolished to make room for the proposed 9,100 SF 
multi-tenant retail center. There are four (4) tenant spaces proposed in the new structure. The Applicant 
has stated there will be two (2) restaurant uses; one at the south end of the building (Noodles and 
Company-contact pending), and one at the north end of the building. The restaurant uses are 2,500 SF 
each. Outdoor dining areas have been proposed for both the north and south end of the structure; 500 SF 
and 440 SF respectfully. The two (2) interior spaces have been identified as retail users (2,617 SF and 
1,400 SF) for a total of 4,017 SF of retail.  
 
The Village of Tinley Park Comprehensive Plan (2000) identifies this site as commercial; therefore, the 
proposed development is in accord with the Village’s Comprehensive Plan.  
 
ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 
The subject parcel is zoned B-2, Community Shopping Center Zoning 
District, and was approved as a Planned Unit Development under the 
name Tinley Park Plaza in 1972. Any changes which increase density, 
the bulk of buildings, size or number of signs, the number of buildings, 
or any roadway changes, shall be deemed a Substantial Deviation to 
the approved PUD, and therefore requires a Special Use with Plan 
Commission review and a Public Hearing. Final recommendation of the 
Plan Commission is forwarded to the Village Board of Trustees for final 
action.  
 
There have been three (3) amendments to the original PUD since its 
approval including in 1985, when the PUD was amended to adopt 
comprehensive sign regulations for the entire center. These sign 
regulations remain in effect today and provide for a greater amount of 
sign area than the current Zoning Ordinance, due to the setback from 
Harlem Avenue.  The most recent PUD amendment provided for the outlot at the south end of the center. 
 
Staff has researched Village files in an effort to determine bulk regulations assigned to the parcel. An 
approved site plan was recorded; however, no specific setbacks were identified in a PUD document. The 
underlying zoning district (B-2) does not provide setback regulations; setbacks are “as recommended by 
Plan Commission”. Therefore, Staff has referenced setbacks of adjacent properties as part of the Site Plan 
Review.  
 
The Applicant has requested several deviations from the Zoning Ordinance as outlined below: 

• to provide for less than the required 26’ aisle width in seven (7) aisles within the parking lot; 
• to allow six (6) landscape islands less than the required width of 10’ (proposed 6-8’); 
• to allow for less than required bufferyards and parking lot screening; and 
• to allow signage inconsistent with the adopted Sign Regulations for the Tinley Park Plaza.  
 

Since the proposed improvement is part of a PUD, the review of these exceptions to Village ordinance are 
not reviewed as a ‘true’ variation of the Zoning Code; they are reviewed in context of the approved PUD.  
The Commission may wish to evaluate these deviations using the PUD Standards and Criteria for PUD 
(Section VII.C.1. and VII.C.3). As a Special Use, Staff will provide Findings of Fact at the Public Hearing 
consistent with the Special Use standards in Section X.J.5 of the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
 
 
 

Page 5 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
GENERAL SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 

Applicant’s Proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SETBACKS 
 
The front yard setback for Tinley Park Plaza PUD 
varies along the façade of the in-line stores; the 
north tenant space (scheduled for demolition) 
has an existing setback of 197’+, and the setback 
for the tenant spaces just south of this space is 
217’+. 
 
Outlots along Harlem Avenue in the vicinity of 
the proposed structure vary in setbacks from 50’ 
to approximately 130’.  The outlot constructed at 
the south end of TPP has a setback of 76’+.  The 
setback proposed for the subject outlot is 76’0” 
and is therefore consistent with setbacks for 
outlot development in the area.  
 
CIRCULATION 
 
Per Staff ’s request, the Applicant has aligned the 
access in front of their building with the south 
access from the Tinley Square development. This 
will facilitate cross-access between the lots. Staff 
has reviewed the file for the property to the north (Tinley Square) and found reference to a cross-access 
easement, however the easement has not been platted with either property. Staff has encouraged the 
property owner to plat a cross access easement with the redevelopment of the property. 
 
Open Item #1:    No cross-access easement exists between subject property and Tinley Square.  

Page 6 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
 
The existing center has a circulation 
pattern that is cumbersome with the 
main north-south drive aisle (“A”) 
meandering along the varying 
projections of the in-line stores.  It is not 
in a straight alignment, typical for many 
centers of this size. There is an 
opportunity with the demolition of the 
north tenant space to straighten the 
alignment of the access. In addition, the 
existing center does not provide clear 
distinction of access ways since there is 
minimal landscaping in the parking lot 
and only curbing in some areas which 
would help to define the drive aisle.  
 
Staff has recommended the Applicant 
provide clear delineation of the main 
north-south drive aisle (“A”), including 
minimizing points of conflict from 
parking areas. Staff also recommended 
separating delivery traffic in the delivery 
aisle (“B”) from parking areas. The 
Applicant has worked closely with staff 
to accomplish this with success in several 
areas; however, there remain areas of 
concern as identified in the discussion below.  
 
For ease of review the site plan has been divided into areas as depicted in the following diagram: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
Area 1 
 
Currently the existing parking lot in this area 
is underutilized.  Customers for the prior 
Outrigger Restaurant may have parked in 
this area; however existing in-line stores use 
the parking fields across aisle “A” which 
border Harlem Avenue. With the demolition 
of the north in-line tenant space and the 
construction of the new multi-tenant 
structure, it is anticipated that this area will 
serve as overflow parking for the new 
building. 
 
The Applicant’s proposed parking field in 
Area 1 does not meet the minimum aisle 
width requirement of 26’ (proposed 24’), nor 
does it provide the required 10’ wide 
landscape island requirement (proposed 6’ 
and  8’). The bufferyard on the north edge of 
the parking lot is 6’, however the east edge of 
the parking lot measures 7’ and the 
greenspace on the west side measures  6’. Bufferyards between retail uses is required to be a minimum of 
5’, however parking lots must also be adequately screened from public view and must accommodate a 
three (3) foot bumper overhang from the face of the curb. The north bufferyard may meet minimum 
bufferyard width requriements, however after accommodating a car bumper overhang, it is left with only 
3’ of planting area.  
 
The east bufferyard for Area 1 is actually further east of the parking area, at the property line on the east 
side of the delivery aisle “B”. It currently measures 4’; there is a 6’ fence further south. The parking field has 
been shifted east in the Applicant’s proposal and narrows the delivery aisle from 30’ to 25’ to provide 
additional greenspace along the eastern edge of the parking field; however with a 7’ wide greenspace as 
proposed, only 4’ is available for planting with the 
accommodation of a 3’ car bumper.  
 
The Applicant’s proposal provides three (3) points of access to 
the main north-south drive aisle (“A”) adding two (2) additional 
points of conflict from the existing configuration. Parking is 
provided for 48 cars; 26 spaces currently exist. A parking 
analysis is provided in a later section.  A total of eight (8) 
variations from code are required with this proposal, not 
including inadequate landscape screening.. 
 
Staff ’s recommendation for Area 1 provides for diagonal 
parking.  The aisles meet ordinance requirements, and 
landscape islands meet minimum width requirements; 
bufferyards and parking lot screening also meet Ordinance 
requirements. No variations from code are required with this 
proposal.  
 
In Staff ’s Site Plan proposal the north bufferyard is increased to 
10’, which provides for 7’ of landscaped area and a 3’ bumper 
overhang. The proposal also provides for increased green space 
at the east end of the parking lot measuring 10’ in width. The 
Village engineer indicated his preference for Staff ’s Site plan 

Page 8 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
proposal stating: “…layout with diagonal 
parking to the east of the site would be 
preferred due to the added pervious surface 
that would be created.   This site was 
permitted long ago with TP-40 rainfall and 
thus is deficient in the volume requirements 
for the detention.   Added pervious surfaces 
are very important to reduce site runoff.  
Landscaped areas that could also double as 
rainwater gardens would be desirable. 
Pervious surfaces should be maximized.” 
 
In addition, the Applicant’s proposal limits 
points of egress to one (1), thus lessening 
possible points of conflict with the main 
north-south drive aisle. There are thirty-
one (31) parking spaces provided; 
currently there are twenty-six (26) 
provided. Parking ratios are discussed in a 
later section.  
  

Open Item #2: East parking area does not meet aisle width requirements. 
 
Open Item #3: East parking area landscape islands do not meet width requirements. 

 
Area 2 
 
Area 2 comprises the parking field to the south of the 
proposed multi-tenant structure and includes the entry 
boulevard from Harlem Avenue.  The Applicant 
proposes to move the south edge of the parking field to 
the south thus narrowing the entryway boulevard to 
one lane in each direction at the east end of the 
entryway.  This reduces the width of the entry 
boulevard from 47’ to 33’.  There will remain four (4) 
lanes at its intersection with Harlem Avenue. The 
parking field as proposed does not meet code with 
respect to the required 26’ aisle width (24’ proposed) 
and required 10’ parking islands (8’ proposed).  
 
The six (6’) foot public sidewalk required along the 
Harlem Street frontage will need to be relocated out of 
the public ROW at the south end of the property due to 
the topography and deep drainage swale. The Applicant 
will need to record a public access easement for this 
encroachment onto their property. The sidewalk as 
proposed borders the western edge of the parking lot. 
The public walk with not only be encumbered by car 
bumper overhangs but the bufferyard (minimum 10’) 
and landscape screening is eliminated in this area. 
There are thirty-four (34) parking spaces proposed for 
Area 2. (Parking ratios to be discussed later in the 
report.)  
 
 

Page 9 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
There are several variations of code with the Applicant’s proposal (3 aisle width, 1 landscape island width, 
minimum bufferyard and parking lot screening).  
 

Open Item #4:  Bufferyard and parking lot screening is eliminated at south end of subject area 
where public sidewalk encroaches private property. 
 
Open Item #5:  Sidewalk easement is required for area where public walk encroaches private 
property. 
 
Open Item #6:  Parking aisles do not meet minimum width requirements in the south parking lot. 
 
Open Item #7: Landscape aisles do not meet minimum width requirements. 
 

Staff supports an alternate version for Area 2 which was 
previously proposed by the Applicant, but abandoned with the 
last submittal. This proposal provides one long aisle of parking 
and does not require any variations from Village Ordinance. It 
also eliminates the southern point of access with the main north-
south aisle (“A”) thus eliminating potential conflicts between 
southbound cars stacking at the stop sign and cars entering and 
exiting at this south access point. 
   
Staff ’s proposal maintains the current entry boulevard 
configuration yet proposes a redesign of the median to provide 
additional greenspace.  It meets (and exceeds) bufferyard 
minimums and provides adequate screening of the parking area.  
The additional bufferyard along the west side of the parking lot 
can serve to mitigate the variation requested for the bufferyard 
along the entire west property line (along Harlem) which is 
proposed at 7’ versus the required 10’. Twenty-six (26) parking 
spaces are provided with this proposal. (parking ratios discussed 
in later section. 
 
Area 3 
 
Area 3 encompasses the rear delivery and trash enclosure area along with the front (west) façade of the 
proposed multi-tenant retail building. The Applicant has cooperated with staff and reduced the two points 
of access originally proposed at the rear of the building.  This created additional greenspace and eliminated 
an unnecessary additional point of conflict with the main north-south access (“A”).  However, the access as 
proposed is 37’ wide.  Staff recommends reducing this width 
as well as expanding the green space to the south as depicted 
in the adjacent diagram.  This will still provide adequate 
access for waste haulers and delivery vehicles but will reduce 
unnecessary pavement surface. 
 

Open Item #8: Excessive access width and pavement at 
rear of building. 

 
The Applicant has proposed a 24’ aisle in front of the 
structure (26’ required). This is consistent with the aisle 
width for Tinley Square; a variation was granted for Tinley 
Square.  While the alignment of drive aisles is important, staff 
has requested the Applicant consider moving the building to 
the east and either eliminating the rear delivery area or 
reduce it in width.  

Page 10 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
 
The sidewalk proposed along the front of the 
proposed structure is identified at five feet 
(5’).  The bumper overhang of cars parked 
along this sidewalk will reduce its usable 
width to less than three feet (3’), thus 
compromising ADA accessibility.  Recent 
development approvals in the Village have 
provided 6.5-7’ sidewalks in these situations. 
 
The Applicant has stated that the width of the 
dumpster is the limiting dimension when 
considering moving the building to the east 
and it is currently proposed at the minimal 
width of the desired dumpster.  Staff has 
recommended the Applicant investigate 
alternate means of accessing the dumpsters or 
smaller dumpsters. If the building were 
relocated to the east it would not only provide 
for the required aisle width but it would also 
increase the amount of foundation planting 
required in front of all commercial buildings.  
 

Open Item #9:  Sidewalk in front of proposed building does not provide adequate accessibility. 
 
Open Item #10: Drive aisle does not meet minimum width requirements. 
 

The parking area in front of the proposed structure provides a landscape island however it does not meet 
required width of 10’. 

 
Open Item #11: Landscape island does not meet minimum width requirements. 

 
PARKING 
 
The original Tinley Park Plaza PUD was approved with 200,365 SF of gross leasable area and 929 parking 
spaces resulting in an overall parking ratio of 4.64 parking spaces per 1 ,000 SF of gross leasable floor 
area. The plaza has several parking fields separated by access drives; the ratio represents an overall ratio 
regardless of land uses. As a point of comparison, the Planned Unit Development standards outlined in the 
Village’s Zoning Ordinance requires 5.5 parking spaces per 1,000 SF, regardless of land uses and the 
parking standards in the Zoning Ordinance (as determined by land use) requires restaurants to have 1 
space per 3 seats plus employees (including any outdoor seating) and retail uses to have 6.5 parking 
spaces per 1,000 SF.  Parking is an imperfect science and zoning ordinances do their best to assign ratios 
based on intensity of use.  In a plaza such as TPP there are many shared parking opportunities as well as a 
wide range of intensity of uses.  Fortunately Staff has the ability to evaluate the parking needs of the 
proposal based on history and current conditions.  As stated above, the east parking lot has been 
underutilitzed since the Outrigger vacancy.  The in-line tenants utilize the parking fields adjacent to Harlem 
Avenue; Staff estimates no greater than 50% occupancy of these parking fields, with the majority of the 
tenants using the area south of the entry boulevard. The subject area has not experienced much use of its 
parking field with the exception of use by Tinley Square employees and patrons.  
 
The following table provides some perspective on how each of the various governing documents address 
parking ratios on commercial property as applied to the proposed development. 
 
 
 

Page 11 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
 

USE AREA 
TPP PUD 

REQUIREMENT 
4.64/1000 

GENERAL PUD 
REQUIREMENT 

5.5/1000 

ZONING ORD. 
REQUIREMENT 

Restaurant=1/3seats+1/empl 
Retail=6.5/1000 

PROPOSED 
PARKING 

 

Restaurant 5,000 sf 24 spaces 28 spaces (195 seats, 26 employees) 
 91 spaces 
 

- 

Retail 4,017 sf 22 spaces 19 spaces  26 spaces - 
Total 9,017 sf 46 spaces  37 spaces 117 spaces 111 spaces 

 
As a complex issue, parking is obviously dependent on the uses and availability of public transportation, 
along with market demand, shopping patterns of the public and shared parking opportunities. The 
development was approved with the ratio 4.64 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet and therefore 
provides a guide in reviewing new development within the PUD. This ratio necessarily contemplates 
shared parking opportunities as is commonplace in large retail centers. However, the development of an 
outlot requires greater scrutiny in that the uses often function independent of the center, and are 
customarily designed with their own parking fields relating to the orientation of the building entrances. 
The current site plan orients the front of the building and entrances to the west. The proposed site plan 
provides 29 spaces (including 3 accessible spaces) at the entrance of the building. There are 34 to the south 
of the building.  It is anticipated that these spaces would be used first by the the new multi-tenant building.  
The total of these two parking fields is 63 parking spaces as compared to Staff’s proposal which provides 
57 parking spaces in these two areas; the difference in the two proposals for the primary parking fields of 
the proposed structure is 6 parking spaces. Employees and overflow would use the parking lot to the east 
which is proposed with 48 spaces; staff’s recommendation provides 31 spaces. Staff’s proposal provides 17 
less spaces in the overflow east parking lot.  The Applicant has proposed a total of 111 parking spaces; 
Staff’s site plan recommendation provides 88 parking spaces for a total difference of 23 parking spaces 
between the two site plan proposals. 
 

Site Plan Area 1 (East) Area 2 (South) Area 3 (West) Total 
Applicant    48   34 29 111 
Staff   31   26 31   88 
Difference  
Applicant/Staff 

- 17   - 8 +2  -23 

 -17 -6  
                     Please note that the number of accessible spaces can slightly alter these numbers.  

 
In analyzing the parking, Staff compared the existing ratio and configuration of parking with the proposed 
parking lot design and parking ratio. Currently there are 124 parking spaces provided. The Applicant’s 
proposal provides 111; Staff’s proposal provides 88.  However, it is also important to consider the 
difference in square footage between the area to be demolished (7,290 SF) and the area to be constructed 
(9,100 SF) which is 1,810 SF.  At the established PUD parking ratio of 4.64/1,000 SF this would require an 
additional eight(8) parking spaces, for a total of 132 spaces needed to maintain current parking ratios in 
the area north of the entrance boulevard. The Applicant’s proposed plan provides 111 parking spaces, 
therefore providing 21 less parking spaces than the existing ratio for this area.  
 
Staff’s proposed site plan provides a total of 88 parking spaces resulting in a deficit of 44 parking spaces if 
the current ratio were to be maintained for this area.  As stated above, this area has experienced very little 
parking usage, therefore these deficits seem manageable in light of where the deficits occur.  The primary 
parking fields for the proposed structure (area 2 & 3) indicate a difference of only 6 parking spaces 
between the two site plan proposals. In context with the parking ratios for the entire center, both the 
Applicant’s and Staff’s proposal have negligible impact with the Applicant’s ratio at 4.53/1,000 SF  and 
Staff’s ratio at 4.42/1,000 SF compared to the established ratio of 4.64/1,000 SF.    
 
While it is difficult to predict parking need without all tenant uses identified, the uses in the proposed 
structure along with the uses of the in-line stores will continue to change. Staff is of the opinion that the 

Page 12 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
relationship and proximity of parking to the uses, along with a balance of green space and good circulation 
patterns, is more important than the quantity of parking. The placement of parking that can easily be 
shared amongst the various users provides an efficient use of space.  While Staff’s Site Plan proposal results 
in less parking spaces, the difference is negligible in those areas functioning as primary parking areas for 
the proposed structure.   
 
LIGHTING 

 
There are six (6) pole lights in the existing parking area; eight (8) lights are being proposed. The 
photometric plan does not meet the Village requirement of .5 foot candles at the property line; however, 
the adjacency to other commercial areas makes this less of a concern. The area along Harlem Avenue may 
cause greater concern especially with off-site glare. The existing poles will not be able to be reused with the 
exception of possibly one at the northwestern edge of the property. The existing poles in the center are 
painted white which the Applicant has stated they will match with the proposed poles.  Cut sheets are 
provided for the parking light lighting as well as the wall lighting for the new structure. 

   Open Item #12: Photometrics exceed lighting standards at property line.  
 
ARCHITECTURE 
 
The proposed architecture provides a one-story masonry structure. As an outlot structure, the building is 
seen from all four sides and therefore the building architecture should present attractive, complete façades 
on all four elevations. While there is a recognized front entrance to the building, there should not be a 
recognizable rear façade to the building. The west façade will function as the primary entrance; however, 
the sides and rear elevations must provide equivalent architectural interest.  

The Building Code requires structures of this size to be built with 75% face brick and the remainder must 
be built as masonry. Alternate materials, such as EFIS, are to be used only as architectural treatments. The 
Applicant has provided the following building material statistics: 

Elevation % Face Brick 
West  + 72% 
North + 68% 
East + 86% 
South + 68% 
Total + 78% 

The proposed architecture presents “column” corner elements on both the north and south ends of the 
building, on the west façade.  While these are attractive elements of the “front” façade they have not been 
designed as full parapets.  The proposed structure has a large view shed and visibility from the east, and 
the lack of a full parapet results in an unfinished and artificial look to the building.  It would be apparent 
when viewed from the east, as well as from the south, that the tower element is not a “true” tower, but 
merely a design element mimicking a real tower. Recent projects  such as  DaVita Dialysis, Wendy’s and 
some of the outlot structures in the Brookside Marketplace development have provided full parapet 
designs per Plan Commission recommendation.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
 

Open Item #13:  The tower elements on the west façade do not have four fully architecturally 
developed sides. 

 
As the primary façade, the west elevation should provide significant architectural interest. This 
development will establish the architectural standard for future development within the Tinley Park Plaza 
PUD. The middle two units are distinguished by a different color brick but the façade will still be “read” as a 
relatively flat surface. The corner columns indicate a 1’4” setback; however, the remaining façade is 
effectively flat with a 4” or 8” reveal, which will not result in the shadow patterns as the rendering implies. 
Greater setbacks at the tenant demarcations would provide the shadow patterns that are depicted in the 
renderings. 

   

 

Open Item #14:  The west façade provides minimal articulation to define the column elements as 
presented. 

The Applicant has responded to Staff’s 
recommendation to enhance the architecture of 
the middle unit on the west façade as a means to 
distinguish it from the adjacent tenant spaces.  
The wall sconces and the basket weave brick 
pattern will assist in distinguishing it from the 
adjacent tenant spaces and assist with reading 
the elevation as three distinct buildings.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

During development review meetings with the Applicant, Staff recommended some modifications to the 
west façade that would reduce the use of EFIS in the tower elements.  The Commission has expressed 
concern regarding the use of this material in the past and therefore Staff has advised the Applicant to 
minimize its use.  Staff proposed the following changes which included raising the brick of the column 
elements to the roof line and added an arch element at the top of the EFIS area. The arch could add 
additional shadow lines similar to the proposed cornice.  

Page 14 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Open Item #15:  The EFIS surface area encompasses a large area on four corners of the building.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Applicant has provided some additional architectural enhancements to the rear façade from what was 
originally proposed (which was lacking in architectural interest compared to the other facades). As stated 
above, all four sides of this building must present attractive architecture indicative of quality commercial 
architecture. The Applicant has incorporated several of Staff’s recommendations including a change in 
brick color that echoes the brick colors of the individual tenant spaces as seen on the west façade. A 4” 
reveal reflects a column element with stone accents and medallions have been added. These revisions along 
with the additional green space as recommended by Staff will help to mitigate the appearance of a “rear” 
façade.  

 

S
t
a
f
f
 
a
l
  

Page 15 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
Staff also made some recommendations for the north and south facades to provide additional architectural 
interest.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Applicant provided additional column elements, stone accents, wall sconces, medallions and an 
ornamental fence to enclose the outdoor seating area. Additional landscaping was also added to help break 
up the façade.  Staff continues to encourage the Applicant to extend the corner columns to the roof line and 
add an arch element to decrease the amount of EFIS.  

 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 16 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
HVAC units must be screened from public view. The Applicant has stated that the actual roof line is 
approximately 5’ below the parapet as seen from all sides of the building.  The roof has significant visibility 
from the public ROW and especially the east. 
Open Item#16:    HVAC must be screened from public view. 
 
LANDSCAPING 
 
The intent of the Village’s Landscape Ordinance is to utilize landscape materials to enhance proposed 
development, soften the impact of parking areas, provide a buffer between land uses, and create an overall 
quality aesthetic for the site. Bufferyards are required on all property edges per Village Ordinance. The 
location of parking, utilities and access roads may complicate conforming to this requirement in some 
areas; however, the intent of the bufferyard must still be met. In addition, parking lots are required to be 
screened from public view. The front (west) bufferyard is the most critical bufferyard for this project due 
to its adjacency to Harlem Avenue. A Bufferyard “C” is required along the west property line, which has a 
minimum width of 10 feet. The width of the proposed bufferyard is 7 feet.  
 
Precedence for a reduced front bufferyard has been established 
with the Tinley Square development to the north; however, Staff 
has recommended that additional landscaping and enhanced 
architecture can provide a means to mitigate the loss of the 
bufferyard in this area. In addition, the increased greenspace 
proposed in Staff ’s proposed Site Plan, at the south end of the 
property where the sidewalk encroaches the subject property, 
can also serve to mitigate the diminished bufferyard proposed 
along the front of the building.   
 
The revised Landscape Plan proposes adding a massing of 7 
viburnums in the public ROW rather than eliminating parking 
spaces as recommended by Staff. The proposed plantings conflict 
with underground utilities and the existing drainage swale. The 
two southernmost street trees are located above an existing 12” 
water main, and are also compromised by the existing side slopes of the drainage swale.    
 

Open Item #17:  Proposed plantings conflict with utilities and drainage swale. 
 
The Bufferyard requirements for this property are summarized in the following table: 
 

LOCATION REQ’ 
WIDTH 

PROPOSED 
WIDTH 

BUF-YD 
LENGTH 

REQ’D 
UNITS PROVIDED DEFICIT COMMENT 

West PL C 10’ 280'  14 CT 
   6 US 
56 SH 

  0 CT 
20 US 
56 SH  

-16 CT 
+14 US 
     0 SH 

overhead 
utilites  

North PL B 5'  308' 
 

11 CT  
   4 US 
 62 SH 

  6 CT 
  1 US 
52 SH 

  - 5 CT 
  - 3 US 
- 10 SH 
  +3 EV 

Utility and 
cross access 
easements 
present. 

East  
PL 

B 5'  180' 7 canopy 
3 
understory 
36 shrubs 

  5 CT 
  4 US 
37 SH 

  - 2 CT 
  +1 US 
  +1 SH 

Utility and 
cross access 
easements 
present. 

South PL N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A  

TOTAL PLANT DEFICIENCIES: 
 -23 CT 
+12 US 
   -9 SH  

 

Page 17 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
 
 
The Site Plan proposed by Staff presents opportunities for additional planting and may accommodate the 
deficiencies noted in the table.  
 

Open Item #18:   There are plant deficiencies in the proposed landscape plan. 
 
In addition to bufferyard requirements, Section 158 of the Municipal Code, “Landscaping and Bufferyards” 
outlines several requirements for commercial developments. Applicable sections from Section 158.18 and 
158.20 are summarized below. 
 
Section 158.18 INTERIOR LOT LANDSCAPING 
Shade trees should be located on the south side of buildings wherever feasible to block summer sun.  

 
Open Item #19:  The south side of the building is void of shade trees. This would enhance the 
outdoor eating area.  
 

Plantings shall be clustered along long walls and fences to soften the visual effect of the horizontal lines.  
A minimum ten foot wide landscaped area shall front not less than 70% of the side of all buildings which 
front dedicated streets or major interior access lanes.  

 
Open Item #20:  The east wall is void of foundation plantings. With the redesign of the 
dumpster area there are increased opportunities for planting that can meet the intent of a 
foundation planting.  

 
SECTION 158.20 PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING 
 
At least 15% of the parking lot shall be covered by landscaping, that 15% being exclusive of required 
bufferyards and foundation planting areas. Applicant has stated that the proposed plan provides 15.3% 
however the Village’s Landscape Architect has calculated parking lot landscaping comprising 3,087 SF 
within a parking lot area of 37,800 SF resulting in 8.2% coverage. 
 
  Open Item #20:  Parking lot landscaping does not meet 15% coverage requirements.  
 
Each island shall be at least 200 square feet and at least ten feet wide. Larger islands are encouraged, 
however, especially where canopy trees are provided. The minimum width and minimum square footage 
requirements are still not being met on 12 out of 14 of the parking lot islands/peninsulas. 

 
Open Item #21: Several islands do not meet minimum lot width or area requirements.  
 

Some of the landscape islands indicate sod as the ground cover. Sod does not provide any screening of the 
parking areas and should be planted with shrubs and ground cover. 
  

Open Item #22: Landscape islands do not provide adequate screening. 
 

 Section 158.03 LANDSCAPING PLAN 
There are 2 trees in the southern boulevard and 5 evergreen shrubs in the western bufferyard that are not 
labeled. 
 

Open Item #23: All plants must be labeled on the Landscape Plan. 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 18 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
SIGNAGE 
 
In 1985, the Village adopted an amendment to the Tinley Park Plaza PUD which outlined a Comprehensive 
Sign Package in response to the property owner’s request to consider the unique aspects of the center. Per 
the amendment for Tinley Park Plaza, “One unique aspect of the Plaza is the substantial distance it is set back 
from Harlem Avenue, and another aspect is that it is a lengthy shopping center spread out along Harlem 
Avenue. Both such factors necessitate the proposed sign regulations.” The amendment further recognized the 
need to deviate from the Village’s sign regulations due to the “importance of signage to a strip type 
shopping center”, and therefore increased the ratio from the Village’s sign regulation for allowing sign area 
of 1.0 SF/1.0 LF of frontage to 1.5SF/1.0 LF of frontage.  The Village and property owner did not 
contemplate the future construction of outlot buildings; the regulations were designed for the in-line 
tenants. The Sign Regulations for the PUD are very explicit on the type, location and illumination of signs for 
the Plaza, some of which conflict with the signage for the proposed outlot building including requiring a 
certain type face , ( Helvetica Medium).  The outlot presents a different situation than the in-line stores in 
that it is located closer to Harlem Avenue and is designed for public view on all four sides of the building.  
 
Staff has recommended an amendment to the PUD sign regulations which reflects the uniqueness of outlot 
construction.  As part of the amendment staff also addressed the way sign area is calculated.  Currently the 
Village’s sign ordinance allows sign area to be calculated as “…as the sum of the Surface Areas of the 
individual letter, number, or symbol faces excluding any voids within or in between the individual letter faces.”   
This method is very difficult to calculate and administer, therefore staff ’s proposed amendment reflects the 
more traditional way of calculation sign area which provides “… that area enclosed by a single continuous 
perimeter enclosing the extreme limits of the sign’s display area, and in no case passing through or between 
any adjacent elements of it. Sign area can be determined by drawing an imaginary square or rectangle to 
completely enclose the graphic representation on the sign and computing the sum of all square or rectangular 
shapes.”   
 
Absent an amendment to the Sign Regulations for the PUD, the proposed signage would not meet either the 
PUD regulations or current Zoning Ordinance Sign Regulations.  Staff provides a proposed amendment to 
the Sign Regulations for the Tinley Park Plaza PUD as attached.  It is still under review by the Applicant. The 
amendment addresses outlot construction, provides flexibility with sign type and style with the exception 
of prohibiting box signs, allows for signage on all primary and secondary frontages with minimal signage on 
rear frontages and service doors. The amendment creates a hierarchy of sign area with the greatest amount 
of signage permitted on a primary frontage (frontage on public ROW including corner lots that will have 
two primary frontages), 30% less signage on secondary wall frontages (frontage facing private 
ingress/egress roads that have direct access to public ROW) and 50% less signage on rear frontages  that do 
not have primary or secondary frontage and do not have a public entrance on that façade.  The ratio is less 
than what is allowed in the PUD for the in-line tenants (1.5 SF/1LF) by limiting wall sign area to 1.0SF/LF, 
however it allows the  sign area to be calculated per side of the building which was not contemplated for 
the in-line tenants. The method of calculating sign area will result in less sign area, however the ability to 
calculate sign area per building elevation provides greater opportunity for the Applicant to obtain the 
signage they are seeking.  The proposed amendment addresses the Applicant’s sign requests but also 
ensures the signs are in scale with the elevation.  
 
 

Open Item #24: The Sign Regulations for Tinley Park Plaza Shopping Center PUD do not 
address the unique needs of outlot construction. Staff prepared an amendment to the PUD 
sign regulations.  

 
 
STAFF REVIEW: ENGINEERING 
The Village Engineer provided a list of concerns to the Applicant. Final engineering approval will be 
required prior to issuance of a Building Permit.  
 

Open Item #25: Outstanding engineering items must be addressed.  
Page 19 of 21 

 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
 

 
STAFF REVIEW: FIRE DEPARTMENT 
The Fire Department provided comments to the Applicant regarding Building Life Safety and Fire 
Protection including an amendment to the Fire Lane Agreement 95-0-007 recognizing the proposed 
building.   
 

Open Item #26: Outstanding Fire Department items must be addressed including an 
amendment to the Fire Lane Agreement. 

RECOMMENDATION/RECOMMENDED MOTION 
 
Assign two Commissioners to meet with the Applicant in a work session with Staff. 
 

  

Page 20 of 21 
 



Brixmor-15917 S. Harlem 
LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 
 

BRIXMOR – 15917 HARLEM AVE. 
PROPOSED OUTLOT 

 
Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

 1 of 11 Cover Sheet JAS 02/17/15 
 2 of 11 Existing Topography JAS 02/17/15 
 3 of 11 Proposed Demolition JAS 02/17/15 
 4 of 11 Proposed Geometrics JAS 02/17/15 
 5 of 11 Proposed Grading JAS 02/17/15 
 6 of 11 Proposed Utilities JAS 02/17/15 
 7 of 11 Storm Water Pollution  
  Intervention Plans 

 
JAS 

 
02/17/15 

 8 of 11 Proposed Erosion Control JAS 02/17/15 
 9 of 11 Construction Specifications JAS 02/17/15 
 10 of 11 Construction Details JAS 02/17/15 
 11 of 11 Construction Details JAS 02/17/15 
 1 of 1 ALTA/ACSM Land Title Survey JAS 02/17/15 
 L-1 Landscape Plan M&C 02/18/15 
 L-2 Tree Removal Plan M&C 02/18/15 
  Cover Sheet DZA 02/17/15 
A2.1 V West & East Elevations and  
  Partial Plans 

 
DZA 

 
02/17/15 

A2.2 V North & South Elevations and 
  Partial Plans 

 
DZA 

 
02/17/15 

A2.3 V Preliminary/Concept Floor Plan DZA 02/17/15 
A2.4 V Partial West Elevation, and 
  North Elevation 

 
DZA 

 
02/17/15 

1 of 1 Lighting Proposal LSI 02/17/15 
1 of 2 ALTA/ACSM Land Title Survey SPIES 02/17/15 
2 of 2 ALTA/ACSM Land Title Survey SPIES 02/17/15 

 
 
JAS Joseph A. Schudt & Associates 
M&C Metz & Company 
DZA DZA Associates, Inc. 
LSI LSI Industries 
SPIES SPIES & Associates, Inc. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 21 of 21 
 



PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO 
SIGN REGULATIONS 

FOR 
TINLEY PARK PLAZA SHOPPING CENTER 

 
 
INTENT:  These amendments are adopted for all outlot buildings within the Tinley Park Plaza 
(TPP) Planned Unit Development for the purpose of creating a unified appearance and common 
standards for the placement and design of exterior signs.  These amendments are created to clarify 
the Village’s intent to provide a particular amount of signage for the four-sided buildings that are 
placed in “outlot” positions within the Tinley Park Plaza.  The Village wishes to ensure that present 
and future tenants will have attractive, aesthetically pleasing signage that is consistent in design, 
size, placement and scale for the outlot buildings as well as with the entire Tinley Park Plaza.   
 
APPLICABILITY:  These amendments apply only to outlot buildings within the TPP Planned Unit 
Development. For the purposes of this amendment, “outlots” are defined as buildings that are not 
part of the original “in-line” shopping center (circa 1970).  These amendments apply to the existing 
outlot building located at the south end of the plaza, the building proposed for construction at the 
north end of the plaza to be built in 2015, and any additional outlot buildings created hereafter. The 
in-line tenant spaces within the Tinley Park Plaza PUD shall continue to be regulated by the “Sign 
Regulations for Tinley Park Plaza Shopping Center” (Ordinance 85-0-057).  
 
DEFINITIONS:  
 

BUSINESS TENANT -- Tenant space having its own secured entrance.  
 

OUTLOT BUILDINGS –Buildings that are placed in positions within the Tinley Park Plaza 
PUD that are not part of the original, in-line tenant commercial shopping plaza.  These 
buildings will be located north, south or west of the in-line tenant spaces. 
 
PRIMARY FRONTAGE – The frontage adjacent to a public right-of-way (ROW).  If the 
building is located on a corner fronting two (2) or has fronts more than two (2) public 
ROWs , the building will have as many primary frontages as the number of ROWs it fronts. 
 
REAR FRONTAGE- The frontage that is not adjacent to a public ROW and does not include a 
public entrance to the building.  The rear frontage is typically designed with service 
entrances. 
 
SECONDARY FRONTAGE – The frontage adjacent to private ingress/egress access streets. 
This frontage does not have service entrances and may include a public entrance to the 
building.  

 
SIGN – Refer to definition in Section II of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance. 

 
SIGN FACE AREA -- That area enclosed by a single continuous perimeter enclosing the 
extreme limits of the sign’s display area, and in no case passing through or between any 
adjacent elements of it. Sign area can be determined by drawing an imaginary square or 
rectangle to completely enclose the graphic representation on the sign and computing the 
sum of all square or rectangular shapes. (Graphic) 
 



WALL SIGN --  A wall sign is a sign attached to or painted on a wall or building, with the 
exposed display surface of the sign in a plane parallel to the plane of the wall to which it is 
attached or painted.  
 
WINDOW SING – A window sign is a sign affixed to or otherwise displayed on or through a 
facade window.  
 
“Fronting” or “front” or “side” and “rear” – (add later) 

 
UNIFIED SIGN PLAN REQUIRED:  A unified sign plan must be submitted for any outlot building 
development or redevelopment within the Tinley Park Plaza PUD. The Unified Sign Plan must be 
approved by the Village of Tinley Park in accordance with PUD approvals, such as amendments to 
the PUD or site plan approvals, prior to any signs being erected. All owners, tenants, subtenant and 
purchasers of individual units of an outlot building shall comply with the approved Unified Sign 
Plan, which will be kept on file at the Village of Tinley Park.  
 
UNIFIED SIGN PLAN CONTENTS: The Unified Sign Plan shall identify a sign area on each building 
elevation that is architecturally distinct from the rest of the façade and shall include the following: 
a. Sign materials and types of signs;  
b. Method of illumination; 
c. Color of raceway; 
d. Method of affixing raceway to building face; 
e. The center base line upon which all signs are centered (identified on the building elevations); 
f. Location of sign areas per tenant space for each building elevation, clearly indicating the 

location of wall signs; 
g. Letter heights, number of rows of lettering, total height of proposed sign; 
h. Location of window signage per tenant space for each building elevation; and  

Location and design of any service door sign.  
 

SIGN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS:  Submittals for individual signs will be submitted as required 
by Section IX of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance. All signs are to be illustrated and dimensioned in 
elevation drawings. Signs will be required to comply with the unified plan for the building on which 
the sign is erected.  
 
PROHIBITED SIGNS:  
a. No goods, wares, merchandise, or other advertising objects other than a wall sign as defined 

herein shall be placed on or suspend from any outlot building, with the exception of approved 
temporary signs;   

b. No sandwich boards or any signs that are placed along the sidewalks and parking areas of the 
property;  

c. No electronic message centers and signs;  
d. No signage is allowed on awnings and back lit awnings are prohibited; 
e. Businesses located within an outlot building that are not business tenants (not having a 

distinct secured entrance) are not eligible to display wall signs;   
f. No neon tubing or any other types of illuminated tubing is allowed on the outside of any 

building, used as a signage material, and cannot be used to illuminate any façade windows;  
g. No internally illuminated box signs or bare bulb lighting will be allowed;  
h. No signage should be placed in the public right of way or within any parking area; and  
i. No signage may be erected on the body, roof or side of a vehicle and displayed within any 

parking area or ROW.  



 
 
 WALL SIGN REGULATIONS: All signs shall comply with the regulations as described herein and, if 
this PUD Amendment is silent, the relevant sections of Section IX (Sign Regulations) of the Tinley 
Park Zoning Ordinance will hold. 
 

CONTENT:  
a. Signs shall be for identification purposes and shall indicate the business name and 

address, the major enterprise or the principal product offered for sale on the 
premises, or a combination of these;  

b. Slogans and mottos for businesses are not allowed on wall signage; 
c. Graphic depictions of a business logo may be allowed but must be in scale with the 

proposed lettering on signs for the building and must fit within the allotted sign 
area;  

d. Temporary signs are allowed for outlot building business tenants, following the 
provisions of Section IX.D.7 (Temporary Signs).  

 
DESIGN/LOCATION: 
a. Walls signs shall include a maximum of two rows/lines of lettering.  Letter height 

within each row of lettering will be limited to the lettering height as described 
herein; 

b. A wall sign shall extend no further than fifteen (15) inches from the wall to which it is 
attached; 

c. No wall sign shall extend above the parapet or eave line, as appropriate, of the 
building to which it is attached;  

d. Wall signs shall not cover up or interrupt major architectural features; 
e. All wall signs must respect a 9” margin from the edge of the sign area as defined on 

the sign plan;  
f. All wall signs must be placed in coordination with the established base center line 

designated on the sign plan;  
g. Wall signs must be individually internally lit letters mounted on a raceway.  The 

raceway must be painted to match the exterior surface of the building; and 
h. Service door signage shall be uniform in font, size, and color. 
 
WINDOW SIGNS: 
a. Window signs are counted toward the calculation of a  wall sign and included in the 

maximum sign area calculation. 
b. Window signs shall not exceed fifteen (15) per cent of the area of any facade window. 
 
ILLUMINATION:  
a. Illuminated signs shall produce no more than 30 foot candles of illumination, four feet 

from the sign. 
b. Non-illuminated signs may be allowed provided all wall signs on the same building are 

of a consistent method of illumination, structure and material.   
 
 
 
 
 
 



ALLOWABLE WALL SIGNS:  
 
 

Building 
Tenancy 

Wall Allowable 
Area Of 
Proposed Sign 

Lettering Height Sign Height Special 
Notes 

Outlot 
building is 
designed 
for and 
contains 
one 
business 
tenant 

Primary 
Frontage 
(including 
corner 
buildings 
with 2 or 
more 
primary 
frontages 

1.0 SF per 1.0 
LF of primary 
frontage 

Lettering must be 
no greater than 
30” in height 

Sign must be 
no greater 
than 6.5’ in 
height 

Sign must 
not contain 
more than 
two (2) rows 
of lettering; 
logos must 
be in scale 
with 
lettering, fit 
in allotted 
sign area 

Secondary 
frontage 
 

70% of the area 
allotted to the 
adjacent 
primary 
frontage . 

Lettering must be 
no greater than 
twenty-one 
inches(21”) in 
height  

The sign must 
be no greater 
than five  feet 
(5’) in height 

Sign must 
contain no 
more than 
two (2) rows 
of lettering 

Rear 
Frontage 

Must not 
exceed an area 
greater than 
50% of the sign 
area allowed 
for the primary 
frontage.  For 
buildings 
located on a 
corner lot the 
longer frontage 
shall serve as 
the primary 
frontage for 
purposed of 
calculating rear 
frontage sign 
allowances. 

Lettering must be 
no greater than 
15” in height,  

Sign must be 
no greater 
than 15” in 
height. 

Signs must 
be uniform 
in size, style, 
and 
color.contain 
only the 
name of the 
store; logos 
are 
prohibited. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Building 
Tenancy 

Wall Allowable 
Area Of 
Proposed Sign 

Lettering Height Sign Height Special 
Notes 

Outlot 
building is 
designed 
for and 
contains 
multiple 
business 
tenants 

 Primary 
Frontage 
(including 
corner 
buildings 
with 2 or 
more 
primary 
frontages)  

1.0 SF per 1.0 
LF of primary  
frontage for 
each tenant 

Lettering must be 
no greater than 
30” in height 

Sign must be 
no greater 
than 6.5 in 
height 

No more 
than two (2) 
rows of 
lettering, 
logos must 
be in scale 
with letting, 
fit in allotted 
sign area* 

Secondary 
frontage 

70% of the area 
allotted to each 
tenant’s  
adjacent 
primary 
frontage 

 Lettering must be 
no greater than 
twenty-one inches 
(21”) in height,  

 
Sign must be 
no greater 
than five  feet 
(5’) in height 

No more 
than two (2) 
rows of 
lettering, 
logos must 
be in scale 
with other 
signs, fit in 
allotted sign 
area* 

Rear 
frontage 

Must not 
exceed an area 
greater than 
50% of the sign 
area allowed 
for each 
tenant’s 
primary 
frontage.  Signs 
must be 
uniform in size, 
style, and color. 

Lettering must be 
no greater than 
15” in height.  

Sign must be 
no great than 
15”  ion height  

Sign must 
contain only 
the name of 
the store; 
logos are 
prohibited  

 
 
NON-CONFORMITIES: All signs existing at the adoption of these regulations shall be able to remain 
as a legal nonconforming sign until such time there is any one of the following:  a business leaves; a 
change of use;  change of owner;  the sign is removed;  or the sign is repaired and the cost of the 
repair is greater than 50% of its replacement value. Any sign will be deemed no longer be legally 
non-conforming, then the  must be removed and replaced within 30 days of the triggering event.  
 





SOUTH ELEVATION 

PARTIAL  PLAN 

NORTH ELEVATION 

PARTIAL  PLAN 

9.1K

OUTLOT BUILDING

IL. REG. # 184-001714

ASSOCIATES, INC.

2625 Butterfield  Road
Oak Brook llinois
Phone  630  230  1020

Suite 233N
 60523

www.dzarch.com

TINLEY PARK

PLAZA





SITE PLAN 

TENANT #1

2,500 S.F.

2,500 S.F.

TENANT #4

TENANT # 2

2,617 S.F.

TENANT # 3

1,400 S.F.

LANDLORD'S ROOM

80 S.F.

EXISTING RETAIL

HARLEM AVENUE

TOTAL BUILDING AREA

9,100 S.F.

AREA OF WORK

ASSOCIATES, INC.
2625 Butterfield  Road
Oak Brook llinois
Phone  630  230  1020

Suite 233N

www.dzarch.com
 60523





WEST ELEVATION 

PARTIAL  PLAN 

EAST ELEVATION 

PARTIAL  PLAN 

9.1K

OUTLOT BUILDING

IL. REG. # 184-001714

ASSOCIATES, INC.

2625 Butterfield  Road
Oak Brook llinois
Phone  630  230  1020

Suite 233N
 60523

www.dzarch.com

TINLEY PARK

PLAZA



ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER NO.    062-043406

PREPARED AT OR UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

TINLEY PARK
PLAZA

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 1
-C

O
V

, P
lo

tte
d:

 4
/6

/2
01

5 
3:

36
 P

M
, B

y:
 jr

os
si

, C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T 

20
06

 - 
JO

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

1 11

CONTACT JULIE AT 811 OR 800-892-0123
WITH THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION

COUNTY-NAME

CITY / TOWNSHIP

SEC & 1/4 SEC No.

Know what's

R

PROPOSED OUTLOT

159th St. and Harlem Ave.

Tinley Park, IL 60477

PRELIMINARY

SITE IMPROVEMENT PLANS

ARCHITECT

DUTY TO INDEMNIFY

      The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, keep and save harmless the Village,
Owner, and Engineer, and their respective board members, representatives,
agents, and employees, in both individual and official capacities, against all
suits, claims, damages, losses and expenses, including attorney's fees, caused
by, growing out of, or incidental to, the performance of the work under the
Contract by the Contractor or its subcontractors to the full extent as allowed by
the laws of the State of Illinois and not beyond any extent which would render
these provisions void or unenforceable. This obligation includes but is not limited
to: The Illinois laws regarding structural work (Ill. Rev. Stat. Ch.48, par.60 et
seq.). And regarding the protection of adjacent landowners (Ill.Rev. Stat. Ch.17
1/2 par.51 et seq.). In the event of any such injury (including death) or loss or
damage, or claims therefore, the Contractor shall give prompt notice to the
owner.

SIGNED:___________

LIC. EXP: _________11-30-15

April 6, 2015

ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM NO. 184-001172

1.   The Village of Tinley Park (Telephone 1-708-444-5500),
      Robinson Engineering, Ltd. (Telephone 1-708-331-6700),
      MWRD Field Office Phone Number (Telephone 1-708-588-4055),
      and Joseph A. Schudt & Associates (Telephone 1-708-720-1000)
      must be notified 2 working days prior to commencement of work.
2.   Elevation is U.S.G.S. Datum.  (NAVD 88)
3.   All floor drains shall discharge to the sanitary sewer.
4.   All downspouts and footing drains shall discharge to the storm sewer.
5.   All sanitary sewer construction requires stone bedding 1/4 inch to 1 inch in
      size, with a minimum thickness equal to 1/4 the outside diameter of the
      sewer pipe, but not less than 4 inches, nor greater than eight inches.  Bedding
      material shall be CA-11 and shall be extended at least 12 inches above top of
      pipe when using PVC pipe.
6.   "Band Seal" or similar flexible-type couplings shall be used for the
      connection of sewer pipe of dissimilar materials.
7.   When connecting to an existing sewer main by means other than an existing
      wye, tee, or an existing manhole, one of the following methods shall be
      used:
      a.  Circular saw-cut of sewer main by proper tools ("Sewer Tap" machine or
           similar) and proper installation of hub-wye saddle or hub-tee saddle.
      b.  Remove an entire section of pipe (breaking only the top of the bell) and
           replace with a wye or tee branch section.
      c.  With pipe cutter, neatly and accurately cut out desired length of pipe for
           insertion of proper fitting, using "Band-Seal" or similar couplings to hold
           it firmly in place.
8.   Wherever a sewer crosses under a watermain, the minimum vertical distance
      from the top of the sewer to the watermain shall be 18 inches.  Furthermore,
      a minimum horizontal distance of 10 feet between storm and/or sanitary and
      watermains shall be maintained unless:  the sewer is laid in a separate trench,
      keeping a minimum 18 inch vertical separation; or the sewer is laid in the
      same trench with the watermain located at the opposite side on a bench of
      undisturbed earth, keeping a minimum 18 inch vertical separation.  If either the
      vertical or horizontal distances described above cannot be maintained, or the
      sewer crosses above the watermain, then, for a distance of 10 feet on either
      side of the watermain, the sewer pipe shall be PVC pressure pipe material or
      the watermain shall be constructed in a watertight casing.
9.   Contractor shall bend watermain pipe uniformly under sewers without using
      fittings providing that joint deflection does not exceed 5 degrees per joint for
      pipe under 12 inches in size and 3 degrees per joint for pipe 14 inches and
      over in size.  All crossing (including services) shall have a minimum of 18
      inches of clearance and should extend 10 feet each side of the center of the
      crossing.
10. All sanitary manholes shall have a minimum inside diameter of 48 inches.
      Manhole steps shall be 16" min. wide plastic w/continuous 1/2 steel reinforcement,
      M.A. Industries or equal.
11. All sanitary sewer, storm sewer, and water system construction shall conform to
      the "Standard Specifications for Water and Sewer Main Construction in Illinois",
      current Edition.
12. All paving and related improvements shall be constructed in accordance with the
      Illinois Department of Transportation, "Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge
      Construction in Illinois", current Edition.
13. All trenches caused by the construction of sewers, watermains, water service pipes,
      and in excavation around catch basins, manholes, inlets, and other appurtenances
      which occur within the limits of, or within 2 feet of existing or proposed
      pavements, sidewalks, and curb and gutters shall be backfilled with trench backfill.
      Trench backfill shall be CA-6 material to subgrade and shall be mechanically
      compacted in 12" lifts.
14. 12", 10" & 8" diameter sanitary sewer pipe and fittings shall be PVC pipe, SDR 26
      (ASTM D-3034) with flexible elastometric (O-ring) gaskets (ASTM D-3212), unless
      otherwise noted.  Where 6" diameter sanitary service crosses below watermain with
      less than 18 inches of separation, or where indicated elsewhere on plans, 6"
      service shall be DIP pipe (ANSI 2151) with gasket joints (ANSI 21.11).  Sanitary
      sewers shall be air tested, mandril tested, and televised.  Sanitary sewer manholes
      shall be provided with internal chimney seals (Cretex or equal).  All Sanitary
      Manholes shall be provided with mac wrap at barrel section joints.  Sanitary sewer
      manholes shall be air tested in accordance with ASTM C-1244-93, Standard Test
      Method for Concrete Sewer Manholes by Negative Air Pressure (Vacuum) Test.
15. Watermain shall be ductile iron, Class 52 (AWWA C-151) with cement lining
      (AWWA C-104) and hydrocarbon resistant gaskets (AWWA C-110) with brass
      wedges for electrical continuity.  Ductile iron watermain shall be provided with
      polyethylene encasement (AWWA C-105).  All watermain fittings, valves, and
      hydrants shall have stainless steel bolts and shall be secured using Meg-A-Lug
      restrained joints.  Thrust blocking shall also be provided, with precast blocking
      permitted.  Watermain shall be pressure tested at 150psi for two hours.  A
      leakage test will be performed in accordance with "Standard Specifications for
      Water and Sewer Construction in Illinois", current edition.  A disinfection test shall
      be completed using an initial chlorine concentration of 50 mg/l and a minimum
      residual concentration of 25 mg/l after 24 hours.  All work shall comply with
      Village of Tinley Park standards.
16. Watermains and lot services shall be a minimum of 5.0 feet below finished
      ground surface.

17.  a.  All storm sewer must be reinforced concrete pipe in paved areas.
       b.  All reinforced concrete pipe shall be ASTM C76 CL IV.
       c.  Sump pump discharge piping shall be PVC Schedule 40.
       d.  All flexible storm sewer pipe must be televised for final inspection.
18.  Where storm sewers cross over the tops of watermains and are designated
       as "LHP" type, they shall be reinforced concrete low head pressure pipe
       (ASTM C-361-76).  Alternately, proper watermain protection per note (8.)
       shall be provided.
19.  All bends in the watermain of 10 degrees or greater shall be installed with
       restrained joints (Meg-A-Lug or equal).  Restrained joints (Meg-A-Lug or
       equal) shall be used within three pipe lengths of a fitting.  No thrust blocking
       is allowed.
20.  All rims and inverts of existing sanitary and storm sewer shall be field verified
       prior to the start of construction, and any discrepancies between the plan
       and existing elevations shall be reported to the Engineer immediately.
21.  All coordinates refer to back of curb, centerline of manhole, pipe, or structure,
       or as shown.
22.  All curb radii refer to back of curb.  Lane dimensions refer to face of curb or
       edge of pavement.
23.  The Contractor shall subscribe to all governing regulations and shall obtain all
       necessary public agency permits.
24.  Field check all dimensions, coordinates, and elevations before proceeding with new
       work.  Notify the Engineer of any discrepancies immediately.
25.  The Contractor shall provide for the safe and orderly passage of traffic and
       pedestrians where his operations abut public thoroughfares and adjacent property.
26.  Construction access points to the site shall be protected in such a way as to
       prevent tracking of mud or soil onto public thoroughfares.  At the end of each day,
       the Contractor shall clean up all mud or soil which has been tracked onto public
       streets or as required by the Village of Tinley Park.
27.  Street paving and curbs to remain shall be protected from damage and, if damaged,
       shall be replaced promptly to meet Village of Tinley Park Standard Specifications in
       materials and workmanship.
28.  Prior to new work, the Contractor shall verify the location and elevation of existing
       utility lines and structures to be connected to proposed work.  Discrepancies shall be
       reported to the Engineer immediately.
29.  All sediment will be prevented from entering any existing storm drainage systems by
       the use of hay bales, interceptor dikes or other approved functional methods.  The
       Contractor shall be responsible for removing sediment resulting from this project
       from storm sewers and drainage structures.
30.  All utility connections to existing lines shall be constructed in accordance with the
       regulations of the utility owner and to the satisfaction of the utility owner.
31.  All work shall be in accordance with the specifications for the Village of Tinley Park.
32.  New watermain valves, including pressure tap valves, adjacent to an existing
       watermain, and existing watermain valves shall only be operated by the Village of
       Tinley Park, Department of Public Works personnel with a 48-hour notice
       (Monday-Friday).
33.  Any existing utility structures requiring adjustment are to be adjusted (up to 8"
       total adjustment allowed with a maximum of 2 precast concrete rings) or
       reconstructed by the contractor to the utility owner's satisfaction.  Adjustments or
       reconstructions not called for on the plans shall be considered incidental to the
       contract.  A total of no more than 8 and no less than 4 inches of adjusting rings
       shall be provided at all utility structures.  Adjusting rings shall be set in a bed of
       preformed non-hardening mastic (RUB-R-NEK or approved equal).
34.  All connections to existing manholes shall be made by coring the existing manhole
       using a diamond or carbide tip cutter and installing a press seal PSX or
       CORE-N-SEAL boot in the cored opening.
35.  All storm sewer flared end sections for pipes greater than 12 inch diameter shall be
       provided with grates per I.D.O.T. standards.
36.  Reproduceable "Record" drawings shall be provided by the contractor to the Village
       of Tinley Park and Owner following completion of improvements.
37.  Structure lids shall be stamped "Village of Tinley Park" and "SANITARY", "STORM", or
       "WATER" for appropriate utilities.
38.  Sanitary and Water stubs shall be marked with 4"x 4" wood posts.
39.  One lane in each direction shall be open to traffic at all times except between the
       hours of 9 A.M. to 3 P.M.  During this period all work must be performed in
       accordance with standards 701201, 701206, and 701401.
40.  Traffic control standards which shall be included for use during construction are:
       702001, 701201, 701206, 701301, 701401, 701501, 701606, and 701701.

PROJECT LOCATION

H
A

R
LE

M
A

V
E

N
U

E

159TH STREET

(    DENOTES M.W.R.D. NOTES)

OWNER/DEVELOPER



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 2
-E

X
 T

O
P

O
, P

lo
tte

d:
 4

/6
/2

01
5 

3:
36

 P
M

, B
y:

 jr
os

si
, C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T 
20

15
 - 

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

2 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 T
O

P
O

G
R

A
P

H
Y

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 40201020

1 inch = 20 ft.



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 3
-D

E
M

O
, P

lo
tte

d:
 4

/6
/2

01
5 

3:
35

 P
M

, B
y:

 jr
os

si
, C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T 
20

15
 - 

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

3 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 D
E

M
O

LI
TI

O
N

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 40201020

1 inch = 20 ft.

EXISTING PAVEMENT TO REMAIN

NOTE:

EXISTING PAVEMENT, CURB, SIDEWALK, RAMPS,
AND CONCRETE SLABS TO BE REMOVED
SAWCUT ALL AREAS ADJACENT TO PAVEMENT
TO REMAIN

EXISTING DOWNSPOUT TO
REMAIN OR RELOCATED
TO BACK OF RETAIL TO
REMAIN AS NECESSARY.

EXISTING ELECTRIC
METER AND PHONE BOX
TO BE REMOVED WITH
BUILDING DEMOLITION.

EXISTING SANITARY
SEWER SERVICE AND
WATER SERVICE TO
BUILDING TO BE FIELD
LOCATED AND CAPPED
AND PLUGGED AT SEWER
AND/OR WATER MAIN.



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 4
-G

E
O

M
, P

lo
tte

d:
 4

/6
/2

01
5 

3:
34

 P
M

, B
y:

 jr
os

si
, C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T 
20

15
 - 

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

4 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 G
E

O
M

E
TR

IC
S

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 40201020

1 inch = 20 ft.

CA-7

NOTES:

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA WITH 30" DEPTH CA-7
AND CA-1 STONE FOR VOLUME CONTROL.

NOTES:

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA WITH 24" DEPTH CA-7
AND CA-1 STONE FOR VOLUME CONTROL.

CA-1 OPEN GRADED STONE
DEPTH VARIES AS SPECIFIED

6"

DEPTH AS
SPECIFIED
ON PLANS

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 5
-G

R
A

D
, P

lo
tte

d:
 4

/6
/2

01
5 

3:
33

 P
M

, B
y:

 jr
os

si
, C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T 
20

15
 - 

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

5 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 G
R

A
D

IN
G

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 40201020

1 inch = 20 ft.

NOTES:

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA WITH 30" DEPTH CA-7
AND CA-1 STONE FOR VOLUME CONTROL.

NOTES:

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA WITH 24" DEPTH CA-7
AND CA-1 STONE FOR VOLUME CONTROL.

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 6
-U

TI
L,

 P
lo

tte
d:

 4
/6

/2
01

5 
3:

32
 P

M
, B

y:
 jr

os
si

, C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T 

20
15

 - 
JO

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

6 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 U
TI

LI
TI

E
S

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 40201020

1 inch = 20 ft.

F.F. = 716.90

NOTES:

1.  NEW WATERMAIN (REROUTED) TO BE PRESSURED TESTED AND CHLORINATED PRIOR TO BEING
     PLACED IN SERVICE.

2.  ALL UTILITIES TO BE ABANDONED SHALL BE REMOVED IN THEIR ENTIRETY OR BE FILLED
     COMPLETELY WITH FLOWABLE FILL.

NOTES:

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA WITH 30" DEPTH CA-7
AND CA-1 STONE FOR VOLUME CONTROL.

NOTES:

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA WITH 24" DEPTH CA-7
AND CA-1 STONE FOR VOLUME CONTROL.

POROUS PAVEMENT AREA



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 7
-S

W
P

P
P

, P
lo

tte
d:

 4
/6

/2
01

5 
3:

31
 P

M
, B

y:
 jr

os
si

, C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T 

20
15

 - 
JO

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

7 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN

The following plan is established and incorporated in the project to direct the contractor in
the placement of temporary erosion control systems and to provide a storm sewer water
pollution prevention plan for compliance under NPDES.

The purpose of this plan is to minimize erosion within the construction site and to limit
sediments from leaving the construction site by utilizing proper temporary erosion control
systems and providing ground cover within a reasonable amount of time.

Certain erosion control facilities shall be installed by the contractor at the beginning of
construction.  Other items shall be installed by the contractor as directed by the Engineer
on a case by case situation depending on the contractor's sequence of activities, time of
year, and expected weather conditions.

The contractor shall install permanent erosion control systems and seeding within a time
frame specified herein and as directed by the Engineer, therefore minimizing the amount of
area susceptible to erosion and reducing the amount of temporary seeding.  The Engineer
will determine if any temporary erosion control systems shown in the plan can be deleted
and if any additional temporary erosion control systems, which may not be included in this
plan, shall be added.  The contractor shall perform all work as directed by the Engineer and
as shown in Standard 280001.

Section 280.  Temporary erosion control, of the standard specifications additionally
supplements this plan.

SITE DESCRIPTION &
DESCRIPTION OF CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY:

1. The project is located South and East of Harlem Avenue and 159th Street in
          Tinley Park, IL.  The site disturbance acreage is 1.84 acres, not including the
          existing R.O.W.

2. Construction includes earthwork, and utility improvements (water, sanitary sewer,
and storm sewer extensions) for a proposed site.

3. The project is not within the 100-year Floodplain limits .

DESCRIPTION OF INTENDED SEQUENCE FOR MAJOR CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES
WHICH WILL DISTURB SOILS FOR MAJOR PORTION OF THE CONSTRUCTION SITE:

Erosion control silt fencing shall be in placed prior to earthwork activities.

Site shall be cleared.  Topsoil will be remove and graded as necessary, with all proposed
roads graded to roughly 1-foot below final elevation on plans.

Utilities trenches shall have topsoil removed prior to construction of utilities.  After
completion of storm sewer construction, storm sewer inlet protection shall be placed at
each open-grate structure.

Detention shall be topsoiled and seeded & covered with erosion control blanket.

Concrete curb & gutter and bituminous areas shall be constructed.

AREA OF CONSTRUCTION SITE:

The total area of the construction site is estimated to be  1.84  acres by which  1.84
acres will be disturbed by excavation, grading, and other activities.  Of this 1.84

          acres, 0.09 acres are construction within the Public R.O.W.

OTHER REPORTS, STUDIES AND PLANS, WHICH AID IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF
THE STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN AS REFERENCED
DOCUMENTS:

1. Information of the soils and terrain within the site was obtained from topographic 
surveys and soil borings that were utilized for the development of the proposed 
temporary erosion control systems.

2. Project plan documents, specifications and special provisions, and plan drawings 
indicating drainage patterns and approximate slopes anticipated after grading 
activities were utilized for the proposed placement of the temporary erosion control 
systems.

DRAINAGE TRIBUTARIES AND SENSITIVE AREAS RECEIVING RUNOFF FROM THIS
CONSTRUCTION SITE:

1. The site shall drain into proposed stormwater detention ponds by means of a 
proposed storm sewer system, and overland flow.  The stormwater detention system
will reduce the peak stormwater runoff before discharging into existing Village storm
sewer system.

CONTROLS, EROSION CONTROLS AND SEDIMENT CONTROL:

1. The drawings, specifications and special provisions will ensure that existing 
vegetation is preserved where attainable and disturbed portions of the site will be 
stabilized.  Stabilization practices include temporary seeding, permanent seeding, 
mulching, protection of trees, preservation of nature vegetation, and other
appropriate measures as directed by the Engineer.  Stabilization measures shall be
initiated as soon as practicable in portions of the site where construction activities
have temporarily or permanently ceased, but in no case more than 7 days after the
construction activity in that portion of the site has temporarily or permanently ceased.

a. Areas of existing vegetation, wood and grasslands, outside the proposed 
construction limits shall be identified by the Engineer for preserving and shall be 
protected from construction activities.

b. Dead, diseased, or unsuitable vegetation within the site shall be removed as 
directed by the Engineer, along with required tree removal.

c. As soon as reasonable access is available to all locations where water drains 
away from the project, temporary perimeter erosion barrier shall be installed as 
called out in this plan and directed by the Engineer.

d. Bare and sparsely vegetated ground in high erodible areas as determined by the
Engineer shall be temporarily seeded at the beginning of construction where no
construction activities are expected within seven (7) days.

e. Immediately after tree removal is completed, areas which are highly erodible as
determined by the Engineer, shall be temporarily seeded when no construction 
activities are expected within seven (7) days.

2. Establishment of these temporary erosion control measures will have additional
benefits to the project.  Desirable grass seed will become established in these areas
and will spread seeds onto the construction site until permanent seeding/mowing and
over seeding can be completed.

3. The Village of Tinley Park is responsible for conducting site visits and verifying that
          the practices are working properly and determine if additional practices are needed for

better soil erosion and sediment control.  If additional practices are deemed necessary
 by the Village the contractor will implement the practice in a timely manner.

DESCRIPTION OF STABILIZATION PRACTICES DURING CONSTRUCTION:

1. During construction, areas outside the construction limits as outlined previously herein
shall be protected.  The contractor shall not use this area for staging, parking of
vehicles of construction equipment, storage of materials or other construction related
activities.

(a.) Within the construction limits, areas which may be susceptible to erosion 
as determined by the Engineer shall remain undisturbed until full scale 
construction is underway to prevent unnecessary soil erosion.

(b.) As construction proceeds, the contractor shall institute the following as 
directed by the Engineer.

i. Place temporary erosion control facilities at locations shown on the plans.

ii. Temporarily seed erodible bare earth on a weekly basis to minimize the 
    amount of erodible surface area within the contract limits.

iii. Provide temporary erosion control systems.

iv. Continue building up the embankment to the proposed grade while, at the 
     same time, placing permanent erosion control final shaping to the slopes.

(c.) Excavated areas and embankment shall be permanently seeded immediately
after final grading.  If not, they shall be temporarily seeded if no construction 
activity in the area is planned for seven (7) days.

(d.) Construction equipment shall be stored and fueled only at designated locations.
All necessary measures shall be taken to contain any fuel or other pollutant in
accordance with EPA water quality regulations.  Leaking equipment or supplies
shall be immediately repaired or removed from the site.

(e.) The contractor shall inspect the project daily during construction activities.  
Inspection shall also be done weekly and after rains of 1/2-inch or greater or 
equivalent snowfall and during the winter shutdown period.  The project shall 
additionally be inspected by the construction field Engineer on a biweekly basis
to determine that erosion control efforts are in place and effective and if other 
erosion control work is necessary.

(f.) Sediment collected during construction of the various temporary erosion
control systems shall be disposed of on the site on a regular basis as directed
by the Engineer.  The cost of this maintenance shall be included in the unit bid
price for earth excavation for erosion control.

(g.) The temporary erosion control systems shall be removed, as directed by the 
Engineer, after use is no longer needed or no longer functioning.

DESCRIPTION OF STRUCTURAL PRACTICES AFTER FINAL GRADING:

1. Temporary erosion control systems shall be left in place with proper maintenance until
permanent erosion control is in place and working properly and all proposed turf areas
sodded and established.

2. Once permanent erosion control systems as proposed in the plans are functional and
established, temporary items shall be removed, cleaned up, and disturbed turf reseeded.

3. Upon completion of the industrial buildings, permanent landscaping  features, including
sod, will be established.

STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN CERTIFICATES:
The following certificates shall be executed & provided to the Village of Tinley Park and
Engineer with a copy at the job site:

a. Contractor Certification Statement:  "I certify under penalty of law that I
   understand the terms and conditions of the general National Pollutant
  Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit (ILR-10) that authorizes the
  storm water discharges associated with activity from the construction site
  identifies as part of this certification."

By: _________________________________________
      Contractor

b. Owner Certification Statement:  "I certify under penalty of law that this
   document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision
   in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly
   gathered and evaluated the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of the
   person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible
   for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my
  knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete.  I am aware there are 

significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine 
and imprisonment for knowing violations."

By: __________________________________________
       Owner

The Village of Tinley Park requires compliance with NPDES Phase II program.  As such, all
developments shall provide to the extent possible, construction site run-off control and illicit
discharge prevention and elimination.

1. The owner is responsible for submitting the Notice of Intent (NOI) to the IEPA after  
the Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) is complete.  The contractor is   
responsible for insuring that the NOI is postmarked at least 30 days before    
commencement of any work on site.

2. Prior to commencement of construction, the owner shall provide written notification 
to the IEPA of completion of the SWPPP and that said plan is available at the site.

3. The contractor is responsible for having the SWPPP on site at all times.

4. Inspection of controls will be completed by the owner at least once every 7 days 
and within 24 hours of a storm 0.5" or greater.

5. An Incident of Non-Compliance (ION) must be completed and submitted by the 
owner to the IPEA and copied to the Village if, at any time, an erosion or sediment 
control device fails.

6. A Notice of Termination (NOT) shall be completed by the owner in compliance with
NPDES Phase II requirements when all permanent erosion control measures are in
place with a 70% establishment rate of vegetation.  The NOT shall be sent to the IEPA
and the Village.

7. The contractor shall take the necessary steps to control waste such as discarded
building materials, concrete truck washout, chemicals, litter and sanitary waste at the
construction site that may cause adverse impacts to water quality.

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY SEQUENCING:

1.     Erect perimeter silt fence.
2. Construct stabilized construction entrance.
3. Strip topsoil from site.
4. Mass grade site.
5. Erect interior silt fence and repair re-establish perimeter silt fence.
6. Provide seeding and erosion control blanket in Detention Basin,

slope area of south ditch and front yard setback areas.
7. Establish seeding on regraded area.
8. Install/construct Storm Sewer System including inlet protection

excavated drains and end section rip rap protection.

MISCELLANEOUS:

1. Temporary erosion control seeding shall be applied at a rate of 100 lbs/acres, if directed.

2. Straw bales, hay bales, perimeter erosion barrier and silt fences will not be permitted for
temporary or permanent ditch checks.  Ditch checks shall be composed of aggregate, silt
panels, rolled excelsior, urethane form/geotextile silt wedges, and/or any other material
approved by the erosion and sediment control coordinator.

3. Sediment collected during construction by the various temporary erosion control systems
shall be disposed of on the site on a regular basis, as directed by the Engineer.  The cost
of this maintenance shall be paid for at the contract unit price per cubic yard for earth
excavation.

4. All erosion control products furnished shall be specifically recommended by the 
manufacturer for the use specified in the erosion control plan.  Prior to the approval 
and use of the project, the contractor shall submit to the Engineer a notarized certification
by the producer stating the intended use of the product and that the physical properties
required for this application are met or exceeded.  The contractor shall provide
manufacturer installation procedures to facilitate the Engineer in construction inspection.

MAINTENANCE AFTER CONSTRUCTION:

Construction is complete after acceptance by the municipality.  Maintenance up to this date
will be by the contractor.



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 8
-E

R
O

S
, P

lo
tte

d:
 4

/6
/2

01
5 

3:
31

 P
M

, B
y:

 jr
os

si
, C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T 
20

15
 - 

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

8 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 E
R

O
S

IO
N

 C
O

N
TR

O
L

GRADING NOTES:

1.  ALL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE PLACE PRIOR TO START OF
     CONSTRUCTION.

2.  EARTHWORK CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN PROPER SITE DRAINAGE DURING CONSTRUCTION.

3.  EARTHWORK CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR DUST CONTROL.

4.  EARTHWORK CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTAINING THE PUBLIC ROADWAYS CLEAN
     AND FREE OF DIRT AND DEBRIS AT ALL TIMES.

5.  OTHER EROSION CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE IMPLEMENTED SHOULD AN INSPECTION OF
    THE SITE INDICATE A  DEFICIENCY.

6.  AREAS REACHING SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION OF GRADING AND TOPSOIL PLACEMENT
     OPERATIONS SHALL BE PERMANENTLY SEEDED OR OTHERWISE LANDSCAPED WITHIN 14 DAYS
     FROM THE SUSPENSION OR COMPLETION OF GRADING AND TOPSOIL OPERATIONS.

7.  SECONDARY CONTAINMENT SHALL BE REQUIRED FOR ANY BULK FUEL STORAGE THAT REMAINS
     ON-SITE FOR A PERIOD LONGER THAN 7 CALENDAR DAYS.

8.  CONTAINMENT MEASURES SHALL BE REQUIRED FOR GENERATORS, PUMPS, MIXERS AND
     OTHER NON-ELECTRICAL POWERED EQUIPMENT THAT ARE TO BE STATIONED FOR LONGER
     THAN 24 HOURS.

9.  REFER TO LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR SPECIFIC LANDSCAPING DIRECTIONS THROUGHOUT THE SITE.

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

NOTE:

DRAINAGE  STRUCTURE INLET FILTER

DATE REVISIONS

01-21-02 Original

Marathon Materials, Inc.

Drainage Structure Inlet Filter

Buried - All Round Types

up to 24" ID

SILT FENCE LOCATION

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 40201020

1 inch = 20 ft.



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 9
-S

P
E

C
S

, P
lo

tte
d:

 4
/6

/2
01

5 
3:

30
 P

M
, B

y:
 jr

os
si

, C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T 

20
15

 - 
JO

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

9 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TI

O
N

 S
P

E
C

IF
IC

A
TI

O
N

S

Construction Specification --Pollution Control
& Soil Erosion & Sediment Control

1. Scope

The work consists of installing measures or performing work to control erosion and minimize the production of

sediment and other pollutants to water and air from construction activities.

2. Material

All material furnished shall meet the requirements of the material specifications listed in this specification.

3. Erosion and sediment control measures and works

The measures and works shall include, but are not limited to, the following:

Staging of earthwork activities--The excavation and moving of soil materials shall be scheduled to minimize

the size of areas disturbed and unprotected from erosion for the shortest reasonable time. Seeding--Seeding to

protect disturbed areas shall occur as soon as reasonably possible following completion of that earthwork

activity.

Mulching--Mulching to provide temporary protection of the soil surface from erosion.

Diversions--Diversions to divert water from work areas and to collect water from work areas for treatment

and safe disposition. They are temporary and shall be removed and the area restored to its near

original condition when the diversions are no longer required or when permanent measures are installed.

Stream crossings--Culverts or bridges where equipment must cross streams. They are temporary and

shall be removed and the area restored to its near original condition when the crossings are no longer

required or when permanent measures are installed.

Sediment basins--Sediment basins collect, settle, and eliminate sediment from eroding areas from

impacting properties and streams below the construction site(s). These basins are temporary and shall

be removed and the area restored to its original condition when they are no longer required or when

permanent measures are installed.

Sediment filters--Straw bale filters or geotextile sediment fences trap sediment from areas of limited

runoff. Sediment filters shall be properly anchored to prevent erosion under or around them. These

filters are temporary and shall be removed and the area restored to its original condition when they are

no longer required or when permanent measures are installed.

Waterways--Waterways for the safe disposal of runoff from fields, diversions, and other structures or

measures. These works are temporary and shall be removed and the area restored to its original condition

when they are no longer required or when permanent measures are installed.

Other--Additional protection measures as specified in section 8 of this specification or required by

Federal, State, or local government.

4. Chemical pollution

The contractor shall provide watertight tanks or barrels or construct a sump sealed with plastic sheets to dispose

of chemical pollutants, such as drained lubricating or transmission fluids, grease, soaps, concrete mixer

washwater, or asphalt, produced as a by-product of the construction activities. At the completion of the

construction work, sumps shall be removed and the area restored to its original condition as specified in section

8 of this specification. Sump removal shall be conducted without causing pollution.  Sanitary facilities, such as

chemical toilets, or septic tanks shall not be located next to live streams, wells, or springs. They shall be located

at a distance sufficient to prevent contamination of any water source. At the completion of construction

activities, facilities shall be disposed of without causing pollution as specified in this specification.

5. Air pollution

The burning of brush or slash and the disposal of other materials shall adhere to state and local regulations.

Fire prevention measures shall be taken to prevent the start or spreading of wildfires that may result from

project activities. Firebreaks or guards shall be constructed and maintained at locations shown on the drawings.

All public access or haul roads used by the contractor during construction of the project shall be sprinkled or

otherwise treated to fully suppress dust. All dust control methods shall ensure safe construction operations at all

times. If chemical dust suppressants are applied, the material shall be a commercially available product

specifically designed for dust suppression and the application shall follow manufacturer's requirements and

recommendations. A copy of the product data sheet and manufacturer's recommended application procedures

shall be provided to the engineer 5 working days before the first application.

6. Maintenance, removal, and restoration

All pollution control measures and temporary works shall be adequately maintained in a functional condition for

the duration of the construction period. All temporary measures shall be removed and the site restored to near

original condition.

7. Standards and Specifications

Standards and specifications for Soil Erosion and Sediment Control and other Pollution Controls shall be in

accordance with the Illinois Urban Manual Standards as indicated below.

Illinois Urban Manual

Construction Specification Name                    Code

Clearing                                                                                                            1

Clearing and Grubbing                                                                                     2

Contractor Quality Control                                                                              94

Corrugated Polyethylene Tubing                                                                     44

Digging, Transporting, Planting and                                                              707

Establishment of Trees, Shrubs and Vines

Drainfill                                                                                                           24

Ductile-Iron Pipe                                                                                             53

Earthfill                                                                                                            23

Excavation                                                                                                       21

Field Fence                                                                                                      92

Field Office                                                                                                     96

Geotextile                                                                                                        95

Identification Markers or Plaques                                                                   93

Mobilization and Demobilization                                                                    8

Plastic Pipe                                                                                                      45

Pollution Control                                                                                              5

Reinforced Concrete Pressure Pipe Conduits                                                 41

Seeding, Sprigging and Mulching                                                                    6

Sodding                                                                                                          204

Stripping, Stockpiling, Site Preparation and                                                  752

Spreading Topsoil

Topsoiling                                                                                                       26

Traffic Control

Illinois Urban Manual Practice Standard      Code       Date

Bioretention Facility                                                   800          11/2013

Construction Road Stabilization                                       806           1/1999

Dust Control                                                                                                   825               2/1994

Erosion Control Blanket                                                                                 830               6/2009

Filter Strip                                                                                                       835               1/1999

Infiltration Trench                                                                                           847               1/1999

Inlet Protection - Fabric Drop                                                                         860               2/1994

Inlet Protection - Paved Areas                                                                        861               5/2011

Inlet Protection - Sod Filter                                                                            862             11/1999

Land Grading                                                                                                  865               2/1994

Mulching for Seeding and Soil Stabilization                                                  875               6/2010

Permanent Vegetation                                                                                     880             10/2001

Permanent Vegetation                                                                                     880a           10/2001

Table A - Grass, Forb and Sedge Species

for Low Maintenance Areas

Permanent Vegetation                                                                                     880b           10/2001

Silt Fence                                                                                                         920              4/2012

Sodding                                                                                                            925            12/1994

Stabilized Construction Entrance                                                                     930             8/1994

Temporary Concrete Washout Facility                                                            954             6/2009

Temporary Sediment Trap                                                                               960           10/2001

Temporary Seeding                                                                                          965           12/1994

Topsoiling                                                                                                        981             2/1994

Tree Protection                                                                                                990             4/2000

1.     Village of Tinley Park - Public Works (Telephone 708-444-5500),
        M.W.R.D. Sewer Permit Office (Telephone 708-588-4055),
        Robinson Engineering, Ltd. (Telephone 708-331-6700), and
        Joseph A. Schudt & Associates (Telephone 708-720-1000)
        must be notified (2) working days prior to commencement of work.

2.     The Standard Specifications, construction plans and subsequent
        details are all to be considered as part of the contract.
        Incidental items or accessories necessary to complete this work
        may not be specifically noted but are to be considered a part of
        the contract.

3.     No construction plans shall be used for construction unless
        specifically marked "For Construction".  Prior to commencement
        of construction, the contractor shall verify all dimensions and
        conditions at the job site.  In addition, the contractor must
        verify the Engineer line and grade stakes.  If there are any
        discrepancies from what is shown on the construction plans, he
        must immediately report same to the Engineer before doing any
        work, otherwise the contractor assumes full responsibility.  In the
        event of disagreement between the construction plans, standard
        specifications and/or special details, the contractor shall secure
        written instructions from the Engineer prior to proceeding with any
        part of the work affected by omissions or discrepancies.  Failing
        to secure such instructions, the contractor will be considered to
        have proceeded at his own risk and expense.  In the event of any
        doubt or question rising with respect to the true meaning of the
        construction plans or specifications, the decision of the Engineer
        shall be final and conclusive.

4.     All work performed under this contract shall be guaranteed by the
        contractor and his surety for a period of 12 months from the
        date of final acceptance of the work by the Municipality against
        all defects in materials and workmanship of whatever nature.

5.     Before acceptance by the Owner and final payment, all work shall
        be inspected and approved by the Owner or his representative.
        Final payment will be made after all of the contractor's work has
        been approved and accepted.

6.     Upon award of the contract and when required by the Municipality,
        the contractor shall furnish a labor, material and performance bond
        per Municipality requirements guaranteeing completion of the work.
        The underwriter shall be acceptable to the Municipality.  Maintenance
        Bond after construction may also be required.

7.     Easements for the existing utilities, both public and private, and
        utilities within public rights-of-way are shown on the plans
        according to available record.  The contractor shall be responsible
        for determining the exact location in the field of these utility
        lines and their protection from damage due to construction
        operations.  If existing utility lines of any nature are encountered
        which conflict in location with new construction, the contractor
        shall notify the Engineer so that the conflict may be resolved.

8.     Removed pavement, sidewalk, curb and gutter, etc. shall be
        disposed of at off-site locations provided by the contractor
        at his own expense.

9.     The contractor shall be responsible for the installation and
        maintenance of adequate signs, traffic control devices, and warning
        devices to inform and protect the public during all phases of
        construction.  One lane in each direction shall be open to traffic at
        all times except between the hours of 9 A.M. to 3 P.M.  During this
        period all work must be performed in accordance with standards
        701201, 701206, and 701401.

10.   Barricades and warning signs shall be provided in accordance with
        article 107.14 of the Standard Specifications.  Adequate lighting shall
        be maintained from dusk to dawn at all locations where construction
        operations warrant or as designated by the Engineer.  Traffic control
        standards which shall be included for use during construction are:
        702001, 701201, 701206, 701301, 701401, 701501, 701606, and
        701701.  Stop signs must be installed as soon as access is available.

11.   Commonwealth Edison (Com-Ed), A.T.&T. Telephone, and Ni-Cor
        Gas have underground and/or overhead service facilities in the
        vicinity of the proposed work, the contractor shall be responsible
        for having the utility companies locate their facilities in the
        field prior to construction and shall also be responsible for the
        maintenance and preservation of these facilities.  The contractor
        shall call J.U.L.I.E. at "811" or (800) 892-0123 for utility locations.

12.   Whenever the performance of work is indicated on the plans, and
        no item is included in the contract for payment, the work shall be
        considered incidental to the contract, and no additional compensation
        will be allowed.

13.   All existing traffic signs, street signs, etc., which interfere with
        construction operations and not noted for removal or disposal shall
        be removed and reset by the contractor at locations as designated
        by the Engineer.  This shall be considered incidental to the contract
        and no additional compensation shall be allowed.  Damage to these
        items shall be repaired by the contractor at his own expense.  All
        signs not required to be reset shall be delivered to the Municipality
        or County as appropriate.

14.   All permanent type pavements or permanent improvements which
        abut the proposed improvement and must be removed, shall be
        saw-cut prior to removal.  All items so removed shall be
        replaced with similar construction materials to their original
        condition or better.  Payment for sawing shall be included in the
        cost for removal of each item and replacement will be paid under
        the respective items in the contract, unless otherwise indicated.

15.   Where overhanging branches interfere with operations of construction,
        said branches shall be trimmed and sealed in accordance with
        section 645.09 of the Standard Specifications, and the cost of same
        shall be incidental to the contract.  If trees or shrubs must be
        removed, they will be paid for in accordance with the specifications.

16.   The contractor shall submit in writing a "Schedule of Operations"
        showing approximate dates for commencing and completing various
        phases of construction under this contract.  The schedule shall have
        the approval of the Engineer and the date for starting shall be
        mutually agreed upon between the contractor and the Engineer.

17.   Special attention is drawn to the fact that article 105.06 of the
        Standard Specifications require the contractor to have a competent
        superintendent on the project site at all times irrespective of the
        amount of work sublet.  The superintendent shall be capable of
        reading and understanding the plans and specifications, shall have
        full authority to execute orders to expedite the project, and shall
        be responsible for scheduling and have control of all work as the
        agent of the general contractor.  Failure to comply with the provision
        will result in a suspension of work as provided in Article 108.07.

18.   Water Valve boxes and Buffalo boxes that are uncovered during
        construction shall be adjusted to grade prior to restoring the
        pavement, sidewalk or parkway.  The cost of same shall be
        considered as incidental to the contract.

19.   It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to remove from
        the site any and all materials and debris which result from his
        construction operation at no additional expense to the Owner.

20.   The Municipality and/or the Governing Agency shall be notified
        48 hours prior to the start of any construction.

1.     Work under this section shall include but not be limited to the
        following:

        A.  Clearing and removing from the site, all undesirable trees
              and other vegetative growth within the construction area.
              Tree removal shall be kept to a minimum.

        B.  Stripping of topsoil from all excavation, pavement and
              structural clay fill areas.

        C.  Stockpiling of topsoil at locations as directed by the Owner
              or Engineer.  Topsoil stockpiled for future use shall be
              relatively free from large roots, sticks, weeds, brush, stones
              larger than one (1) inch diameter or other litter and waste
              products including other extraneous materials not conductive
              to plant growth.  Topsoil shall be stockpiled in sequence to
              eliminate any rehandling or double movements by the contractor.

        D.  Clay cut and Clay fill with compaction within roadway and all
              other structural fill areas.

        E.  Clay Cut and Excavation of all lakes and waterways per plan
              including all treatments.

        F.  Placement and compaction of clay to standards as required
             on the construction plans to the design subgrade elevations.
             The contractor will note that the elevations shown on the
             construction plans are finished grade elevations and that
             pavement thickness must be subtracted to determine subgrade
             elevations.  The contractor may obtain required clay fill
             from on-site excavation and on-site borrow excavation as
             directed by the Engineer, or Owner.

        G.  Backfilling and compaction behind new curbs and gutters.

        H.  Movement and compaction of soil material from the
              construction of underground utilities.

        I.   Topsoil Placement to design finished grade elevations (6"
              minimum or as otherwise noted).

        J.  If required, removal from site of all excess earth material
              including excess utility trench spoil after final grading.

2.     The quantities given in the Engineer's Bid Proposal for earthwork is
         intended as a guide for the contractor in determining the scope
         of the completed project.  It is the contractor's responsibility to
         determine all material quantities and appraise himself of all site
         conditions.  The contract price submitted by the contractor shall
         be considered as lump sum for the complete project.  No claims
         for extra work will be recognized unless ordered in writing by the
         Engineer, and/or Owner.

3.     Proposed pavement areas and when applicable, building pads,
         driveways and sidewalks shall be excavated or filled to plus or
         minus 0.1 foot of design subgrade elevations by the contractor.

4.     The subgrade shall be free of unsuitable material and shall be
         compacted to a minimum of ninety-five (95) percent of modified
         proctor density.  Testing for compaction shall be the responsibility
         of the contractor.

5.     Upon completion of the surface improvements, the excavator shall
         respread a 6" layer of topsoil on all disturbed parkway, berm, and
         detention pond areas.

6.     During construction operations, the contractor shall insure positive
         site drainage at the conclusion of each day.  Site drainage may
         be achieved by ditching, pumping or any other method acceptable
         to the Engineer.  The contractor's failure to provide the above
         will preclude any possible added compensation requested due to
         delays or unsuitable materials created as a result thereof.

7.     Whenever, during construction operations, any loose material is
         deposited in the flow line of gutter, drainage structures, ditches,
         etc., such that the natural flow line of water is obstructed, this
         loose material shall be removed at the close of each working day.
         At the conclusion of construction operations, all drainage structures
         and flow lines shall be free from dirt and debris.  This work shall
         be considered incidental to the contract.

8.     All disturbed areas within the right-of-way, parkways and detention
         areas shall be seeded with I.D.O.T. CL. I mixture in accordance with
         the "Standard Specifications" unless otherwise noted on landscape
         plans and protected with Excelsior Erosion Blanket or equal.

9.     Soil erosion control specifications shall be considered as part of
         this section.

10.   All earthwork and utility spoils to be hauled offsite shall be tested
         by the contractor for disposal requirements.

1.     Work under this section shall include trenching, installation of
         pipe, castings, structures, backfilling of trenches and compaction.

2.     All manholes and valve vaults shall be equipped with steps.
         Manholes will contain plastic coated steps per Precast Concrete
         Manhole Detail at 16 inch centers.

3.     All sewer and water main trenches beneath proposed or existing
         utilities, proposed or existing pavement, driveways, sidewalks and
         for a distance of two feet on either side of same, and/or wherever
         else shown on the construction plan shall be backfilled with course
         aggregate backfill (CA-6) and thoroughly compacted in accordance
         with the State Specifications.

4.     All structure sections, adjusting rings and frames shall be securely
         sealed to each other or to the cone section or top barrel section
         of the manhole using resilient, fllexible, non-hardening, preformed,
         bituminous mastic (RAM-NEK, or Approved Equal).  This mastic shall
         be applied in such a manner that no surface water or ground water
         inflow can enter the manhole through gaps between barrel sections
         or cone sections and adjusting rings. (ASTM C-478 STRUCTURES)

5.     The underground contractor shall stock pile all utility spoil in an area
         designated by the Engineer or Owner.  This work shall be considered
         incidental to the contract.  If authorized to do so, the underground
         contractor shall level out and disburse all utility spoil or remove it
         from the site.  If no Earthwork Contract is awarded for this project,
         the underground contractor shall be responsible for removal of all
         excess Utility Spoil from the site.  This work shall be considered
         incidental to the contract.

6.     The construction will be observed by the Owners Engineer.  All work
         shall conform to the requirements of the Municipality as well as the
         Standard Specifications.

7.     The contractor shall provide the Engineer and the Municipality, and/
         or the Governing Agency, with prints and/or legible Mylar Record
         Drawings of all field tiles, cleanouts, wyes, service stubs, B-Boxes,
         and underdrains as required.

8.     Separation between water mains and sewers must be maintained in
         accordance with Section 41-2.01B, C, & D of the "Standard
         Specifications".  For storm sewer pipes that cross water mains,
         the storm sewer must be constructed of low head pressure pipe
         meeting ASTM C-443.  The flexible "O" ring utilized in the type
         of joint must be properly seated to insure water-tightness.

9.     Watermain and fittings shall be ductile iron pipe, Class 52 (AWWA
         C-151) with interior cement mortar lining and outside seal coating
         (AWWA C-104).  The ductile iron pipe, fittings, and appurtenances
         shall be encased in polywrap according to AWWA C-105, unless a
         soil site survey has been performed and non-corrosive soils were
         found to exist.  The soil survey shall meet AWWA Soil Test Specs.
         Joints shall be push on type, Clow Company "Super Bell-Tite" or
         approved equal.  Minimum cover from finished grade to top of
         watermain shall be 5 feet.

10.   Valves shall be Mueller, Clow, or approved equal, mechanical joint,
         resilient wedge seat, cast iron, bronze mounted, o-ring seal, bronze
         non-rising stem, gate valve.  All valves shall be rated for 300 PSI
         test pressure and 150 PSI working pressure.

11.   All watermains shall be bedded with compacted, granular CA-11
         materials, minimum thickness equal to 1/4 the outside diameter
         of the pipe, but not less than 6".

12.   All bends in the watermain of 10 degrees or greater shall be
         installed with thrust blocking or as directed by project Engineer
         per standard detail.

13.   Valve boxes shall be good quality cast iron and made in sections,
         diameter as specified on the plans, with appropriate lids (see
         construction standards sheet).  Lids shall be imprinted "Water".

14.   Valve basins shall be of precast concrete per ASTM C-478 with
         bituminous mastic joints, 48 inch inside diameter with Type 1
         frame and closed lid marked "Water".

15.   All watermains shall be subjected to a pressure test upon
         completion and prior to acceptance.  Installation of watermains
         shall conform to AWWA Section C-600-77.  Hydrostatic pressure
         test and leakage test shall be based on the Municipality's
         requirements.  The procedure for watermain disinfection shall
         conform to AWWA Section C-651-86.

16.   All system valves shall be opened fully once the water mains have
         been tested completely.  This system will be checked by the
         Municipality's Fire Department for adequate fire flows as soon as
         possible after the water mains are completed.

17.   All hydrants shall be of the compression or gate type, as manu-
         factured by Waterous, or approved equal.

18.   All floor drains shall be connected to the sanitary sewer and
         all downspouts and footing drains shall discharge into storm
         sewer or onto the ground.

19.   Curb inlets are to be EJIW 7010 Type M-3 HD, or as indicated
         on the plans.

20.   Rigid Sanitary Sewers and Storm Sewers shall be installed on Class
         B bedding, 1/4" to 1" in size, with a minimum thickness equal
         to that identified on the appropriate sewer section indicated on
         the detail sheet.  Blocking of any kind for grade is not permitted.
         Bedding material shall conform to the requirements of ASTM C-33
         for soundness and CA-11 for gradation.  Cost for bedding shall
         be merged with unit price bid for the sewer.

21.   Where flexible pipe is used, the pipe shall be installed on
         Class I Bedding and additional backfill extending to 12" over the
         pipe.  Backfilling shall be in accordance with ASTM 2321.  A
         deflection test shall be required by using a Rigid Ball or Mandrel
         as required in accordance with ASTM D-3034.  A 95% Mandrel is
         required and will not be used prior to 45 days after backfilling.

22.   'Band-Seal' or similar flexible type couplings shall be used when
         connecting sewer pipes of dissimilar materials.  When connecting
         to an existing sanitary sewer by means other than an existing
         wye or manhole, contractor shall use a 'sewer-tap' and hub-wye
         or hub-tee saddle.

23.   All Sewer Main connections to an existing sanitary sewer main shall
         be with a manhole.

24.   Sanitary sewers shall be PVC SDR 26 (ASTM 3034) with rubber
         gasketed joints (ASTM D-3212) and shall be installed according to
         the requirements of Uni-B-79.  Only Class I bedding material shall
         be allowed according to the requirements of ASTM D-2321.
         Connection to the existing sanitary manhole shall be completed by
         removing a portion of the existing main and connecting the manhole
         utilizing SDR35 PVC pipe and a mission coupling.  A "doghouse-style"
         manhole is not allowed.  The manhole shall be provided with flexible
         manhole sleeves for the PVC pipe connection.
         Sanitary sewers, where indicated as ductile iron, shall be AWWA C151,
         Class 52 with cement lining (AWWA C104) and rubber push on joints
         (AWWA C110).

25.   All sanitary sewer manholes shall have eccentric cones; cone
         openings shall be centered over the outlet pipe.  All precast
         structures to be as per ASTM C-478.

26.   Sanitary sewer manholes shall be 4'-0" diameter precast structures.
         Manholes shall also include the appropriate frame and sealed lids.

1.     Work under this section shall include final subgrade shaping and
         preparation, forming, placement of roadway base course materials
         and subsequent binder and/or surface courses, finishing and curing
         of concrete, final clean-up and all related work.

2.     The proposed pavement shall consist of the subgrade course (as
         specified) base course, Bituminous Concrete Binder course, and
         Bituminous Concrete Surface course, Class 1, or the thickness and
         materials as specified on the construction plans.  Prime coat
         material shall be bituminous M.C. - 30.  Unless shown as a bid
         item, prime coat shall be considered as incidental to the cost of
         the contract.  All pavement shall be constructed in accordance
         with the I.D.O.T. "Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge
         Construction", current edition.

3.     Sidewalks and curb shall be of the type as detailed in the construction
         plans shall consist of Portland Cement Concrete with air entrainment
         of not less than five percent (5%) or more than eight percent (8%).
         Concrete shall be a minimum six (6) bag mix and shall develop a
         minimum of 3,500 PSI compressive strength at fourteen (14) days.
         All concrete shall be broom finished.

4.     Curing and protection shall be in accordance with article 606
         of the "Standard Specifications", current edition.

5.     All damaged areas in the binder, base or curb shall be
         repaired to the satisfaction of the Engineer and Municipality prior
         to laying the surface course.  The paving contractor shall provide
         whatever equipment and manpower necessary including the use of
         power brooms if required by the Engineer to prepare the pavement
         for application of the surface course.  Equipment and manpower for
         cleaning shall be considered as incidental to the cost of the
         contract.  Prime coat for the binder course shall also be considered
         as incidental to the cost of the contract and shall be applied to
         the binder at a rate of 0.05 gallons per square yard.

6.     3/4" thick Premoulded Fibre Expansion Joints with 3/4" x 13" plain
         round, steel dowel bars shall be installed at fifty (50) foot
         intervals and at all P.C.'S, P.T.'S, and curb returns.  Alternated
         ends of the dowel bars shall be greased and fitted with metal
         expansion tubes.  Contraction joints shall be provided at twenty-five
         (25) foot intervals in the curb.  The cost of these joints shall be
         considered as incidental to the cost of the contract.  Expansion
         joints shall be placed near all curb inlets.

7.     Backfilling of curbs or pavement shall be the responsibility of the
         earthwork contractor.

8.    Curbs shall be depressed at locations where public walks/pedestrian
         paths intersect curb line at street intersections and other locations
         as directed, in accordance with Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)
         requirements.

9.    Two (2) coats of boiled linseed oil in conformance with section
         408 of the Standard Specifications shall be applied to exposed
         concrete surfaces, cost of which shall be incidental to the cost
         of the contract.

10.   It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to remove from the
         site any and all materials and debris which result from his
         construction operations at no additional expense to the Owner.

11.   The paving contractor shall be responsible for providing all coring,
         testing, and pavement evaluation as required by the Municipality
         for acceptance at his own expense.  The contractor shall include
         this as a separate bid item or else it will be assumed that this
         cost has been figured into the unit prices for the paving items.
         All testing results shall be made available to the Municipality
         for review.

12.   Concrete sidewalks shall have three - 1/4 inch diameter, 10 foot
         long reinforcing rods centered over all utility crossings.  Expansion
         joints shall be provided in the concrete sidewalks at 50 foot
         intervals.

1.     All storm water runoff is to be directed to catch basins with
         proper sumps.  Drainage Structure Inlet Filter Devices shall be
         placed in the catch basins, inlets, or manholes, so as to filter
         and contain any and all soil and debris.

2.     When storm water is to be routed through existing or proposed
         detention basins, they are to be constructed immediately upon
         commencement of the project.  Basins will be properly over excavated
         so as to provide sufficient volume for debris and settlement.  If the
         drainage is in an existing basin, the upstream project will be properly
         protected so as to prevent siltation of the downstream basin.

3.     All catch basins, sumps and/or retention basins are to be cleaned at
         the end of the project prior to final acceptance.  Cleaning may also
         be required during the course of the construction of the project if
         it is determined that the silt and debris traps are not properly
         functioning and their performance is impaired.

4.     Unless soil erosion control items are specifically referred to as
         bid items (such as topsoil respread, seeding, etc.), they are to be
        considered as incidental to the cost of the contract.

5.     Soil erosion control measures in accordance with the "Procedures and
         Standards for Urban Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control in Illinois",
         current edition, shall be followed at the discretion of the Municipality.

6.     Any soil erosion control measures in addition to those outlined in
         these plans and which are deemed necessary by the Engineer,
         shall be implemented immediately by the contractor.

7.     Seeding shall conform to section 250 of the "Standard Specifications".



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 1
0-

D
E

TA
IL

, P
lo

tte
d:

 4
/6

/2
01

5 
3:

29
 P

M
, B

y:
 jr

os
si

, C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T 

20
15

 - 
JO

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

10 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TI

O
N

 D
E

TA
IL

S



STANDARD  INLET



R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
:

Project No.:

Date:

A
LL

 R
IG

H
TS

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

JO
S

E
P

H
 A

. S
C

H
U

D
T 

&
 A

S
S

O
C

IA
TE

S
C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T

M
:\2

01
5\

15
-0

21
\D

ra
w

in
gs

\C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
D

ra
w

in
gs

\1
5-

02
1

, 1
1-

D
E

TA
IL

, P
lo

tte
d:

 4
/6

/2
01

5 
3:

28
 P

M
, B

y:
 jr

os
si

, C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T 

20
15

 - 
JO

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

(184-001172)

A
ny

 u
se

 o
r 

re
pr

od
uc

tio
n

 o
f 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
or

 t
he

 a
tta

ch
ed

dr
aw

in
gs

, 
or

 t
he

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 a

pp
ro

ac
h

 i
de

as
 o

r
C

on
ce

pt
s 

de
sc

rib
ed

 i
n 

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t 
an

d
 t

he
 a

tta
ch

ed
dr

aw
in

gs
, 

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t 

by
 a

ny
 m

ea
ns

 w
ha

ts
oe

ve
r 

is
st

ric
tly

 p
ro

hi
bi

te
d 

ex
ce

pt
 w

ith
 w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t o
f

 J
O

S
E

P
H

 A
. S

C
H

U
D

T 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

TE
S

11 11

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 O
U

TL
O

T

TI
N

LE
Y

 P
A

R
K

, I
L

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TI

O
N

 D
E

TA
IL

S

�



© 2015 
LSI INDUSTRIES INC.

Project Name Fixture Type

Catalog #

GREENBRIAR® - FLAT LENS (Various reflectors are protected by U.S. Patent No. 6,464,378.)

HOUSING - The aluminum housing is 
available in two sizes. Both housings are 
the same dimensions square, however, 
the GFR is deeper. Both are finished 
to produce a clean, sharp appearance, 
and designed to ensure weather-tight 
construction. Top-access covers provide 
ease of installation and servicing. 

LENS/GASKET - The flat clear tempered 
glass lens is sealed to the housing with 
an EPDM gasket, preventing entry of 
moisture, dust and insects.

TOP COVER FASTENERS - The four 
captive stainless steel fasteners secure 
the top-access cover to the housing.

SOCKETS - Porcelain mogul-base sockets. 
All sockets are pulse-rated.

LIGHT SOURCES - Pulse-Start Metal 
Halide, Natural White Pulse-Start Metal 
Halide, Metal Halide Reduced Envelope, 
or High Pressure Sodium. Clear lamp is 
supplied as standard.

BALLASTS - Pulse-Start Metal Halide (200, 
250, 320, 400, 750 and 1000 watt), 775 
watt Natural White Pulse-Start Metal 
Halide, Metal Halide, and High Pressure 
Sodium fixtures feature a high-power 
factor type CWA ballast. The 575 watt 
Natural White Pulse-Start Metal Halide 
fixtures feature HX-HPF type ballasts. 
All ballasts are designed for -20° F 
operation.

REFLECTORS/DISTRIBUTION PATTERNS 
- The series is available in a variety 
of reflector systems and distribution 
patterns, all with vertical oriented 
lamps: GFR: Type II (2), Type III (3), 
Perimeter Forward Throw (FP), Type V 
(5), Automotive Forward Throw (FA), 
as well as, ART (Advanced Reflector 
Technology) optical systems: Automotive 
Forward Throw (AFT), Automotive 
Interior (AI), and a high performance 
Type V (540) for 38’ - 42’ mounting 
heights.

Flat-lensed fixtures
meet IESNA

full cutoff
classification

COMMUNITY
FRIENDLY

DIMENSIONS

SHIPPING WEIGHTS -  Greenbriar Flat Lens

LUMINAIRE EPA CHART -  Greenbriar Flat Lens

Note:   House Side Shield adds to fixture EPA. Consult factory.

Catalog Number Est. Weight  (kg/lbs.) Length (mm/in.) Width (mm/in.) Height (mm/in.)

A B

GFM Arm Mount
GFR Arm Mount

Bracket –

2-bolt Pattern

21-5/8"(549mm)
21-5/8"(549mm)

12-3/4"(324mm)
16-1/8"(410mm)

Arm Mount

B

A

12"
(305mm)

Single

D180°

D90°

T90°

TN120°

Q90°

GFM
GFR

19/41
26/57

635/25
724/28.5

635/25
711/28

495/19.5
648/25.5

 3.2 3.8

 6.3 7.6 

 5.7 7.6 

 8.8 11.4 

 9.0 11.4 

 11.3 15.2  

 GFM GFR
 12" Bracket 12" Bracket 

GFM: Type II (2), Type III (3), Perimeter 
Forward Throw (FP), and Type V (5).

	 All reflectors are field-rotatable, enabling 
generous flexibility in distribution 
patterns without moving the fixture. 
Photometric data is tested in accordance 
with IESNA guidelines.

 BRACKETS - Arm Mount: Use with 
5” traditional drilling pattern. 2-1/2” 
x 5-3/8” x 12” extruded aluminum 
bracket is shipped standard. An 8” 
bracket is available for single or D180° 
configurations, but must be ordered from 
the Options column of the ordering chart. 
A Round Pole Plate (RPP2) is required 
for mounting to 3”–5” round poles. (See 
Accessory Ordering Information chart.)

FINISHES - Each fixture is finished with 
LSI’s DuraGrip® polyester powder coat 
finishing process. The DuraGrip finish 
withstands extreme weather changes 
without cracking or peeling, and is 
guaranteed for five full years. Standard 
colors include bronze, black, platinum 
plus, white, satin verde green, metallic 
silver, and graphite.

DECAL STRIPING - LSI offers optional 
color-coordinated decals in 9 standard 
colors to accent the fixture. Decal is 
guaranteed for five years against peeling, 
cracking, or fading. 

PHOTOMETRICS - Please visit our web site 
at www.lsi-industries.com for detailed 
photometric data. 

Shown with optional decal striping

This product, or selected versions of this product, 
meet the standards listed below. Please consult 

factory for your specific requirements. 

ARRA
Funding Compliant

wet location

172

O
U

T
D

O
O

R

02/04/15



© 2015 
LSI INDUSTRIES INC.

Project Name Fixture Type

Catalog #

TYPICAL ORDER EXAMPLE:

Luminaire
Prefix Distribution Light Source

LUMINAIRE ORDERING INFORMATION

Lamp
Wattage

ACCESSORY ORDERING INFORMATION
Description Order Number Description Order Number

(Accessories are field installed)

4342901++
4342901++
4342902++
4342902++
4342902++
4342902++
4342902++

GFR/GFM 2 HSS – House Side Shield
GFPR/GFPM 2 HSS – House Side Shield
GFR/GFM 3 HSS – House Side Shield 
GFPR/GFPM 3 HSS – House Side Shield
GFR/GFM FP HSS – House Side Shield
GFPR/GFPM FP HSS – House Side Shield
GFR/GFPR FA/AFT HSS – House Side Shield

Line
Voltage

Luminaire
Finish Options

480
MT – Multi Tap
TT  – Tri-Tap

BRZ – Bronze
BLK – Black
PLP – Platinum Plus
WHT – White
SVG - Satin Verde Green
GPT - Graphite
MSV - Metallic Silver

F – Flat Clear 
Tempered Glass

PSMV – Pulse-Start Metal Halide
 200, 250, 320 Watt
PSMVR – Pulse-Start Metal Halide
 Reduced Envelope 400 Watt
HPS – High Pressure Sodium 
 250, 400 Watt
PSMV – Pulse-Start Metal Halide
 400, 750, 1000 1 Watt
NWPSMV – Pulse-Start Metal Halide
 Natural White 575, 775 Watt
MHR - Metal Halide 
 Reduced Envelope 1000 Watt

PSMV – Pulse-Start Metal Halide
 750, 1000 1 Watt
NWPSMV – Pulse-Start Metal Halide
 Natural White 575, 775 Watt
MHR - Metal Halide 
 Reduced Envelope 1000 Watt

200
250
320
400

400
575
750
775
1000

575
750
775
1000

2 – Type II
3 – Type III
FP – Perimeter 
 Forward Throw
5 – Type V

2 – Type II
3 – Type III
FP – Perimeter 
 Forward Throw
FA - Automotive
    Forward Throw
5 – Type V
Advanced Reflector 
Technology Optical 
Systems:

AFT – Automotive
 Forward Throw
AI – Automotive 
 Interior
540 – Type V
 (38’-42’ Mtg. Ht.)

Medium
Vertical Burn
GFM - Arm Mount

Reduced
Vertical Burn
GFR - Arm Mount

8BK – 8" Bracket 2
PCI120 – Button-Type 
 Photoelectric Control 3
PCI208 – Button-Type 
 Photoelectric Control 3
PCI240 – Button-Type 
 Photoelectric Control 3
PCI277 – Button-Type 
 Photoelectric Control 3
PCI347 – Button-Type 
 Photoelectric Control 3
LL – Less Lamp

Color Decals
45 – Light Gold
20 – Charcoal Metallic
55 – Black
94 – Blue Metallic
59 – Dark Green
51 – Dark Red
21 – Tomato Red
50 – White
700 – Aztec Silver Metallic
  

FOOTNOTES:
1- Tri-Tap not available in 1000 Watt PSMV.  Voltage must be specified - 120V, 277V or 347V.
2- An 8" bracket can only be ordered with single and D180° configurations.
3- On GFR/GFPR photoelectric control can only be used with 400 Watt PSMV.

HOUSE SIDE SHIELD

GFR 5 1000 PSMV F MT PLP 8BK 20

FK120 - Single Fusing 
FK277 - Single Fusing 
DFK208, 240 - Double Fusing         
DFK480 - Double Fusing       
FK347 - Single Fusing 
RPP2 – Round Pole Plate
BKS-BO-WM-*-CLR  Wall Mount Plate 

   

FK120+
FK277+

DFK208, 240+
DFK480+
FK347+

162914BLK++
123111CLR

Lens

Consult Factory
for International 

Voltages and Light 
Sources

+Fusing must be located in the hand-hole of the pole on GFR/GFPR Series - not in the fixture.      ++ Black  only.

TYPE II
(4342901)

TYPE III AND FORWARD THROW (FA/FP/AFT)
(4342902) 

(AFT reflector only)

GFR WITH INTERNAL
HOUSE SIDE SHIELD (288116BLK)

BOTTOM VIEW

5-3/8”
(137mm)

4-5/16”
(110mm)

2-5/16”
(59mm)

8-7/8”
(225mm)

5-3/8”
(137mm)

MT – Multi Tap consists of 120V, 208V, 
240V and 277V and is prepared for 

highest voltage.  Alternate voltages will 
require field adjustment.  

TT – Tri-Tap consists of 120V, 277V and 
347V and is shipped standard for 

Canadian applications and is prepared 
for highest voltage.  Alternate voltages 

will require field adjustment.

GFR/GFPR AFT IL – Internal Louver288116BLK++

GREENBRIAR® - FLAT LENS 

O
U

T
D

O
O

R

02/04/15

173



© 2015 
LSI INDUSTRIES INC.

Project Name Fixture Type

Catalog #

GREENBRIAR® WALL SCONCE (Various reflectors are protected by U.S. Patent No. 6,464,378) 
HOUSING - The aluminum housing is 

available in two sizes and is a rectangular 
shape. All mounting hardware is stainless 
steel or electro-zinc plated steel.

WALL MOUNT - A galvanized-steel 
universal wall mounting plate easily 
mounts directly to a 4” octagonal or 
square junction box. An EPDM gasket 
is supplied to be installed between the 
mounting plate and junction box, sealing 
the junction box from entrance of water. 
The galvanized-steel universal plate 
allows the fixture to securely attach to the 
mounting plate using a unique clamping 
design which is locked into place with 
two hex-head screws. The universal plate 
permits the fixture to be mounted in 
the uplighting position (listed for damp 
locations) or downlighting position (listed 
for wet locations).

DOOR FRAME - The aluminum door frame 
with two stainless steel captive fasteners 
allows easy access into the fixture. A one 
piece extruded silicone gasket seals the 
door frame against the housing. The door 
swings open and is held in place by a 
retainer. 

LENS/GASKET - A flat clear tempered glass 
lens, which is sealed to the door frame 
with EPDM gasketing, is standard. An 
optional polycarbonate lens is available 
on most Compact Fluorescent fixtures.  

BALLASTS/ELECTRICAL COMPONENTS - 
Electrical components are factory-
mounted in housing and prewired with 
voltage specific leads which extend out 
the back of the unit through a rubber 
grommet. This grommet prevents the 
entry of insects, dust, and moisture into 
the fixture. The need to open the fixture 
to make wiring connections is eliminated, 
thus making installation quick and easy. 
UL listed HID components with high-
power factor ballasts rated for -20oF 
starting. Compact Fluorescent ballasts are 
Electronic Universal Voltage (120-277V 
50/60 Hz) or 347V (60 HZ), 0oF starting. 
Compact Fluorescent fixtures with UE 
(Universal Electronic) voltage are 
available with an optional dimming ballast 
for multiple types of controls such as 
building lighting controls and occupancy 
sensors. Available battery back-up of BB 
(32° starting temperature) and CWBB 
(0° starting temperature) are 120 or 277 
voltage for U.S. applications for 26 watt 
through 70 watt lamps. Consult factory 
for available wattages and voltages for 
use in Canada.

SHIPPING WEIGHTS - Greenbriar Wall Sconce
Catalog
Number

Est. Weight
(kg/lbs.)

Length
(mm/in.)

Width
(mm/in.)

Height
(mm/in.)

DIMENSIONS

A B C D
Small

Medium

(448mm)
17-5/8"

(508mm)
20"

(244mm)
9-5/8"

(341mm)
13-7/16"

Universal Mounting Plate

(257mm)
10-1/8"

(283mm)
11-5/32"

(137mm)
5-3/8"

(218mm)
8-5/8"

(70mm)
2-3/4"

A

B

C

D

(25mm) 1"

30o

GBWS-HID
GBWM-HID
GBWS-CFL
GBWM-CFL

10 / 22
15 / 32
8 / 17

11 / 24

616 / 24.25
616 / 24.25
616 / 24.25
616 / 24.25

394 / 15.5
394 / 15.5
394 / 15.5
394 / 15.5

343 / 13.5
419 / 16.5
343 / 13.5
419 / 16.5

(95mm)
3-3/4”

Junction Box
Centerline

5-11/16”
(145mm)

7-3/4” (197mm)

Flat-lensed fixtures
meet IESNA

full cutoff
classification

COMMUNITY
FRIENDLY

SOCKETS - HID lampholders are glazed 
porcelain, medium base for the small 
fixture and mogul base for the medium 
fixture, 4KV pulse rated. The Compact 
Fluorescent fixtures feature a one-piece 
thermoplastic socket. 

LIGHT SOURCES - The fixture is designed to 
operate with horizontal Pulse-Start Metal 
Halide, Pulse-Start Metal Halide Reduced, 
Ceramic Metal Halide, Metal Halide, High 
Pressure Sodium, and single, double 
or triple Compact Fluorescent lamps. 
Lamps supplied as standard – HID 
(clear, shipped installed), and Compact 
Fluorescent (coated, 4100K). 

EMERGENCY OPERATION - A variety of 
integral emergency options are available 
to comply with Life Safety Codes which 
require emergency lighting along the 
path of egress on the building’s exterior, 
so building occupants can exit safely. 
Integral Emergency Battery Back-up 
options are available on Compact 
Fluorescent units.

REFLECTORS/DISTRIBUTION PATTERNS - 
Forward Throw (FTM, FT) and Type III (3) 
reflectors are available on small and 
medium. Wall Wash (WW) reflectors are 
also available on small. All are high 
performance, full cut-off distribution as 
defined by the IESNA (downlight position 
only). Photometric data is tested in 
accordance with IESNA guidelines. 

FINISHES - Each fixture is finished with 
LSI’s DuraGrip® polyester powder coat 
finishing process. The DuraGrip finish 
withstands extreme weather changes 
without cracking or peeling, and is 
guaranteed for five full years. Standard 
colors include bronze, black, platinum 
plus, white, satin verde green, metallic 
silver, and graphite.

DECAL STRIPING - LSI offers optional color-
coordinated decals in 9 standard colors to 
accent the fixture. Decals are guaranteed 
for five years against peeling, cracking, 
or fading. 

PHOTOMETRICS - Please visit our web site 
at www.lsi-industries.com for detailed 
photometric data. 

wet location
(Downlight only)

damp location
(Uplight - covered locations only)

Shown with optional decal striping

ARRA
Funding Compliant

218

O
U

T
D

O
O

R

02/03/15



© 2015 
LSI INDUSTRIES INC.

Project Name Fixture Type

Catalog #

GREENBRIAR® WALL SCONCE 

TYPICAL ORDER EXAMPLE:

Luminaire
Prefix Distribution Light Source

LUMINAIRE ORDERING INFORMATION

Lamp
Wattage

ACCESSORY ORDERING INFORMATION
Description Order Number Description Order Number

(Accessories are field installed)

172786
172787

173156BLK+++
477974 

FK120+
FK277+

DFK208, 240+
DFK480++

FK347+

GBWS PLS - Polycarbonate Shield for Small 
GBWM PLS - Polycarbonate Shield for Medium 
SW BLK - Surface Wiring Box 
SCD - Tamper-proof Screwdriver  

Line
Voltage

Luminaire
Finish Options

120
208
240
277
347

UE - Universal 
Electronic

(120-277V 50/60Hz)

347 6

120
208
240
277
347
480

UE - Universal 
Electronic

(120-277V 50/60Hz)

347 6

BRZ - Bronze
BLK - Black
PLP - Platinum 
 Plus
WHT - White
SVG - Satin 
 Verde Green
GPT - Graphite
MSV - Metallic 
 Silver

F- Flat Clear
    Tempered Glass

F- Flat Clear
    Tempered Glass
FPC - Flat Clear
    Polycarbonate 4

F- Flat Clear
    Tempered Glass

F- Flat Clear
    Tempered Glass
FPC - Flat Clear
     Polycarbonate 4,5

CMH - Ceramic Metal Halide
      150 Watt1
MH - Metal Halide
      50, 70, 1002, 1501 Watt
HPS - High Pressure Sodium
      50 3, 70, 100, 150 Watt
CFL - Compact Fluorescent 
      Single 26, 32, 42 Watt
CFL2 - Compact Fluorescent
      Double 26, 32, 42 Watt

CFL - Compact Fluorescent 
      Single 26, 32, 42 Watt

PSMH - Pulse Start Metal Halide
      250, 320 Watt
PSMHR - Pulse Start Metal 
 Halide Reduced 400 Watt
HPS - High Pressure Sodium
      250, 400 Watt

CFL - Compact Fluorescent
      Single 57, 70 Watt
CFL2 - Compact Fluorescent
      Double 57, 70 Watt
CFL3 - Compact Fluorescent
      Triple 26, 32, 42 Watt

50
70
100
150

26
32
42

250
320
400

26
32
42
57
70

3 - Type III
FT - Forward Throw
WW - Wall Wash

FTM - Forward
  Throw Medium

WW - Wall Wash

3 - Type III
FT - Forward
       Throw

GBWS
(Small)

GBWM
(Medium)

PCI120 - Button-Type Photocell
PCI208 - Button-Type Photocell
PCI240 - Button-Type Photocell
PCI277 - Button Type-Photocell
PCI347 - Button Type-Photocell
TP - Tamper Proof 7
PMA - Pole Mount Adaptor for use with square poles
 (for S or D180 mounting configurations only)8

 Not compatible with EMR1, EMR2, EQ or EQ2 options
PMAR - Pole Mount Adaptor for use with round poles
 (for S or D180 mounting configurations only)8

 Not compatible with EMR1, EMR2, EQ or EQ2 options
DIM -  CFL Control Voltage Dimming Ballast 9
C - Coated MH or PSMH Lamp except 250 PSMH
SQT - Standby Quartz (Time Delay) 10

SQN - Standby Quartz (Non-Time Delay) 10

BB - CFL Battery Back-up 11

CWBB - Cold Weather Battery Back-up11

LL - Less Lamp
   
      Color Decals
45 - Light Gold Metallic
20 - Charcoal Metallic
94 - Blue Metallic
59 - Dark Green
21 - Tomato Red
  

FOOTNOTES:
1- 150 MH must be used for downlight only.
2- Supplied with a HX-HPF transformer as standard.  Also available with a 120/277 volt  

CWA transformer.  Consult factory. 
3- 50 Watt HPS is not available in TT or 347V.
4- FPC lens is not available with EMR options.
5- If a polycarbonate lens is required on an Uplight Medium fixture in 70 CFL2 or 42 CFL3,  

the glass lens with Polycarbonate Shield (GBWM PLS) accessory must be ordered.   
6- 347V CFL is not available with dimming ballast (DIM) option.  Consult factory for   

battery back-up (BB) options.
7- Tamper-proof Screwdriver must be ordered separately. (See Accessory Ordering Information)
  

8- Use with 5” traditional drilling pattern.
9- CFL Dimming Control by others. 
10- HID lamp wattages 50 and 70 are supplied with a 50 watt, 120V quartz lamp. HID lamp wattages 100 

through 250 are supplied with a 100 watt, 120V quartz lamp. HID lamp wattages of 320 & 400 are supplied 
with a 250 watt, 120V quartz lamp.

11- Battery Back-up available on single, double and triple 120 or 277 voltage specific units for U.S. 
applications. Please change Line Voltage of UE to 120 or 277 when ordering this option.  On double and 
triple units, one lamp will be energized by Battery Back-up (BB) option. Consult factory for specific Means 
of Egress job application compliance.

GBWM 3 400     PSMHR    F 120 BRZ   SQT

FK120 - Single Fusing 
FK277 - Single Fusing 
DFK208, 240 - Double Fusing         
DFK480 - Double Fusing          
FK347 - Single Fusing 

Lens

 + Available on HID fixtures only.  Fusing to be installed in a compatible junction box supplied by contractor.
++ Available on HID Medium fixture only.  Fusing to be installed in a compatible junction box supplied by contractor.
+++SW BLK not compatible with PMA or PMAR option.

Consult Factory for 
International Voltages 

and Light Sources

  55 - Black
  50 - White
  51 - Dark Red
700 - Aztec Silver Metallic
  

O
U

T
D

O
O

R

02/03/15

219







 

305894

Banded

Outdoor sconces with glass options: Banded
aluminum

Dimensions

 

Height 20.8" 
Width 7.8" 
Projection 6.5" 
Backplate 20.8" x 7.8" 
Mounting Height
  (Vertical) 10.4" 

Can 19.7 X 7.2
  

 
Bulb Options

 
Standard Bulb (max) 305894
 Socket: medium
 Bulb: (1) A-19, 100 watt

 
Fluorescent Bulb 305894F
 Socket: fluorescent: GU24
 Bulb(Included): (1) GU24 fluorescent, 13 watt

 

LED 305894D
LED:  LED - GU24, 12W Bulb, 800lm
CCT:  3000K
CRI:  Min 90
Input:  
Dimming:  Yes

 
UL/CUL Listing
   Outdoor Wet 

  Glass/Shade Options

 

G37
H37
ZW37
ZX37

G - Opal , H - Stone , ZW - Soft Amber , ZX - Pearl 

 

HUBBARDTONFORGE.COM

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT CUSTOMER SERVICE AT 800-826-4766 OR CUSTOMERSERVICE@VTFORGE.COM

154 RT. 30 SOUTH • CASTLETON, VERMONT 05735 • T 800-826-4766 • F 877-910-3700
All designs and images © Hubbardton Forge®. All rights reserved.





EXISTING RETAIL

AREA OF WORK

25' o.c. 2 -AFA 5 -QRL

3 -TSB

2 -UF
6 -RGL

6 -PCJ

1 -UF5 -JDF
14 -SH (24"o.c.)

9 -RGL
6 -PCJ

2 -UF
5 -JDF
14 -SH (24"o.c.)

9 -SSO (18"o.c.)

5 -JKC

1 -CCI

5 -DCS

6 -RGL

15 -SA
(15"o.c.)

9 -NKC
(18"o.c.)

5 -RVLS
(18"o.c.)

EXISTING
PLANTING

BED

5 -TMD
1 -VRT

1 -AGC

7 -HAM

(24"o.c.)

9 -TT

SOD

1 -MRJ

TRANSPLANTED
2.5" MAPLE

2 -GTS 9 -SH (24"o.c.)

6 -DCS

3 -PFA

1 -GTS

HARLEM      AVENUE
3 -VP

6 -JKC

30 -SA

(15"o.c.)

30 -SA
(15"o.c.)

22 -NWL
(18"o.c.)

6 -JKC

30 -SA

(15"o.c.)

22 -NWL
(18"o.c.)

30 -SA
(15"o.c.)

6 -SH
(24"o.c.)

3 -CA (6' o.c.)
6 -VAJ

(6' o.c.)

2 -AFJ

5 -TT

LIGHT POLE

LIGHT POLE

LIGHT POLE

LIGHT POLE

2 GTS

LIGHT POLE

LIGHT POLE
SEED

SEED
SEED

SEED

SEED

SEED

SEED

SEED

SEED

SEED

SEED

SEED

1 -GTS

6 -JKC

30 -SA

(15"o.c.)

22 -NWL
(18"o.c.)

30 -SA
(15"o.c.)

6 -RNW
2 -SIS

10 -WM (30"o.c.)

8 -HB

10 -WM (30"o.c.)

1 -CCI

1 -SIS

SEED

1 -SIS

7 -VBM

5 -JKC9 -RGL

5 -JKC

3 -VRT

14 -SA
(15"o.c.)

11 -NKC
(18"o.c.)

7 -SA (158"o.c.)

2 -PPF

8 -WFW

6 -PPF

(36"o.c.)

5 -RDK

1 -RNH
11 -PPF

(36"o.c.)

3 -PM

7 -CA (6' o.c.)

6 -JKC
18 -RH
(18"o.c.)

10 -JSG

6 -JKC

18 -RH

(18"o.c.)

2 -GTS

3 -HPL

2 -TAM

24 -RH
(18"o.c.)

1 -TAM

SEED

48 -RH
(18"o.c.)

4 -AFA

8 -RGL

7 -DL

3 -VP 5 -DL

5 -VRT

1 -MRJ
9 -JSG

9 -FNHG
1 -TAM2 -AFJ

9 -JSG

4' HIGH

ORNAMENTAL

METAL FENCE

4' HIGH

ORNAMENTAL

METAL FENCE

36 -RH

(18"o.c.)

EXISTING TREES

EXISTING SHRUBS

2.5" - DECIDUOUS SHADE TREES

2.5" - COLUMNAR SHADE TREES

2.5" or 6' - ORNAMENTAL TREES

6' - EVERGREEN TREES

36" - DECIDUOUS SHRUBS

24"/#5 - DECIDUOUS SHRUBS

24"/#5 - EVERGREEN SHRUBS

#1 - ORNAMENTAL GRASSES

#1 - PERENNIALS or
from flats - GROUNDCOVERS

LEGEND

E

E

SHEET

REVISIONS

c Copyright 2014 all rights reserved.  The 
design and any and all ideas contained herein
are the sole property of Metz & Company.  Any
reproduction of the design or concept embodied
herein in any form, in whole or in part, without
Metz & Company's consent is prohibited.

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

1"=20'

2-18-2015

L-1

15-126

TITLE

LANDSCAPE

NORTH OUT-LOT

TINLEY PARK PLAZA

TINLEY PARK, IL

HARLEM AVENUE - Arterial Road - 280'

Calculation: 280' divided by 100 = 2.8 Plant multiplier

Category Calculation

2.8 x 5 =14  required trees
Shade Tree (2.5")

Provided

14*

2.8 x 2 = 5.6 or 6 required treesOrnamental Tree (2.5" or 6')

6

2.8 x 20 = 56 required shrubsShrubs (24-36")
56

LOT LANDSCAPING - Area of Work = 81,230 sf

Req.: 1 Tree per 10,000 sf

Req. No. Trees Trees Provided

8 (4 Shade, 3 Evergreen & 1 Transplant)
8

PARKING LOT ISLAND LANDSCAPING - 3087 sf

Category Req. No.

15
Shade Tree (2.5")

Provided

15

15Shrubs (24-36")

60

PLANT REQUIREMENT CALCULATIONS

10' Bufferyard 'C'

Calculation: 81,230 divided by 10,000 = 8.1 or 8 Trees

Req.: 1 Tree & 1 Shrub per 200 sf

Calculation: 3087 divided by 200 = 15.4 or 15

PLAN

GENERAL NOTES:

Plant material shall be nursery grown and be either balled and burlapped or

container grown.  Sizes and spreads on plant list represent minimum

requirements.

Size & grading standards of plant materials shall conform to the latest addition

of ANSI Z60.1 AMERICAN STANDARD OF NURSERY STOCK, by the

American Nursery & Landscape Association.

Any materials with damaged or crooked/disfigured leaders, bark abrasion,

sunscald, insect damage, etc. are not acceptable and will be rejected.  Trees

with multiple leaders will be rejected unless called for in the plant list as

multi-stem or clump (cl.).

Grading shall provide slopes which are smooth and continuous. Positive

drainage shall be provided in all areas.

Quantity lists are supplied as a convenience.  However, the contractor
should verify all quantities.  The drawings shall take precedence over the
lists.

All plant species specified are subject to availability. Material shortages in the

landscape industry may require substitutions. All substitutions must be

approved by the Landscape Architect and/or Owner.

Contractor shall verify location of all underground utilities prior to digging. For

location outside the City of Chicago call "J.U.L.I.E." (Joint Utility Location for

Excavators) 1-800-892-0123.

Contractor shall report any discrepancies in the field to the Landscape

Architect and/or Owner.

Plant symbols illustrated on this plan are a graphic representation of proposed

plant material types and are intended to provide for visual clarity.  However,

the symbols do not necessarily represent actual plant spread at the time of

installation.

All perennial, ornamental grass, groundcover and annual  beds shall be

topdressed with a minimum of three inches (3") of mushroom compost.  The

topdressing shall be worked into the soil to a minimum depth of nine inches

(9") by the use of a cultivating mechanism.  Upon completion perennials &

ornamental grasses shall be mulched with an additional two inch (2") layer of

shredded wood mulch; Annuals & groundcovers shall be covered with an

additional two inch (2") layer of mushroom compost.

All other planting beds and tree saucers shall be mulched with a minimum of

three inches (3") of shredded wood mulch.

All bed lines and tree saucers shall require a hand spaded edge between lawn

and mulched areas.

Planting beds adjacent to building shall be mulched in their entirety to the

building foundation.

All sod shall be of a salt tolerant species with a mineral base.

All plant material shall be guaranteed for one (1) year from the date of

acceptance.

NORTH

0 20

SCALE  1" = 20'

40

SHEET L-2 :  Tree Preservation and Removal Plan

*  Overhead Utilities - Understory Trees were substituted for the Canopy Trees  

157-000422

RANDY F. METZ

P

ESNE
CI

L

D
NL A SD CA

no. T

E

TIH
CE

ARC

LIFO L I NO I S

ETATS

1    Village / Client Review                     2/25/15

EAST PROPERTY LINE ADJACENT TO COMMERCIAL - 180'

Calculation: 180' divided by 100 = 1.8 Plant multiplier

Category Calculation

1.8 x 3.6 = 5  required trees
Shade Tree (2.5")

Provided

5

1.8 x 1.2 = 2.1 or 2 required trees
Ornamental Tree (2.5" or 6')

2

1.8 x 20 = 36 required shrubsShrubs (24-36")
36

5' Bufferyard 'B'

Calculation: 232' divided by 100 = 2.3 Plant multiplier

Category Calculation

2.3 x 3.6 = 8.2 or 8  required trees
Shade Tree (2.5")

Provided

8 (5 Shade & 3 Evergreens)

2.3 x 1.2 = 2.8 or 3 required trees
Ornamental Tree (2.5" or 6')

3

2.3 x 20 = 46 required shrubsShrubs (24-36")
48

5' Bufferyard 'B'

* Understory trees use due to overhead utilities

NORTH PROPERTY LINE ADJACENT TO COMMERCIAL - 180'

2    New Site Plan                                     4/6/15



REMOVE EXIST.

9.75" LOCUST

REMOVE EXIST.

5.50" LOCUST

REMOVE EXIST.

11.0" LOCUST

& JUNIPERS

REMOVE EXIST.

10.0" LOCUST

& JUNIPERS

REMOVE EXIST.

5.0" LOCUST

& JUNIPERS

TRANSPLANT EXIST.

2.5" MAPLE & REMOVE

EXIST. JUNIPERS

15.5" LOCUST

13.5" LOCUST

11.25" LOCUST

11.0" LOCUST

4.0" PEAR

4.0" PEAR

EXIST. PLANTING

BED TO REMAIN

HARLEM      AVENUE

3.0" MAPLE

SHEET

REVISIONS

c Copyright 2014 all rights reserved.  The 
design and any and all ideas contained herein
are the sole property of Metz & Company.  Any
reproduction of the design or concept embodied
herein in any form, in whole or in part, without
Metz & Company's consent is prohibited.

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

1"=20'

2-18-2015

L-2

15-126

TITLE

TREE REMOVAL

NORTH OUT-LOT

TINLEY PARK PLAZA

TINLEY PARK, IL

PLAN

NORTH

0 20

SCALE  1" = 20'

40

1    Village / Client Review                     2/25/15









VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION 

The undersigned hereby Petitions the Tinley Park Long Range Plan Commission and/or the 
ViJlage Board to consider a Zoning Map Amendment and/or Special Use Permit as follows: 

A. Petitioner Information: 
Nrune: _J_er _rs _1e_vi _sh _______________________ � 
Mailing Address: 40 Skokie Boulevard: Suite 600 

City, State, Zip: _N_o _rth_b_r o_ ok-'-, _1L _s _oo_s2 ________ ___________ __ _ 
Phone Numbers: _8_47_-5_6_2-_41_ 2_3 _____ _ (Day) Fax Number: 847-480-1893 

847-272-9800 (Evening) 
847-977-2724 (Cell) 

Email Address jeff.slavlsh@brlxmor.com 

The nature of Petitioner's iriforest fo the property and/or relationship to the owner 
(Applications submitted on behalf of the owner of record must be accompanied by a signed letter of authorization): 

Cur 1str actior 1 Project-Manager-for-BWl'�-------------------

B. Property Information: 
The identity of every owner and beneficiary of any land trust must be disclosed. 
Property Owner(s): Brixmor/IA Tinley Park Plaza, LLC d.b.a. B rixmor Property Group 

Mailing Address: 40 Skokie Boulevard: Suite 600 

City, State, Zip: _No_rt _hb _ro_o_.k ._IL_6_0_06_ 2 ____ ________________ _ 

Property Address: 15917 South Harlem Avenue 

Permanent Index No. (PINs) _28_-1_9 _.1 _00_-o_s _7-_oo_oo_an_d _28
_

-
_
19 _-o _sa_-o_o _oo ____ _ _ 

Existing land use: 
Lot dimensions and area: 

C. Petition Information: 
Present Zoning District : 
Requested Zoning rnstrkt; 

Retell Shopping Centor 
Irregular; +/-2,027.69' (north/south) x +/-513.13' (easVwest); +/-23 acres 

82-PD; Community Shopping - Planned Development 

Same 

ls amecfal Use Pennit being requested (including Planned Developments): 
Yes ./ No-0-
If yes, 1 entify the proposed use: 811bstantial deviation to the PUD 

Wil!iJan variances be required from the terms of the Zoning Ordinance? 
Yes ./ Non. 
If yes, p ease �in (note that Variation application will �e required to be submitted): 

Please refer to tl'le enclosed Application for Zoning Ordinance Variance 

The Applicant certifies that all of the above statements and other information submi1:1ed as part 
of this application are true and correct to the best of his or her knowledge. 

1-jr3/1c:;_ 
Date 

S:\BLDG\_FLANNINO DEPARTMEN1\Long Range Plan Commission\l.RPC AppJicntion Forms\AP _SU 5-2007.doc Page I of 2 



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION 

APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 
A complete application consists of the following items submitted in a comprehensive package: 

1. The application form, completed and signed by the property owner(s) of reC')rd or their 
authorized agent. Written authorization from the property owner(s) of record is requ;.red in order 
for an authorized agent to act on behalf of the owner(s). 

2. Evidence of the applicant' s ownership of or interest in the subject property, with �{copy of the 
title commitment or title policy. Note that ownership includes clisclosure of all beneficiaries of a 
land trust, if applicable. 

3. The $400 application fee, payable to the Village of Tinley Park. 

4. A written project narrative describing the general nature and outlining specific aspects of the 
proposal. 

5. A Plat of Survey of the subject property, including the legal description of the subj1�ct property. 
This survey must have been prepared by a registered Illinois Land Surveyor, an0' include all 
existing structures and improvements on the subject property. 

6. Plans and any other information deemed necessary to support the application. 

An applicAtion wiU not be accepted or proce."iscd until nD of tl1e items above have been :=:111bmitted. 
· 

Questions regarding this process or application requirements may be directed 
lo the Planning Department at 708-444-5100. 

., 

S:\BLDG\_pLANNING DEPARTME.N1\Long Range Plan Commission\LRPC Application Ponns\AP_SU 5-2007,doc Page 1of2 

.. 

i 



FINDINGS OF FACT 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT-(Including Planned Developments) 

PURSUANT TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE 

Section X.J. of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance requires that no Special Use be recommended by 
the Plan Commission unless the Commission finds that all of the following statements, A-G listed below, are 
true and supported by facts. Petitioners must respond to and confirm each and every one of the following 
findings by providing the facts supporting such findings. The statements made on this sheet will be made part of 
the official public record and will discussed in detail during the Plan Commission meetings and will be provided 
to any interested party requesting a copy. 

Please provide factual evidence that the proposed Special Use meets the statements below and use as much 
space as needed to provide evidence. 

A. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. 

Any substantial modifications to the current PUD Ordinance automatically designates 
this project as a Special Use. The proposed selective redevelopment of the north end 
of Tinley Park Plaza will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, 
mnr:::ilc:: rnmfnrt nr nAnAr:::il IMAlf:::irA 

B. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

The proposed selective redevelopment will enhance the north end of the shopping 
center and complement the adjacent commercial development to the north. 

C. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 

Confirmed. The proposed selective redevelopment will not adversely effect the 
surrounding properties. 

D. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided. 

Confirmed. The proposed site improvements are being engineered by a licensed, 
professional civil engineering firm. 

E. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 

Confirmed. Reconfiguration of existing on-site circulation at the area of the proposed 
redevelopment will eliminate any congestion that may exist at the point of the access 
to the north end of the shopping center. 

Page 1 



F. That the Special Use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village 

Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission. 

Confirmed. 

G. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic 

development of the community as a whole. 

The proposed selective redevelopment and construction of a multi-tenant building will 
provide the community with opportunities for employment as each tenant space is 
leased. 

Page2 












	Plan Commission Agenda 04-16-2015
	Plan Commission Minutes 04-02-2015-Draft
	Item #1: E&B Liquors Staff Report 04-16-2015
	Item #2: Plat of Easement (6500 166th Street) Staff Report 04-16-2015
	6500 166th Street - Plat of Easement

	Item #3: Brixmor Outlot Staff Report 04-16-2015
	Brixmor/Tinley Park Plaza Unified Sign Regulations (Revised)
	Land Title Survey
	Brixmor Outlot Plans
	2015-04-06 Site Plan
	Landscape Plan 1
	Landscape Plan 2
	Photometric Plans
	2015-04-06 North & South Elevations
	2015-04-06 North & South Elevations Color
	2015-04-06 West & East Elevations
	2015-04-06 West & East Elevations Color
	Civil Engineering Plans
	Lighting Specs
	Fence Specs

	Brixmor Site Plan Approval Application
	Brixmor Special Use Permit Application and Findings of Fact
	Brixmor Variance Application and Findings of Fact




